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Sticking to the fundamentals
The fundamentals of the property industry do not change. 
The criteria to meet when assessing a property or a new 
development are always its location, quality, cost, capital 
appreciation, tenancy, and its required maintenance. This 
approach will only be met with success, if there is a strong  
team of skilled, experienced people leading, and managing  
the entire process. That is the Pivotal difference.
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Financial and portfolio

Value creation

Total assets increased by 
34% from R10.3bn to 

Net property income 
growth of

Capital raised Restructured  
debt

NAV per share, excluding 
deferred tax, grew by 
23.91% to R22.80

R13.8bn R790m56.6%

R1

R600m

Non-financial

Implementation of a  
real-time dashboard 
reporting system

Solar: PV pilot projects at 
Wonderboom Junction  
and Cradlestone Mall
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Developments 
completed:  
4 buildings  
totalling

Refurbishment 
capex

Secured long-term 
development pipeline: 
Land bulk of

Total indirect property 
portfolio valued at 
R12.5bn

515 394m2

Portfolio  
maintenance

R14m

Total portfolio 
vacancies at

2.1%

TO LET

R199m

Management bolstered:  
3 new senior staff appointed
(legal advisor, financial manager  
and development manager) 

12 923m2

Post year-end — internalising  
the marketing division
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Pivotal is a development-focused investment 
fund listed on the JSE main board, focusing on 
delivering sustainable capital returns through 
A-grade property developments and investments 
in South Africa and other selected countries. 
At year-end, Pivotal’s directly owned portfolio 
and indirect property portfolio was valued at 
R11.3 billion and R1.2 billion respectively.

The property portfolio’s completed income producing 
properties are highly resilient, are sustained by constant 
maintenance and upgrades, optimal tenant mix with low 
levels of arrears, low vacancy levels and high tenant 
retention. The income generated is mainly reinvested 
into value-enhancing property upgrades, acquisitions 
and developments and Pivotal’s current dividend policy 
is therefore not to make any distributions to shareholders.

The company’s strategic partnerships and joint ventures 
with Abland and other developers ensure a continued 
pipeline of high-quality, value-adding development 
opportunities that meet the company’s investment criteria. 
The completed merger, post year-end, between Mara Delta 
Property Holdings Limited (“Mara Delta”) and Delta Africa 
Property Holdings Limited (“Delta Africa”) has strengthened 
Pivotal’s investment diversification strategy offshore, while 
forging a relationship for investment in Africa.

Pivotal’s investment in Echo Polska Properties B.V. (“EPP”) 
is in keeping with the company’s strategy of investing up to 
15% in mature emerging markets, offering the company an 
opportunity to invest in a number of high-quality properties 
with attractive yield spreads. In addition, the transaction 
offers participation in a substantial development pipeline 
with a value on completion in excess of €500 million. Given 
EPP’s right to share in the profit derived from the sale of 
certain assets, currently being developed by subsidiaries of 
Echo Investment S.A. (“Echo”) in respect of which EPP has a 
right of first offer to acquire.

Pivotal

Income
producing

assets

Development
pipeline

Africa Poland Developed
markets

70%

South 
Africa

15%

Emerging
markets

15%

Mature
markets
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Pivotal
Property

Fund

Development and 
project management

Regulatory and 
corporate governanceProperty managementAsset management

Abland 
(right of first refusal)

Other development companies

Internalised mall 
marketing 1 March 2016 

Abreal 
(Pivotal 25% 
shareholding)

JSE listing compliance

External auditors: Grant Thornton

Internal auditors: KPMG

Company secretary: JUBA

ToTal porTfolio geographical 
spread by gra (%)

ToTal porTfolio geographical 
spread by gross revenue (%)

ToTal porTfolio secToral spread  
by gra (%)

ToTal porTfolio secToral spread  
by gross revenue (%)

Gauteng Gauteng87.5 87.4

Free State Free State8.7 7.8

Western Cape Western Cape3.8 4.8

retail

industrial

14

office
retail

industrial
office

46535244
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This is Pivotal’s second integrated report to stakeholders 
as a listed company for the year ended 29 February 2016, 
however, post-balance sheet events have been included for 
the sake of completeness. It aims to provide stakeholders 
with an integrated view of the company’s economic, 
social, environmental and strategic performance and to 
demonstrate its ability to create and sustain value over 
the short, medium and long term.

The report describes Pivotal’s 
strategy, which underpins its 
sustainability, performance, 
associated risks, opportunities 
and prospects.

This integrated report was prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the South African Companies Act, No. 71 
of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”), the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited, the International Integrated 
Reporting Council’s International <IR> Framework, the 
principles of the King Report on Governance for South Africa, 
2009 (“King III”), the South African Institute of Chartered 
Accountants’ (“SAICA”) Financial Reporting Guides as issued 
by the Accounting Practices Committee, the financial reporting 
pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council, International Financial Reporting Standards, as well as 
Pivotal’s own internal reporting standards and memorandum 
of incorporation. For additional financial information and 
recent announcements please visit: www.pivotalfund.co.za.

There are material changes to the content of this integrated 
report when compared to the 2015 integrated report. 
There has been greater disclosure of material matters, 
risks and corporate governance principles. A remuneration 
report and a social and ethics committee report have been 
published, as well as a more comprehensive narrative on 
stakeholder engagement.

This integrated report may contain certain forward-looking 
statements concerning the company’s strategy, financial 
conditions, growth plans and expectations. Such views 
include assumptions, uncertainties and important factors 
that could materially influence the actual performance of 
the company. No assurance can therefore be given that 
these will prove to be correct and no representation or 
warranty expressed or implied is given as to the accuracy 
or completeness of such views.

Assurance and 
comparability
This integrated report has not been independently assured. The 
company, however, reviews all internal and external assurances 
already in place and coordinates this with its risk management 
profile. The consolidated financial statements have been audited 
and the independent auditor’s report can be found on page 80 
of the integrated report.

Approval of the 
integrated report
It is the board’s responsibility to ensure the integrity of 
this integrated report. The board has applied its mind to the 
integrated report and in its opinion this report addresses 
all the material issues and fairly represents the integrated 
performance of the company.

The board approved the release of the 2016 integrated 
report on 30 August 2016.

Saki Macozoma 
Chairman

Jackie van Niekerk 
Chief executive officer

30 August 2016
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The manner in which investors showed 
their faith in Pivotal’s future is reassuring 
and a gratifying reward for growing the 
value of the portfolio while remaining true 
to property fundamentals.

TOM WIXLEY 
Chairman for the year under review

JACKIE VAN NIEKERK 
Chief executive officer
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The year under review
Having listed on the JSE main board in December 2014, 
we gained momentum in the market during the year under 
review. We secured additional developments for our future 
development pipeline. Our teams maintained a focus on 
initiating our new developments, which are key to our 
future success and portfolio growth.

We are pleased to report that our development focus has 
shone through, and we have produced good results for our 
stakeholders. During the year under review, our directly owned 
quality portfolio grew to R11.3 billion (2015: R9.3 billion), while 
the number of properties increased to 63 properties in 2016, 
from 38 properties in 2015. The net asset value per share 
(excluding deferred tax) year-on-year increased by 23.91%.

Net property income for the year under review increased 
by 56.6% to R739.2 million from R472.1 million in 2015.

Across our entire portfolio during the year, vacancy levels 
have increased marginally to 2.1%, (2015: 1.8%). For a detailed 
list of vacancy levels across all sectors within our portfolio, 
please see page 15 of this integrated report.

During the past year, we have weathered the economic storm 
and the pervasive uncertainty that has swept across South 
Africa and the world. Facilitated by the many mitigations 
we have put in place, our management team is steering 
the business, carefully navigating through the challenging 
economic cycle. Uncertainties stem from risks of rising 
interest rates, a depressed equity market, low GDP growth, 
poor business confidence and the volatile local currency.

To protect the company from rising interest rates, we have 
a well-placed, four-year hedge profile in place. Since interest 
rate cycles tend to last between 24 to 36 months, our 
48-month hedge profile is designed to mitigate this risk 
and see our business safely through the cycle.

Our property portfolios are largely occupied by A-grade 
tenants which keep arrears low. The security of our rental 
flows is firm, which translates to security of cash flows, 
while the fundamentals of the portfolio mitigate risks by 
their very nature.

From the perspective of the portfolio’s valuations, with 
rising interest rates, low levels of growth in valuations is 
anticipated. The quality and strength of our portfolio bolsters 
its resistance to negative impacts. While remaining cautious, 
we will take advantage of good development opportunities 
as and when they arise.

We are careful in selecting which types of developments to 
pursue — evidenced by the properties in our portfolio, as well 
as those in our development pipeline. Our strategy includes 
aggressive reinvestment through the development of new, 
mixed-use and precinct assets, as well as redevelopment 
and expansion projects. For more detailed discussions of 
our strategy in action, refer to the property showcases on 
pages 20 to 25 of this report.

Our portfolio’s exposure to the industrial sector is being 
increased through our S&J Industrial developments. This is a 
necessary part of our diversification strategy and is discussed 
further on page 14 of this report.

In our offshore diversification strategy, we further mitigate 
our risk by seizing opportunities in growth markets beyond 
South Africa, venturing into Africa and other emerging 
markets. As and when prudent, we continue to act on our 
offshore diversification strategy after careful consideration 
and planning.

Share price performance was impacted by market uncertainty 
that unfolded during the unprecedented ministerial re-shuffle 
in government’s finance function in December 2015. During 
this time, investors’ confidence has been tested and strained. 
However, the intrinsic value of the company or the portfolio 
is not truly reflected in the share price.

From a strategic asset management point of view, we have 
internalised the mall marketing division, which was effective 
from 1 March 2016. This represents a significant cost saving, 
which in turn creates additional capacity for us to invest into 
mall initiatives.

In focusing on risk mitigation and maintaining the fundamentals 
of running our business, we have bolstered our management 
team during the year. The appointment of a number of new staff 
members, including additional financial management support.

Local markets
The year under review was characterised by a highly 
challenging business environment. Market uncertainty 
was fuelled by poor investor confidence, which in turn was 
exacerbated by both perceived and real political instability. 
The most notable event relating to political instability in South 
Africa was the controversial re-shuffle in government’s finance 
ministry during December 2015. The local currency volatility 
saw the rand plummet.

R11.3bn
TOTAL PORTFOLIO VALUE

R600m
CAPITAL RAISED

56.6%
NET PROPERTY 
INCOME GROWTH OF

R790m
RESTRUCTURED DEBT
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Stability returned somewhat in early 2016, with the rand 
strengthening more recently following the Brexit vote.

Commodity prices remained under pressure during the year 
because of sustained, slowed growth in China’s economy. Low 
prices from poor demand for iron ore, copper and coal dragged 
mining giants’ share prices down to unforeseen lows — with 
some companies shedding up to 75% of their share price value.

There has been a notable decline in the delivery of municipal 
processes and services during the year. Service levels 
in the process of obtaining rights and approvals for our 
developments have deteriorated further. This has led to an 
increase in the number of people required to expedite the 
conclusion of processes.

The full impact of the drought in South Africa has yet 
to be revealed. At present, some food anchor tenants are 
experiencing varying shortages of certain types of foods. 
The effects on retailers, as well as consumers will be more 
evident in the longer term where alternatives for sought-
after locally produced foods are imported during the next 
reporting period.

The effects of severe economic pressures on tenants have 
manifested in the demand for reduced store sizes and office 
space. Selected office tenants have opted to remain in their 
existing spaces but have brought in higher numbers of staff 
per square metre. There has been a rationalisation of space 
among some tenants, with negative reversions in some 
areas, while other tenants have chosen not to scale down 
because of the cost implications of moving.

While some areas and sectors showed little or no growth, 
strong demand from logistics companies continued, with 
a number of industrial property tenants looking to expand 
or consolidate their footprint by leasing additional premises. 
In stark contrast, while some sectors and segments are under 
pressure, others are thriving. After sharp falls in mining, 
commodities and resources, the real effects of low GDP 
growth, higher interest rates and rising inflation have yet 
to permeate the consumer market. A slowdown in consumer 
activity is expected to become evident from the second half 
of 2016.

Maintaining NAV growth in 
a challenging environment
Underpinned by strong fundamentals, our aim is to maintain 
NAV growth through selected opportunities from our 
development pipeline, while ensuring the balance of the 
portfolio is kept sustainable to achieve valuation growth 
on our portfolio’s income-producing properties, which 
must remain let and well maintained.

Our cap rates have remained stable the main contributing 
factor is the resilience of our portfolio. However, we have 
noted that cap rates are increasing on smaller properties, 
which validates our strategy of disposing of smaller, non-
core assets.

Feb ’16

22.80
18.40

14.69
10.148.56

CAGR¹ 
27.8%

Note 1: Compound annual growth rate 29 February 2012 to 29 February 2016

Feb ’15Feb ’14Feb ’13Feb ’12

nav per share (excluding deferred Tax) growTh and The cagr To feb 2016 (%)
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nav per share (excluding deferred Tax) bridge (r)

18.40
1.28 0.33 0.88 0.79 0.50 0.82 (0.20) 22.80

NAVPS
Feb 2015

Reval.
completed
properties

Reval. dev.
properties

Stat.
profit

Forex gain —
Wings

MTM fin.
instruments

Inc. from
associate

Net shares
issues

NAVPS
Feb 2016

nav per share (excluding deferred Tax) bridge (rm)

5 487
383 98 271 234 149 244

604 7 470

NAVPS
Feb 2015

Reval.
completed
properties

Reval. dev.
properties

Stat.
profit

Forex gain —
Wings

MTM fin.
instruments

Net shares
issues

NAVPS
Feb 2016

Inc. from
associate
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Development 
pipeline strategy
We focus on developing various allotments of land that are 
diversified both geographically and across property sectors. 
Through this method, we mitigate the risk of exposure to just 
one node, choosing rather to spread the risk across a number 
of attractive nodes and property sectors. Our development 
pipeline supports this strategy, with new developments 
underway across selected nodes in Gauteng and in the 
Western Cape.

We maintain a steady supply of A-grade developments for 
our portfolio through our development pipeline, which is a 
key strategic driver. We have built relationships with selected 
developers over time, and search for the best development 
opportunities to sustain our development pipeline.

We achieve the aims of our investment and growth strategy 
by successfully utilising the capabilities of each of our strategic 
alliances, which comprise selected developers, providers 
of finance and shareholders. We focus on developments, 
managing efficient buildings, reinvesting into our portfolio, 
maintaining optimal gearing levels, and actively diversifying 
the portfolio across sectors and geographical area.

Our strategic alliances are a key driver in achieving our greater 
goals, as well as realising the long-term plan of creating value 
in terms of development. Our agreement with Abland ensures 
that we have the right of first refusal on new developments 
and projects, while remaining free to contract with our other 
development partners. Our agreement further stipulates 
that Abland will take on the roles of development manager 
and project manager on specified developments, with all of 
their associated services to be delivered to Pivotal at market-
related rates. Abland’s solid track record of successful business 
partnerships ensures that future collaborations with this 
development partner will result in projects that are the 
right fit for us.

income producing properTy value drivers
Weighted average

Value per m2
(R)

12-month
forward

yield (%) on
net income

Cap rate
(%)

Reversionary
rate (%)

Discount
rate (%)

Retail 17 257 7.9 7.7 8.4 13.3

Retail convenience 16 547 8.1 8.2 9.0 13.5

Small regional/regional 17 558 7.8 7.6 8.2 13.2

Office and industrial 23 660 8.1 7.8 8.5 13.4

Offices — PTA/JHB 25 216 8.1 7.8 8.5 13.4

Office — CPT 25 642 8.1 7.1 7.8 13.5

Industrial 8 876 8.8 8.8 9.8 13.5

Total portfolio — Feb 2016 20 439 8.0 7.8 8.5 13.4

Total portfolio — Feb 2015 19 372 7.9 7.7 8.2 13.2

currenT developmenTs – reTail

Developments
Total GRA

(m2)
Completion

date

Total
capital costs

(R’000)

Total
value on

completion
(R’000) Rate/m2

Pivotal 
shareholding

(%)

Initial
yield on

development
cost (%)

Pivotal
value on

completion
(R’000)

1. Wonderboom Junction

Redevelopment
and expansion

59 376 March ’18 1 440 763 1 440 763 24 265 100 7.1 1 440 763

2. Kyalami Corner

Shopping Centre Phase 1 27 914 April ’17 565 361 572 317 20 253 80 8.6 457 853

87 290 2 006 124 2 013 080 22 982 1 898 616
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currenT developmenTs – office

Developments
Total GRA

(m2)
Completion

date

Total
capital costs

(R’000)

Total
value on

completion
(R’000) Rate/m2

Pivotal 
shareholding

(%)

Initial
yield on

development
cost (%)

Pivotal
value on

completion
(R’000)

1. Alice Lane

Building 3 35 000 Apr ’17 1 077 919 1 326 600 30 798 100 9.5 1 326 600

2. Hertford Office Park

Building E (Roche) 4 236 May ’16 * 82 289 82 289 19 426 33 8.8 27 429 

Building F 
(Cosmopolitan)

5 496 Oct ’16 117 430 124 361 21 367 33 9.0 41 453

Building G 7 446 Mar ’16 * 159 398 171 469 21 407 33 9.1 57 156

3. Monte Circle Office Park

Building B 4 435 Oct ’16 103 686 104 643 23 379 18 9.1 18 375 

4. Hill on Empire Office Park

Building A
(Times Media)

14 822 Apr ’18 311 156 327 067 20 993 50 8.9 163 533

5. Loftus Park mixed 
use development

Phase 1 24 694 Nov ’17 724 362 724 362 29 334 50 8.5 362 181 

6. Westend Office Park

Building B 5 079 Mar ’16 * 89 285 97 307 17 579 25 9.3 24 326 

101 208 2 665 525 2 958 098 26 337 2 021 053

* Complete at date of report.

fuTure secured developmenT pipeline

Future development (bulk) Sector Location

Market value
at 29 Feb 2016

(R’000)
Total GRA

(m2)

Pivotal
shareholding

(%)

 1. Galleria Office Rosebank 100 000 80 000 20

 2. S&J Industrial Estate Industrial Germiston 326 250 811 115 45

 3. Atlantic Hills Industrial Cape Town 172 700 244 318 55

 4. Waterfall Ridge Retail Midrand 30 363 44 088 35

 5. Constantia Corner Office Constantia 8 100 3 587 100

 6. Kyalami Corner Shopping Centre Office Kyalami 61 891 38 682 80

 7. Centurion Lifestyle Centre Retail Centurion 50 244 16 748 100

 8. Hertford Office Park Office Midrand 29 745 35 694 33

 9. Monte Circle Office Park Office Fourways 27 396 56 733 18

 10. West End Office Park Office Centurion 15 233 27 080 25

 11. Loftus Park mixed use development Office Pretoria 27 214 21 771 50

 12. Hill on Empire Office Park Office Parktown 17 238 19 701 50

 13. Lakeview Office Park Office Constantia 18 291 12 317 66

 14. Monte Place Office Fourways 20 757 38 707 20

 15. Hatfield Central Office/Retail Pretoria 42 000 46 450 42

 16. Centurion Junction Office/Retail Centurion 14 253 28 506 25

Total 961 675 1 525 497
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Income-producing portfolio

Retail
The sector comprises 11 of our 38 properties, 51.5% of 
the portfolio’s GRA and contributes 45.9% of the income-
producing portfolio’s gross rentals. Gross income increased 
by 32.9% to R357 million and direct property expenditure 
grew by 47.2% to R77 million. Retail vacancies are 2.0% 
compared with the previous year of 2.6%.

Office
The sector comprises 24 of our 38 properties, 44.3% of the 
portfolio’s GRA and contributes 52.7% of the portfolio’s gross 
rentals. Gross income increased by 118.5% to R410 million and 
direct property expenditure grew by 108.8% to R47 million.

The office sector has been characterised by slow demand, 
which is closely tied to generally lacklustre economies 
both in South Africa and abroad. Despite this, selected big 
corporates have shown growth in GRA in the office sector. 
Our office vacancies are very low at 2.2% compared with the 
previous year of 2.6%.

Industrial
The sector comprises 3 of our 38 properties, 4.2% of the 
portfolio’s GRA and contributes 1.4% of the income-producing 
portfolio’s gross rentals. Industrial properties were introduced 
to the portfolio during the previous reporting period. In the 
medium term, it is estimated that the industrial sector properties 
could comprise between 18% to 20% of the total asset base. 
However, that estimate is subject to review and is dependent 
on management identifying suitable opportunities available 
in the market.

Much of Pivotal’s value lies in remaining true to the 
fundamentals of the property management.

These fundamentals of the property industry by their 
very nature do not change. Regular visits and thorough 
inspections are required to assess the true condition of our 
assets. A hands-on approach is absolutely crucial and may 
lead to important refurbishments or upgrades being done, 
to maintain the value of the asset and the greater portfolio. 
Our ownership-centred approach means that our people are 
accountable and take responsibility for whatever they do.

We therefore ensure that our people are of the right quality 
and experience, and possess the skills, passion and commitment 
required to perform according to our highest expectations. 
We aim to be a landlord of choice by delivering beyond our 
tenants’ expectations — which is how we retain our A-grade 
tenants and maintain low levels of vacancies.

Retail tenants

TenanT grading

A Large national tenants, large listed tenants, government and major franchisees

B National tenants, listed tenants, franchisees and medium to large professional firms

C Other

Office tenants

Industrial tenants

% Income 67.5 19.5 11.8 1.2

% GRA 76.5 13.9 8.6 1.0

% Income 65.1 13.4 9.3 12.3

% GRA 63.6 13.8 10.7 11.9

% Income
% GRA

100

100
A B C I
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Tenant retention 
and lease escalation
The average tenant retention rate for the year under review 
is 98% (2015: 86%). This strong performance is partly due 
to the proactive management approach in terms of lease 
expiries. Being forward-looking with regards to tenancy, 
involves starting the engagement process well in advance 
of renewal dates. During the tenant engagement process, 
management discovers vital information regarding the 
tenant’s future needs.

TenanT reTenTion %

Portfolio % GRA renewed

Retail < 20 000

Retail > 20 000

Commercial
Offices (CPT)

Portfolio level

Commercial
Offices (PTA/JHB)

100

78

99

100

98

lease escalaTion (%)

Average renewal 
escalation rate/m²

Average portfolio 
in force escalation

7.4

7.5
lease expiry profile gra
Weighted average lease expiry

Income 
weighted

GRA
weighted 4.8 years

4.6 years

renT reversions
Rent renewal

Reversionary rental
renewal % 0.3

vacancy profile

Retail Office Industrial Total

 1. Number of properties 11 24 3 38

 2. Property portfolio value (Rbn) 4.0 5.0 0.2 9.2

 3. Total GRA built (m2) 232 325 199 751 19 210 451 286

 4. GRA as % of the portfolio 51.5 44.3 4.2 100

 5. Value/m2 17 257 25 253 8 876 20 439

 6. Vacancy (%) 2.0 2.2 — 2.1

 7. Average gross rental/m2 (R) 125 144 56
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Measuring performance 
with KPIs
Our contractual KPIs are set to enhance and measure 
performance, control costs and protect the quality of the 
property portfolio — to ensure that we achieve our targeted 
results. Abreal is obliged to meet the KPIs that pertain to 
vacancy levels; arrears collection; tenant retention; utility 
costs; lease administration — including the number of leases 
outstanding; tenant deposits; and the guarantee amounts not 
yet paid — as well as building repairs and maintenance.

We employ full-time, skilled people in many of our retail 
centres, to perform the simpler maintenance projects, 
thereby reducing the operating costs of our buildings and 
cutting repair and maintenance callout fees. By putting 
standard contracts out to tender, on a portfolio basis, the 
company benefits from reduced rates with signed fixed cost 
agreements to protect against steep price increases over 
a period of three years. Our own on-site, skilled operations 
staff such as electricians, plumbers and handymen have 
faster turnaround times on smaller maintenance projects, 
which keeps tenants happy and trading.

Five-year maintenance plans specify when costly upkeep is 
required to take place to avoid a bottleneck of costs — each 
building in our portfolio has its own maintenance strategy.

Specialised service providers closely monitor the portfolio’s 
council rates to avoid unnecessary overspending on incorrect 
charges. Monthly checks on council rates often uncover costly 
errors, which result in needless expenditure if undetected. 
Errors are corrected by interacting with the council in 
question and resolving any issues.

Offshore investments
To proceed offshore, our international investment 
philosophy demands that we meet the criteria of having 
a strong management team in the country, good partners, 
good income-producing assets, a development pipeline, 
and an exit strategy.

Our partnership with Delta Africa to form Mara Delta is the 
result of an identified need for a synergistic partnership. To 
further our investment horizon in Africa, our rationale for 
the move was simple — we are stronger together. Operating 
away from home has unique challenges and risks, which we 
have mitigated by placing an effective management team 
with our development partners, and by having a good base 
of assets. We achieved our aims to diversify our investment 
and appoint an effective management team. Our base of 
income-producing assets is being bolstered through our 
development activity in Africa. By partnering with a listed 
entity, we also have an elegant exit strategy in place.

Post year-end, our investment in EPP is in keeping with 
the company’s strategy of investing up to 15% in mature 
emerging markets, offering the company an opportunity 
to invest in a number of high-quality properties with 
attractive yield spreads. The transaction, in addition, offers 
participation in a substantial development pipeline with a 
value on completion in excess of €500 million. Given EPP’s 
right to share in the profit derived from the sale of certain 
assets currently being developed by subsidiaries of Echo in 
respect of which EPP has a right of first offer to acquire.

reTail Trading densiTies (Turnover/gra)

Centurion
Lifestyle
Centre

Chilli
Lane

Cradlestone
Mall (40%)

Goldfields
Mall

Hazeldean
Square

Hillcrest
Boulevard

Annual growth in turnover (%)

The Square
@ Farrarmere

Wonderboom
Junction

1 870
9

16

20

23

10

5 6

3 726

1 457
2 391

3 287

4 713

6 718

2 099

1
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Debt consolidation 
and gearing
As a development fund, our gearing levels are maintained 
at a range between 45% and 55%.

Our income-producing assets are used as a security base 
and our robust income streams have helped to ensure a 
comfortable interest cover ratio. Despite the current interest 

rate hiking cycle that has seen the prime interest rate 
increase by 100bps during the year under review, Pivotal 
has managed to keep it’s weighted average cost of debt at 
9.56% (2015: 9.4%). This is proof that Pivotal’s interest rate 
hedging strategy is implemented effectively. At year-end, 
borrowings of R5.7 billion (2015: R4.5 billion) represented 
gearing of 45.8% (2015: 46%). Debt is 84% hedged (2015: 84%) 
against interest rate changes spread between interest rate 
swaps and fixed rate loans.

Key debT sTaTisTics

Feb
2016

Feb
2015

 1. Total facilities available (R’000) 7 801 211 6 019 503

 2. Drawn facilities (R’000) 5 692 949 4 498 322

 3. Undrawn development facilities (R’000) 1 645 566 1 147 165

 4. Cash on access (R’000) 448 215 374 016

 5. Weighted average cost of debt (incl. swaps) (%) 9.56 9.36

 6. Hedged (%) 84 84

 7. Average loan maturity (years) 3.3 4

 8. Average term of swaps (years) 4 5

 9. Gearing (net of cash) % 45.8 46.0

average cosT of debT (%)

8 

10 

12 

14 

’10 ’11 ’12 ’13 ’14 ’15 ’16 

swap forward curve (%)

’16 ’17 ’18 ’19 ’20 ’21 ’22 ’23 ’24 ’25 
 7.00  

 9.00  

 11.00  Swap curve: 20 May 2016 
Swap curve: 29 Feb 2016 
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Property management
As our property manager, Abreal is also one of the company’s 
key stakeholders. We have a 25% stake in Abreal through our 
ownership-centred approach, with key representatives on its 
board of directors and executive committee. This strategy 
ensures that the value of our portfolio and business interests 
is protected directly by leadership from within the company. 
The reciprocal relationship between us and Abreal continues 
to play a significant role in our success. Our development 
partner Abland owns the remaining 75% of Abreal.

Stakeholders
In order for our business model to make sense from the 
inside out, our task is to ensure that our strategies and 
policies are clear and easily understandable to all stakeholder 
groups. Because accessibility to management is imperative, 
investors have direct access to meet with members of the 
management team either formally, informally, in person or 
telephonically. This accessible, personal style of management 
and stakeholder communications improves transparency, 
which has attracted the support of our investor base.

Regarding the direction in which the company is headed, 
and prior to large acquisitions, key personnel also engage 
with our major shareholders. The ways in which we interact 
with all our stakeholder groups is detailed in the stakeholder 
engagement section, which begins on page 36 of this 
integrated report.

Total swap maturity (R'000) Total facility expiry (R'000) Facility maturity 
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Directorate
During the year under review, sadly Mr Angus Mackay 
passed away. His retail property experience is sorely missed. 
Mr Marc Wainer resigned from the board, having served as 
an independent non-executive director since August 2013. 
We would like to thank Marc for bringing his vast property 
knowledge and experience to the board and the company. 
His valuable contributions have assisted the company in 
its outstanding performance during his time with Pivotal — 
we wish him well for the future.

We also welcome Saki Macozoma as independent non-
executive chairman, who joined the company on 20 May 
2016. He replaces Tom Wixley, who served as independent 
non-executive chairman since his appointment in September 
2014. We would like to thank Tom for his focused wisdom, 
steady manner and the strong governance and guidance he 
provided during his tenure. Tom remains on the board as an 
independent non-executive director. Post year-end, Mr Dave 
Savage stepped down as executive director but remains on 
the board as a non-executive director.

Scheme of arrangement
On 17 June 2016 the board of directors of Pivotal received 
a non-binding expression of interest.

Further to the cautionary announcements released by 
Pivotal on SENS on 17 June 2016 and 4 August 2016, the 
respective boards of directors of Redefine and Pivotal are 
pleased to announce that they have entered into a document 
(“implementation document”) setting out the terms and 
conditions upon which Redefine has agreed to make an 
offer to acquire all of the Pivotal shares (“scheme shares”) 
from Pivotal shareholders (“scheme participants”) by way 
of a scheme of arrangement in terms of section 114 of the 
Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended, (“Companies 
Act”) to be proposed between Pivotal and scheme 
participants (“scheme”).

Please refer to the SENS dated 30 August 2016 for the 
salient details and conditions of the scheme of arrangement.

The directors are not aware of any other significant events 
that occurred in the period between 29 February 2016 and 
the date of this report that will have a material effect on the 
company’s results or financial position as presented in these 
financial statements.

Outlook
The economic growth both in South Africa and internationally 
coupled with high volatility in financial markets is anticipated to 
continue. Our risk mitigation by way of conservative borrowing 
and interest rate hedging policies, quality income-producing 
assets and development pipeline as well as an increasing 
international investment exposure places us in a strong 
position to weather the storm in these uncertain times.

We remain focused on creating long-term value for our 
stakeholders, through the successful completion of our 
existing developments and the ongoing rollout of our 
development pipeline of 674 000m2 in prime locations 
throughout South Africa.

We will continue to re-invest in our portfolio of properties to 
ensure delivery of sustainable growth with focused attention 
being placed on the key fundamentals.

Acknowledgements
Our good results are due to the efforts of our great team during 
the past year. We would like to sincerely thank our people for 
their tireless enthusiasm, dedication and hard work.

We also thank our development partners and property 
managers for their ongoing support. Their commitment has 
enabled a spirit of continuous improvement, helping us to 
achieve new levels of success through their pursuit of quality 
and service.

We would like to extend a special thanks to our loyal 
shareholders, for keeping their faith in our company, through 
uncertain and turbulent times in the market, as we strive 
to reach even greater heights in the future.

Jackie van Niekerk 
Chief executive officer

30 August 2016
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Office/mixed use

Loftus Park is an exciting and 
dynamic mixed-use development 
currently under construction, 
adjacent to the Loftus Versfeld 
Stadium in Pretoria.
Pivotal holds a 50% share in Loftus Park. The development 
will greatly benefit commerce, sport and tourism as a result 
of its strategic location. Loftus Park is in close proximity 
to many local points of interest, such as the University of 
Pretoria, Union Buildings and major Pretoria schools, to 
name a few. Loftus Park is convenient and easily accessible, 
from all major transportation routes in Gauteng. The close 
proximity to the Hatfield Gautrain station connects Loftus 
Park to Centurion, Johannesburg and OR Tambo International 
Airport. The Gautrain bus, Metro Rail and bus rapid transit 
lines either stop at the Park or in the immediate vicinity.

This quintessential development will consist of premium 
grade commercial office space, hand-picked shops with novel 
retail outlets, among others a Checkers with new exciting 
upscale market specifications, a state of the art Virgin Active 
Gym, restaurants surrounding an open air piazza, a Sports 
Medical Centre of excellence, a Sports Exhibition Centre and 
a four-star hotel.

Value on completion  R724 million

Completion date  December 2017

GRA  * 24 694m2

Office GRA  13 086m2

Retail GRA  8 133m2

Gym  3 475m2

Hotel 150 key

Loftus Park — Phase 1

* Excluding 150 key hotel.

The development will attract streams of visitors and 
shoppers, while giving those who work in the park’s office 
space an enhanced working environment with many quality 
lifestyle features.

The development is in its early stages, with bulk earthworks 
completed for Phase 1, and the basement parking structure 
currently under construction, the expected completion date 
is the end of 2017.
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Phase 1
GRA 24 694m2

Phase 2
GRA 21 771m2 50%

Pivotal  
shareholding
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Retail

Phase 1 of this new 
precinct development, the 
retail component, is currently 
underway with completion 
expected in May 2017. It is well 
located and highly accessible 
via the bordering intersection 
of the R55 and Main Road.
Pivotal has an 80% shareholding in the precinct development. 
The office component is anticipated to be completed during 
2019, subject to tenant demand. On completion, the retail 
component will be valued at R572 million, while the Phase 2 
component will be valued at R600 million.

The high volume catchment area that surrounds the site 
comprises over 10 000 homes, populated by middle to 
high-income residents. Also in close proximity are several 
in-demand well respected schools, including Summit College, 
Crawford College and Reddam House.

Occupying the shopping centre will be a carefully considered 
mix of stores, attracting convenience shoppers who live in 
or around the bustling node. Strong national anchor tenants 
such as Woolworths, Checkers and Clicks will feature on the 
centre’s lower level, while a Virgin Active gym and Jacksons 
Deli will attract visitors and shoppers to the upper level.

The development’s transformation from shopping centre to 
precinct will become reality on completion of Phase 2, which 
will largely comprise office space, but will also feature a day 
hospital and a filling station.

The precinct concept combines the retail and office spaces 
in a modern approach to new developments. Our precincts 
offer far more to tenants, shoppers, workers and visitors 
alike – with consumer and lifestyle features, combined with 
collective management and security benefits.

>10 000
homes in catchment area
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The development’s transformation 
from shopping centre to precinct 
will become reality on completion 
of Phase 2

Phase 1 R572m
Phase 2 R600m

Value on completion

80%
Pivotal  
shareholding
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industRial

Situated on the Geldenhuys 
interchange, adjacent to 
Germiston, the S&J Industrial 
Estate development represents 
an exciting opportunity to create 
a high-end industrial node 
with significant attention given 
to accessibility, road layouts, 
landscaping and quality building 
architecture and design.

The development, with a GRA of 811 115m2 will create an 
industrial hub precinct with features designed to deliver 
beyond what is expected from industrial properties.

The industrial development will be valued at R1.9 billion, 
and will include an element of retail. Pivotal has a 45% 
stake in the development. The development will prove that 
there is indeed a market for high quality industrial property 
complemented by outstanding finishing touches and features.

The S&J Industrial Estate will include mixed-use features, 
such as a filling station for large vehicles and a small retail 
component servicing the day-to-day needs of the estates 
business workers and drivers. These added components will 
transform the estate and position it as a superior industrial 
working and operational environment.
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A major drawcard will be world-class road infrastructure for 
tenants and visitors, and other infrastructure will include 
access to high-speed internet fibre connectivity.

Industrial property developments and acquisitions help to 
balance the Pivotal portfolio and are therefore significant to 
the Pivotal diversification strategy in land acquisitions. The 
success of this development will lead to additional, similarly 
devised developments, which could prove a valuable market 
niche for the future of the portfolio.

Included in the development will be holding bays 
to accommodate trucks and vehicles that queue 
for access to dispatches and depots on the estate 
during peak periods.

45%
Pivotal 
shareholding

Total GRA

Estimated value on completion

R1.9bn

811 115m2
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Centurion 
Lifestyle
Centre

Retail

Alice Lane

Office

Buildings 1 and 2

Goldfields 
Mall

Retail

property  
and sector
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property  
and sector

Cradlestone 
Mall 

Retail

Wonderboom 
Junction

Retail

Riverside 
Office 
Park

40%

Office
pivotal integrated report 201628

Top 10 properties by value
continued



Gra 
(m2)

proportional market 
value (r’000)

averaGe Gross 
rentals (r/m2)
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property  
and sector

Ballyoaks 
Office 
Park

Office

Hillcrest 
Office 
Park

Office

Nedbank 
Lakeview 
Office Park

Office

Stoneridge 
Office Park

Office

66.67%

Buildings A-E
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(m2)

proportional market 
value (r’000)

averaGe Gross 
rentals (r/m2)
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3
41

 6
0
0
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Property Location Major tenants GRA (m2)
Feb 2016 
valuation (R) *

Weighted 
average 
gross rent/m2 
(incl. parking)

% of 
sector

% of 
portfolio

Retail Convenience

1. Chilli Lane Sunninghill Pick n Pay, Woolworths 
Food, Virgin Active, Clicks

 13 318  226 200 000  154 4 1

2. Chilli on Top Sunninghill Food Lover’s Market, 
Dis-Chem, Spur

 5 050  68 600 000  110 1 0

3. Gateway Corner Centurion Food Lover’s Market, 
West Pack, Meat World

 11 160  121 200 000  98 2 1

4. Greenstone 
Motorcity

Modderfontein KFC, Tiger Wheel & Tyre, 
Edenvale Auto Services, 
Dekra Automotive

 5 998  62 800 000  82 1 0

5. Hazeldean 
Square

Pretoria East Pick n Pay, Woolworths, 
Dis-Chem

 18 682  304 300 000  122 6 2

6. Hillcrest 
Boulevard

Pretoria Pick n Pay, Woolworths, 
Dis-Chem

 8 451  231 600 000  164 4 1

7. The Square 
@ Farrarmere

Benoni Woolworths Food, Dis-Chem, 
Liquor City, PNA

 6 521  130 000 000  151 3 1

 69 180 1 144 700 000  128 

Small Regional/Regional

8. Centurion 
Lifestyle Centre

Centurion Pick n Pay, Checkers, 
Mr Price

 54 772  833 100 000  107 16 5

9. Cradlestone Mall 
(40%)

Ruimsig Pick n Pay, Checkers, 
Game, Food Lover’s Market, 
Woolworths, Dis-Chem, 
Ster-Kinekor

 31 149  632 600 000  143 12 3

10. Goldfields Mall Welkom Checkers, Woolworths, Edgars  39 534  718 800 000  145 14 4

11. Wonderboom 
Junction

Pretoria North Pick n Pay, Woolworths, 
Dis-Chem, Edgars, Toys R Us, 
Clicks, Mr Price

 37 690  680 000 000  134 13 4

 163 145  2 864 500 000  129 

Offices — JHB and PTA

12. 55 Hyde Park Hyde Park E4 Holdings  2 167  36 600 000  110 0 0

13. 57 Hyde Park 
(50%)

Hyde Park Lubman, Aurum Fund, 
OptiNum Solutions, 
World Wide Consortium

 2 927  47 600 000  95 0 0

14. Abcon House, 
FWOP

Bryanston Abland, Abreal  2 187  44 700 000  115 0 0

15. Gleneagles, FWOP Bryanston Pivotal  1 813  34 400 000  101 0 0

16. Questek, FWOP Bryanston Questek  1 803  36 000 000  120 0 0

17. Alice Lane 
(Building 1 and 2)

Sandton Adams & Adams, 
Bloomberg, Marsh, 
Virgin Active, Sanlam Ltd

 34 171  
1 295 400 000 

 182 13 7

18. Ballyoaks Office 
Park

Bryanston Tradebridge, Experian, 
Dennis Jankelow & 
Associates, Parsons 
Brickenhoff, Fulcrum, 
Eli Lilly, Google

 23 410  497 900 000  120 5 3

* Pivotal participation.
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Property Location Major tenants GRA (m2)
Feb 2016 
valuation (R) *

Weighted 
average 
gross rent/m2 
(incl. parking)

% of 
sector

% of 
portfolio

19. Bryanston Place Bryanston WSP, Danone  8 817  177 100 000  115 2 1

20. Carnation Place Constantia Kloof FL Smidth  4 440  94 800 000  130 1 1

21. Detnet (66.7%) Modderfontein Detnet  1 383  31 800 000  137 0 0

22. GM Hatfield 
McCarthy (25%)

Hatfield GM Motors  436  11 900 000  182 0 0

23. Hertford 
(Buildings A to D) 
(33.3%)

Midrand Kyocera, Sabric, EOH  3 143  58 800 000  127 1 0

24. Hillcrest Corner Pretoria Abland, Encha  1 945  48 300 000  175 1 0

25. Hillcrest Office 
Park

Pretoria Public Protector, Absa, 
Standard Bank, Nedbank

 19 259  492 400 000  148 5 3

26. Monte Circle 
Building A (17.55%)

Fourways Takeda, Tememos  894  21 300 000  130 0 0

27. Nedbank 
Lakeview (66.7%)

Constantia Kloof Nedbank  14 184  363 400 000  129 4 2

28. Riverside Office 
Park

Centurion IEC, Integrat, Wholesale & 
Retail SETA

 24 006  582 800 000  195 6 3

29. Stoneridge 
Office Park 
(Buildings A to E)

Modderfontein Nedbank, Fintec, Invest in 
Africa, IMM Graduate School, 
Regus, Hollard Insurance, 
Santova logistics, Suntory.

 16 407  341 600 000  115 4 2

30. The Oval, 
Wanderer's 
Office Park

Illovo CKR Consulting, Saicom 
Holdings, Bolton 
Management Services, 
Centriq Insurance

 7 770  160 000 000  137 2 1

31. The Pavillion, 
Wanderer's 
Office Park

Illovo Stalker Hutchison Admiral, 
Bidvest

 4 444  97 100 000  156 1 1

32. Valley View 
Office Park

Constantia Kloof FL Smidth, Europ Assistance  6 018  113 900 000  98 1 1

33. Westend 
Office Park 
Building A (25%)

Centurion  917  15 200 000  132 0 0

 182 541  4 603 000 000  146 

Offices — CPT

34. Avanti Tygervalley T-Systems  8 369  164 700 000  123 2 1

35. Bree Street Cape Town CBD Bowman Gilfillan Attorneys  8 841  276 600 000  159 3 2

 17 210  441 300 000  142 

Industrial

36. Elvey Modderfontein Elvey  4 127  34 800 000  56 20 0

37. Hirt & Carter Modderfontein Hirt & Carter  6 083  66 200 000  64 39 0

38. Rage Modderfontein Rage  9 000  69 500 000  52 41 0

19 210 170 500 000 57

* Pivotal participation.
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Weighted average cost of debt increased 
slightly from 9.40% to 9.56%. Successful 
hedging strategy creates buffer in 
current rising interest rate cycle
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Tailored  
tenant 
solutions

Enhanced 
property 
portfolio

Landlord 
of choice

 › NAVPS growth of 23.91%

 › Total assets increased by  
34% to R13.8bn

 › Property portfolio increased to 
R11.3bn (including development 
pipeline)

 › Increased properties from 40 to 63

 › Weighted average renewal growth 
of escalations of 7.4% with average 
tenant retention of 98%

 › Weighted average lease expiry  
of 4.8 years

 › Access to development pipeline 
and unlock redevelopment 
opportunities

 › Ability to maximise long-term 
sustainable value appreciation  
for the property portfolio

 › Combined assurance framework 
developed to effectively manage 
the business

Financial capital Manufactured capital Intellectual capital

Internalised asset  
management company

Secured development expertise 
through first right of refusal on 
Abland developments

Implementation of new IT systems to 
improve the accessibility, accuracy 
and quality of portfolio information

Continuous review and improvement 
of property and asset management 
processes

Continuous monitoring of risks 
through utilisation of comprehensive 
risk register and risk management 
plan. Completed internal audit 
procedures on various business cycles

Strengthened governance structures 
including the appointment of a  
new chairman

Carbon Disclosure Project (“CDP”) 
and governance policies

Raised R600m through accelerated 
bookbuild at R19 per share 

Developments measuring 13 000m2 
completed. Positive fair value 
adjustments of R98m recognised

Income-producing properties revalued 
resulting in positive fair value 
adjustments of R383m

Net cash generated from operating 
activities of R130m

Interest-bearing liabilities of R1.3bn 
raised. Gearing reduced to 45.8%. 
Funding headroom available for 
new developments of R1.1bn

Repurchase of 2 750 000 shares that 
was accretive to shareholder NAVPS

Acquisitions and portfolio consolidations 
concluded totalling R520m

Development pipeline of 674 000m2 
secured with value on completion  
of R11.9bn

Closed out first investment in  
Nigeria – Oando Wings worth  
USD104m (value on completion)

Vacancies of 2.0% for office and 2.2%  
for retail properties are well below  
the market average

First right of refusal contract with 
strategic development partner

Refurbishment capital spend of  
R199m and development capital  
spend of R721m

Fc Mc Ic

Growing portfolio opens opportunities 
for larger developments

Secured several strategic assets 
to obtain control of precincts

Reliable and accurate information 
available for key decision makers

Achievement of property portfolio’s 
key performance indicators

High tenant retention and low 
vacancies throughout  
the portfolio

No significant control  
weaknesses were identified
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Minimised 
operating  
costs

Quality  
service

Reputable 
suppliers  
and partners

 › Continuous meaningful  
stakeholder engagement

 › Compliance with King III principles as 
per the corporate governance report

 › Implementation of a code of  
ethics and development of a 
transformation strategy

 › Management team increased by three 
staff members with specialist skills  
and experience

 › Committee terms of reference and 
annual work plans refined

 › Representation and involvement on  
the board of property manager

 › Sustainability gap analysis and 
sustainability strategy developed

Established social and ethics committee

Sponsorship and charitable involvement 
through the Abcon Foundation

Appointment of B-BBEE consultant and 
formulating of in-depth B-BBEE strategy

Supplier selection and procurement 
process to include SMEs and enterprise 
development

Renewal of appointment of sustainability 
and alternative energy consultant

Installation of smart meters  
and consumption monitoring

Installation of backup power facilities

Development of Green Star  
rated properties

Photovoltaic (“PV”) projects in place

25% interest in property  
management company

Strengthened management team 
including appointment of senior finance 
staff, experienced development manager 
and legal advisor

Properly constituted board and  
sub-committees with adequate 
experience and independence

Remuneration policy updated which 
includes long-term share incentives  
for key staff

Various staff welfare and health 
initiatives were implemented during  
the year

Social capital Natural capitalHuman capital

Hc Sc Nc

Development and asset management 
expertise unlocking intrinsic value from 
development pipeline

Staff salary benchmarking in line with 
industry. Retention of key staff through 
long-term incentives

Strong emphasis on property 
management service excellence

Over and above service  
delivery to tenants

Skills development and training 
resulting in community upliftment

Accountable and caring  
corporate citizen

Development of SMEs and assisting  
job creation in the sector

Improved building efficiency and 
overall tenant cost of occupation

Reduce portfolio impact on  
the environment by reducing  
carbon emissions

Reduced electricity costs
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Having a wide variety of stakeholders requires methods of 
engagement that meet the needs of each stakeholder group. 
We are mindful that the key to our success lies in preserving 
our reputation and credibility. By always being truthful and 
transparent in our disclosure, our approach to engaging with 
our stakeholders is crucial. Depending on the purpose and 
stakeholder group, engagement takes place either informally, 
or in a structured, formal programme.

As we have grown since listing in December 2014, adding 
new methods of engagement has been a necessity. Having 
access to management is important to our shareholders, 
showcasing the company to potential investors is essential. 
In our communications to stakeholders, we go beyond the 
standard requirements, thereby offering a more in-depth 
knowledge of the company. To this end, we will place a 
special focus on educating property investors, with the aim 
of growing the number of individuals within the investor 
base who understand Pivotal.

We continually engage with our stakeholders and ensure 
that we are accessible at all times.

As part of our communication programme, we interact with 
our tenants through the newly launched Over and Above 
service hubs. We engage with surrounding communities 
through our precinct management and approach property 
owners beyond our precinct regarding mutual interests 
through improved collaboration.

We have increased our interactions with the media during 
the year and will continue to do so in the years ahead. 
Instead of merely branding Pivotal, our aim is to brand our 
developments as initiatives, together with Pivotal. By using 
increased media exposure to communicate our development 
partnerships, the Pivotal brand will be coupled with the 
developments themselves to create improved brand 
accessibility for stakeholders.

STAKEHOLDER CONSIDERATIONS INTERACTION/COMMUNICATION

EMPLOYEES  › Safe working environment, free of 
discrimination

 › Equal opportunity

 › Job security

 › Corporate reputation

 › Skills development and career path

 › Sustainable growth of company

 › Daily reporting

 › Performance reviews

 › Training and development

 › Informal staff events

 › Electronic newsletters

 › Induction and exit interviews

 › Internal roadshows and presentations

TENANTS  › Appropriate property type and location

 › Occupational costs

 › Response to problems and requests

 › Well-serviced, maintained and 
secured premises

 › Complementary tenant mix

 › Long-term relationships

 › Over and Above Service Hubs

 › Meetings with property management

 › Monthly statements

 › Written communications

 › Website

 › Site visits

 › Various ad-hoc on site services

PROPERTY 
MANAGERS

 › Pivotal owns 25% of Abreal (Pty) Ltd (“Abreal”)

 › Pivotal management are Abreal board and 
executive committee members

 › Pivotal and Abreal share premises

 › Pivotal management involvement in Abreal 
staff appointments

 › Pivotal has influence over Abreal systems, 
processes and procedures

 › Direct communication with management

 › Telephonic and face-to-face meetings

 › Board meetings

 › Executive committee meetings

 › Site visits

 › Website

 › Monthly meetings with property managers
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STAKEHOLDER CONSIDERATIONS INTERACTION/COMMUNICATION

FINANCIERS  › Interest and capital repayments

 › Loan covenants

 › Appropriateness and extent of security 
provided

 › Proper asset and tenant management, 
including strength and duration of leases

 › Quarterly covenant reporting

 › Ad hoc requests and discussions

 › Availability of senior management

 › Integrated report

 › Annual and interim results presentations

 › SENS

 › Site visits

SHAREHOLDERS — 
PRESENT AND FUTURE

 › Net asset value per share

 › Value of underlying properties

 › Belief in and communication 
with management

 › Direct communication with management

 › Telephonic and face-to-face meetings

 › Integrated report

 › Annual and interim results presentations

 › SENS

 › Newsletters

 › Website

 › Annual general meeting

 › Pre-close presentations and roadshows

COMMUNITIES  › Clean, safe and appealing properties

 › Value enhancement for the area

 › Corporate social responsibility initiatives

 › Appropriate tenants

 › Precinct and urban management

 › Various community forums and associations

 › Website

 › Group foundation

 › Newsletters

SUPPLIERS AND 
SERVICE PROVIDERS

 › Service level agreements and trading terms

 › Timely payments

 › Continuing relationships

 › Direct communication with asset and property 
managers

 › Access to senior management

GOVERNMENT  › Compliance with regulations and laws

 › Timely payment of rates and taxes

 › External consultation to review rates 
and taxes

 › Consultation with municipalities and 
utilities suppliers

 › Various tax returns and statutory returns/filings

 › Monthly interaction with local government

MEDIA  › Transparent, truthful and informative 
communication

 › Promotion of corporate brand reputation

 › Promotion of company awareness

 › Site visits

 › Media briefings

 › Direct access to management
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Material matters
Materiality is determined by considering the effects, 
both positive and negative, of an issue on the company’s 
strategy, financial position, risk, governance, performance 
and prospects. Stakeholder considerations and expectations 
guide the determination of what is material and includes 
the risks and opportunities related to the company’s value-
creating ability to generate sustainable growth and retain 
income streams. Governance factors are also taken into 
account. The board determines the material matters annually.

We view a matter as material if it impacts on our ability to 
create value over time. Management together with the board 
considers these material matters, as well as compliance 
requirements and reporting best practice, in determining the 
financial and non-financial data and commentary included 
in this integrated report. A comprehensive discussion of 
the issues below is incorporated throughout this integrated 
report but particularly in the executive review, which 
commences on page 8.

The asset management and the operational management 
flow in and out of one another, in order to achieve the 
objectives of our material matters.

Our material matters for the year under review remained 
two-pronged:

Portfolio management
 › Increase sustainable shareholder value

 › Focus on maintaining premium and A-grade properties

 › Increased sustainability benefits of efficient buildings

 › Grow the asset base through development opportunities

 › Efficient debt levels at market-related cost

 › Diversify the investment strategy

 › Strategic relationship building

Operational management
 › Minimise operational cost

 › Minimise vacancy levels

 › Retain quality tenants

 › Optimise arrears collections

 › Optimise maintenance

 › Mitigate council charges

Risk management
The board appreciates that strategy, risk, performance 
and sustainability are inseparable and it contributes 
to and improves the company’s strategy, assesses the 
risk management process and ensures that the strategy 
will result in sustainable outcomes. The board, with the 
assistance of the executive committee and the audit and risk 
committee, monitors the significant risks that the company 
is exposed to.

The board accepts its responsibility for the entire process 
of risk management in the company. It also ensures that 
risks are taken within a reasonable appetite and that 
sufficient safeguards are put in place to mitigate such risks. 
This effective, ongoing process is in place to identify risks, 
measure their impact and proactively manage them. The 
board sets the risk management strategy in conjunction 
with the executive directors and senior management.

Formal risk assessments are undertaken annually and 
more often, if necessary. The audit and risk committee is 
responsible for assisting the board in reviewing the risk 
management process. Pivotal’s risk policy will be enhanced 
in the future to define and provide detailed parameters 
around the company’s risk appetite, which will contribute 
to the company achieving its strategic objectives.

A summarised risk matrix, which includes significant 
risks, the impact of these risks, the capitals affected and 
the mitigating response of the company, is set out in the 
following table:
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RISK
IMPACT ON 
PIVOTAL

CAPITALS 
AFFECTED

MITIGATING 
RESPONSE

1.  Ineffective property 
management 

 › Inadequate retention of tenants 

 › Increased chance of fraud 
and theft

 › All  › Adequate representation at 
executive committee meetings

 › Employment of appropriately 
qualified and trained staff

 › Appropriate segregation of managers 
and employees

2.  Failure to comply 
with the terms of 
the B-BBEE property 
charter

 › Compromised performance 
resulting in financial loss

 › Compromised reputation

 › Financial

 › Human

 › Intellectual

 › Shadow ratings performed annually 
and improvements recommended 
to board

 › Consider B-BBEE ownership 
structures and consideration 
of a strategy off the back of 
shadow ratings

3.  Unplanned departure 
of key personnel

 › Disruptions to operations and 
possible reputational damage

 › Financial

 › Human

 › Intellectual

 › Succession plan designed and 
implemented which addresses all 
key personnel

4.  The service provider 
does not have 
adequate disaster 
recovery/backup 
IT systems

 › Operational and strategic 
disruptions

 › Financial

 › Manufactured

 › Quarterly report signed off by 
the internal audit, to be provided 
by service provider. Confirming 
successful testing of backup 
procedures

5.  Non-compliance 
with taxation

 › Imposition of fines and penalties 
by authorities

 › Financial

 › Human

 › Consultation with legal experts 
and SARS and management of 
the “dispute” with SARS regarding 
the carrying forward of the 
assessed losses

 › Completion of a thorough tax 
risk assessment

 › Initiate negotiations with authorities 
and where necessary initiate legal 
action to resolve issues

6.  Excessive volatility 
with regard to interest 
rate fluctuations 

 › Increased potential for an 
adverse effect on the company’s 
operations and the value of 
its investments

 › All  › The board and management 
receive regulate presentations 
by economists indicating their 
predictions on interest rate and 
market fluctuations

 › Reviewed and monitored by 
the investment committee

 › Hedging using interest rate 
derivatives
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RISK
IMPACT ON 
PIVOTAL

CAPITALS 
AFFECTED

MITIGATING 
RESPONSE

7.  Increased interest 
rates

 › Diminished returns 

 › Increased cap rates, reduced 
investment value and reduced 
disposable income

 › Financial

 › Human

 › Intellectual

 › Manufactured

 › Hedging

 › Diversification of the portfolio

8.  Declining economic 
outlook and possible 
downgrade of SA 
Sovereign rating 

 › Deterioration in the value 
of the portfolio

 › Diminished returns

 › Compromised performance 
resulting in financial loss

 › Reduction in the demand 
for office space

 › Financial

 › Human

 › Intellectual

 › Manufactured

 › Offshore diversification of the 
property portfolio

9.  Changes to legislation 
prohibit the over 
recovery of costs 
(electricity)

 › Compromised performance 
resulting in financial loss

 › Deterioration in the value 
of the portfolio

 › Diminished returns

 › Reduced performance 
(income and capital)

 › Financial

 › Human

 › Intellectual

 › Manufactured

 › Social

 › Reliance on alternate energy sources 
(solar voltaic)

 › External consultants appointed 
to perform feasibility studies and 
make recommendations

10.  Excessive power 
disruptions (load 
shedding and other 
outages)

 › Disruptions to power required 
for developments

 › All  › Developers and tenants have backup 
generators

 › Procurement to facilitate adequate 
and timely delivery of the product
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Sakumzi (“Saki”) Macozoma

(59) BA
Independent non-executive chairman

Remuneration and nominations 
committee

Appointment date: 20 May 2016 
(Post year-end)

Saki is one of the most prominent 
business figures in South Africa. He 
is chairman of mining and exploration 
companies, Tshipi é Ntle Manganese 
Mining and Ntsimbintle Mining and a 
board member of Volkswagen SA. In 
addition to his business interests, Saki 
is recognised for his work in civil society. 
In 2012, the University of South Africa 
(UNISA) gave him a Calabash award, 
the university’s highest honour, for his 
fight against State oppression during the 
apartheid regime. Saki is the President of 
Business Leadership in South Africa and 
a member of the International Business 
Advisory Council (IBAC) of the G20.

Tom Wixley

(76) BCom, CA(SA)
Independent non-executive director *

Audit and risk committee, Remuneration 
and nominations committee, Social and 
ethics committee

Appointment date: 5 September 2014

Tom was a partner at Ernst & Young for over 
30 years, the last 10 of which as chairman. 
He has held directorships in a number of 
listed companies and is co-author with 
Professor Geoff Everingham of “Corporate 
Governance” now in its third edition.

*  Independent non-executive chairman 
during the year under review.
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Jackie van Niekerk

(33) BCom
Chief executive officer

Appointment date: 6 December 2013

Jackie studied BCom Accounting at the 
University of Pretoria. She has over 
10 years of property experience in 
all property industries and disciplines. 
She joined Pivotal in 2009 as an asset 
manager, where she gained experience 
in property management, investment 
and development in all property sectors. 
Jackie was elected to the board and 
appointed as managing director in 
June 2013.

Aaron Suckerman

(31) Bcom (Acc), ACCA UK
Financial director

Appointment date: 6 June 2014

Aaron has held various senior finance 
positions in the United Kingdom before 
returning to South Africa. He gained 
experience in corporate and property 
management as financial manager at 
Redefine Properties Limited and financial 
director at Fountainhead Property Trust.

Dave Savage

(52) BSc (Building) and MSc (Building)
Non-executive director

Investment committee, Remuneration 
and nominations committee

Appointment date: 29 August 2005

Dave has 28 years’ experience in 
the property industry, 26 years of 
which have been dedicated to the 
growth of the Abcon Group. Dave 
has been involved in all aspects of 
Abland becoming a national property 
development company active in all 
industry sectors. He was also integrally 
involved in the formation and listing 
of Pivotal. Dave currently serves as 
Abcon Group CEO for the various 
companies. He also serves on the board 
of the MaraDelta Fund. Dave stepped 
down as an executive director on 
20 May 2016 but remains on the 
board as a non-executive director.
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Thys Neser

(60) BSc (Building Management), MBA
Non-executive director

Investment committee

Appointment date: 29 August 2015

Thys has been involved with the 
Abcon Group since 1981 and is 
currently executive chairman of the 
various companies within the group. 
He is active in the residential and 
commercial property field, as well 
as in other business ventures.

Stewart Shaw-Taylor

(63) CA(SA)
Non-executive director

Investment committee

Appointment date: 12 December 2005

Stewart has more than 32 years’ 
experience in investment banking and 
real estate. He is currently the head 
of Real Estate Investments, Corporate 
and Investment Banking, a division of 
Standard Bank. He is responsible for 
the equity-related real estate activities 
undertaken by Corporate and Investment 
Banking. In addition to his Standard Bank 
responsibilities he serves on a number of 
listed and unlisted boards.
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Tony Dixon

(70) CA(SA); EDP (Wits) F inst D
Independent non-executive director

Audit and risk committee

Appointment date: 5 September 2014

Tony was a partner, regional CEO and 
regional chairman of Coopers & Lybrand 
(PricewaterhouseCoopers) KZN as well 
as a member of National Executive 
and Governing Board (1975 to 1995). 
He has also had executive director and 
non-executive director experience on 
a number of publicly listed companies. 
Tony has five years’ experience as 
executive director of the Institute of 
Directors (IoD) (2003 to 2008) was a long 
serving member of the King Committee 
on Corporate Governance and is an 
experienced CEDR-accredited mediator.

Chris Ewing

(67) BCom LLB (Wits)
Independent non-executive director

Audit and risk committee, Social and 
ethics committee

Appointment date: 5 September 2014

Chris is the immediate past Chairman  
of Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr. He was 
appointed as a partner in 1982 and has 
more than 30 years of corporate law 
experience. Chris is currently Chairman 
of DLA Piper Africa and is a consultant  
to DLA Piper International.

Thando Sishuba

(45) BSc Hons (Land Management) and 
MSc (Property Investment)
Independent non-executive director

Remuneration and nominations committee

Appointment date: 30 August 2012

Thando has over 20 years of property 
experience, having served in various 
roles within the property industry 
(mainly as fund manager at Old Mutual 
Properties, MD of Shanduka Properties 
and most recently as the Head of 
Properties at Imperial Holdings). Thando 
is currently the Managing Director of 
Ubunono Properties, a black owned 
asset management and development 
facilitation entity. He is also a director of 
Texton Property Fund and Catalyst Fund 
Managers South Africa. He has previously 
served as a non-executive director of 
various listed property funds, as well 
as Kia Motors S.A.
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Ethical leadership 
and good corporate 
governance
The board is ultimately responsible for and is committed 
to ensuring good corporate governance throughout the 
company in line with the requirements of King III. It is 
responsible for the performance and affairs of the company 
and effectively represents and promotes the legitimate 
interests of the company and its shareholders. The group 
is committed to achieving its goals with integrity, high ethical 
standards and in compliance with all applicable laws. The 
board has adopted a code of ethics and business conduct, 
which is continuously reviewed and updated. The board, 
at all times, retains full and effective control over the 
company and it directs and supervises the business and 
affairs of the company.

The board ensures that the company is and is seen to 
be a responsible corporate citizen by considering the 
financial aspects of the business of the company and the 
impact that company operations have on the environment 
and the communities within which it operates. The 
board acknowledges that strategy, risk, performance 
and sustainability are inseparable and contributes to 
and approves the company’s strategy, assesses the risk 
management process and ensures that the strategy will 
result in sustainable outcomes.

Composition, independence 
and skills of the board
The company has a unitary board of directors, which consists 
of two executive directors and eight non-executive directors, 
five of whom are considered independent. Directors are 
appointed through a formal process in line with the board 
policy and the remuneration and nominations committee 
assists with the process. The chief executive officer and 
the financial director are members of the board. The newly 
appointed chairman’s role is separate from that of the chief 
executive officer.

The non-executive directors have the necessary skills and 
experience to provide judgment that is independent of 
management on issues of strategy, performance, resources, 
transformation, diversity and employment equity, standards 
of conduct and evaluation of performance.

The current board’s diversity of professional expertise 
and demographics make it a highly effective board with 
regard to Pivotal’s current strategies. The board through the 
remuneration and nominations committee will ensure that 
in appointing successive directors, the board as a whole 
will continue to reflect, whenever possible, a diverse set 
of professional and personal backgrounds ensuring a clear 
balance of power and authority so that no one director has 
unfettered powers of decision making.

The board delegates its authority to the remuneration 
and nominations committee to assess the skills required 
to competently discharge the board’s duties, having regard 
to the strategic direction of the company. This assessment 
is also performed for the purposes of filling casual 
vacancies on the board. All board members assist with the 
identification and nomination of potential candidates. The 
remuneration and nominations committee assesses the skills 
represented on the board of the remaining non-executive 
directors when an existing director retires and determines 
whether they meet the required skills identified.

The remuneration and nominations committee, having 
regard to the skills required and the skills represented, 
implements the identification process of suitable candidates 
for appointment to the board. Sadly, Angus Mackay passed 
away on 3 June 2015 and Marc Wainer resigned from the 
Board on 10 December 2015. Saki Macozoma was appointed 
an independent non-executive director and chairman of 
the board effective 20 May 2016. Post year-end, Dave 
Savage stepped down as executive director but remains 
on the board as a non-executive director.

The information needs of the board are reviewed annually 
and directors have unrestricted access to all company 
information, records and documents to enable them to 
conduct their responsibilities sufficiently. Non-executive 
directors may meet separately with management, without 
the attendance of executive directors.

The directors of the company at year-end were:

 › Tom Wixley (independent non-executive chairman *)

 › Jackie van Niekerk (chief executive officer)

 › Aaron Suckerman (financial director)

 › Dave Savage (executive director **)

 › Thys Neser (non-executive director)

 › Stewart Shaw-Taylor (non-executive director)

 › Thando Sishuba (independent non-executive director)

 › Chris Ewing (independent non-executive director)

 › Tony Dixon (independent non-executive director)

* independent non-executive director with effect from 20 May 2016.

** non-executive director with effect from 20 May 2016.

Rotation and tenure
Appointment of directors to the company’s board follows a 
formal process supported by a transparent policy including 
approval by the remuneration and nominations committee. 
In terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, 
one-third of the non-executive directors will retire at 
the next annual general meeting and will be eligible for 
re-election. Tony Dixon and Chris Ewing will rotate and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 
annual general meeting on 31 October 2016.
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Induction and 
development training
On appointment, new directors undergo an induction 
programme aimed at facilitating their understanding of 
the business environment and markets in which the 
company operates. The induction programme is conducted 
by management and includes information and guidance on 
the group structure and business objectives; the financial 
performance of the company; reciprocal expectations; 
the familiarisation by means of site visits and consultation 
with the company’s senior management; the company’s 
policies and procedures and information on directors’ 
roles and responsibilities in terms of legislation, regulatory 
requirements and best practice.

Board members must have a working knowledge and 
understanding of the company’s business and the laws, 
regulations and processes that govern the company’s business 
activities. The company provides ongoing professional 
development training programmes and regular briefings on any 
changes in the business environment. Inexperienced directors 
are developed through a mentorship programme to inform them 
of their duties, responsibilities, powers and potential liabilities.

Board charter
The board has approved a charter setting out its responsibilities 
for the adoption of strategic plans, monitoring of operational 
performance and management, determination of policy 
and processes to ensure the integrity of the company’s 
risk management and internal controls, communication 
policy and director selection, orientation and evaluation. 

The group member companies shall adopt the governance 
framework, policies, processes and procedures as set by 
Pivotal’s board in consultation with the directors of its 
various subsidiaries.

Board meetings
The board met four times during the reporting period. The board 
sets Pivotal’s strategic objectives and determines its investment 
and performance criteria. The board is also responsible for 
the company’s sustainability, proper management, control, 
compliance and ethical behaviour of the businesses under its 
direction. Meetings and proceedings of the board are governed 
by the company’s memorandum of incorporation. Members 
of senior management, assurance providers and professional 
advisors attend meetings by invitation only and may not vote.

The board establishes an annual work plan to ensure that 
all relevant matters are addressed in the agendas of the 
meetings planned for the year. The plan ensures the proper 
coverage of the matters laid out in the board charter.

The board has established specific committees to give detailed 
attention to certain of its responsibilities and which operate 
within defined, written terms of reference which are capable 
of amendment by the board as the need arises.

The chairman of the board, assisted by the chief executive 
officer and the company secretary, is responsible for setting 
the agenda for each board meeting after having received 
input from the board. Board meetings are scheduled well 
in advance and the company secretary ensures that all 
directors are provided with the information required well 
in advance to enable them to prepare for meetings and 
formulate their views on matters.

aTTendance of board meeTings

7 May 2015 6 Aug 2015 27 Oct 2015 10 Feb 2016

Tom Wixley ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Jackie van Niekerk ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Aaron Suckerman ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Tony Dixon ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Chris Ewing ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Thys Neser ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Angus Mackay ✓ n/a n/a n/a

Dave Savage ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Stewart Shaw-Taylor ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Thando Sishuba ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Marc Wainer A ✓ A n/a

A  Absent with apology.

n/a Has resigned/passed away.
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Board processes

Company secretary
The board has direct access to the company secretary, 
JUBA Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd, represented by Sirkien van 
Schalkwyk. Sirkien van Schalkwyk, aged 39, holds a BLC, LLB 
and was appointed in December 2014 as Pivotal’s company 
secretary. She has 17 years’ experience across a broad 
spectrum of disciplines including compliance, statutory services 
and contract management and has acted as company secretary 
for a number of companies including JSE listed companies.

The company secretary undergoes an annual evaluation 
by the board whereby the board satisfies itself as to the 
competence, qualifications and experience of the company 
secretary. The board has considered and is satisfied with the 
competence, qualifications, independence and experience of 
the company secretary.

The company secretary is not a member of the board and has an 
arm’s-length relationship with the board. The board considered 
and is satisfied with the company secretary’s independence 
and that an arm’s-length relationship is maintained between 
the company and JUBA Statutory Services.

The company secretary arranges training on changing 
regulations and legislation and may involve the company’s 
sponsors and auditors. The board recognises the key role 
that the company secretary plays in the achievement of 
good corporate governance and empowers the company 
secretary accordingly.

The company secretary is accountable to the board to:

 › ensure that board procedures are followed and 
reviewed regularly;

 › ensure that applicable rules and regulations for the 
conduct of the affairs of the board are complied with;

 › maintain statutory records in accordance with legal 
requirements;

 › guide the board as to how their responsibilities should 
be properly discharged in the best interests of the 
company; and

 › keep abreast of, and inform, the board of current and 
new developments regarding corporate governance 
thinking and practice.

Regulatory and 
legislative compliance
Directors must have a working understanding of all 
applicable laws and regulations that affect the company. 
The board ensures that the company complies with 
applicable laws and considers adherence to non-binding 
industry rules and codes of business practice and standards 
through the implementation of a compliance programme.

When deciding whether or not non-binding rules are to be 
complied with, the board factors the appropriate ethical 
considerations that must be taken into account. Directors 
carry full fiduciary responsibility and owe a duty of care 
and skill to the company in terms of the Companies Act and, 
with the assistance of the company secretary, ensures full 
compliance with the Companies Act.

Board and committee 
effectiveness and evaluation
The board as a whole, as well as the individual directors, 
have their overall performance annually reviewed in order 
to identify areas for improvement in the discharge of their 
functions. The company secretary conducted a self-evaluation 
exercise of the board’s performance, mix of skills and 
individual contributions of directors, its achievements in 
terms of corporate governance and the effectiveness of its 
board committees. The board was found to have operated 
and functioned effectively during the period.

The board annually appraises the chairman’s performance 
and ability to add value, however, the remuneration and 
nominations committee, annually appraises the performance 
of the chief executive officer and other senior executives.

Succession planning
The remuneration and nominations committee ensures the 
continuity of directorships and undertakes the succession 
planning of directors and other senior management. 
Appointments to the board are duly assisted by the 
remuneration and nominations committee, including 
the appointment of the chairman, chief executive officer, 
executive directors and independent non-executive 
directors. The committee also attends to the appointment 
of the company secretary. In making such appointments, 
the board ensures the integrity and skills of the proposed 
director by receiving a curriculum vitae from the company’s 
sponsor, interviewing and performing reference checks in 
terms of the board policy.

Board relationships with 
staff and external advisors
To the extent that they may require such access to make 
informed decisions, board members have unrestricted access 
to the company’s records, information, documents and property. 
In addition, board members have unrestricted access to senior 
managers, the internal auditors and the external auditors to 
consult on any aspect of the company’s operations. Furthermore, 
board members may collectively or individually, at the expense 
of the company, consult external professional advisors on any 
matter of concern to themselves or the company after having 
advised the chief executive officer or chairman.
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Delegation of authority — 
board committees

Function of the 
board committees
The board has appointed several supporting committees 
to assist it with executing its responsibilities. The board has 
developed clear definitions of the levels of materiality or 
sensitivity in order to determine the scope and delegation 
of authority and has ensured that it reserves specific powers 
and authority for itself. Delegated authority is in accordance 
with the delegation of authority policy and framework.

The board has delegated certain functions to the audit 
and risk committee, the remuneration and nominations 
committee, the social and ethics committee and the 
investment committee. The board is conscious of the fact 
that such delegation of duties is not an abdication of the 
board members’ responsibilities. Delegation to committees 
occurs formally by way of terms of reference, which the 
board reviews and approves annually.

The chairman of each committee reports to the board on 
all material matters that have come to the committee’s 
attention. All committee meetings are minuted and directors 
may raise any questions arising from these minutes. The 
various chairmen have confirmed that the terms of reference 
have been materially complied with. The company secretary 
attends all committee meetings as secretary.

audit and Risk cOmmittee
For information pertaining to the audit and risk committee, 
refer to the audit and risk committee report commencing on 
page 73 of this integrated report.

RemuneRatiOn and 
nOminatiOns cOmmittee
For information pertaining to the remuneration and nominations 
committee, refer to the remuneration report commencing on 
page 70 of this integrated report.

sOcial and ethics cOmmittee
For information pertaining to the social and ethics committee, 
refer to the social and ethics committee report commencing 
on page 56 of this integrated report.

investment cOmmittee
The board has appointed an investment committee that meets 
on an ad hoc basis to evaluate all investment opportunities, 
consider acquisitions, redevelopments and sales of investment 
properties and to make recommendations to the board with 
regards thereto.

During the year under review, the committee met seven 
times. The committee is chaired by non-executive director 
Stewart Shaw-Taylor and further comprises non-executive 
directors Dave Savage and Thys Neser, as well as executive 
directors Jackie van Niekerk and Aaron Suckerman.

The duties of the committee are to:

 › review investment opportunities, including new development 
opportunities, in line with the company’s investment strategy 
of capital appreciation and investment in well-located 
A-grade properties;

 › review and recommend to the board for approval any 
policies proposed by management and relevant to the 
areas of responsibility of the committee;

 › review any other strategies or plans of a material nature 
and any other matter referred to it by the board of 
directors; and

 › have due regard to the principles of governance and codes 
of best practice in its functioning and deliberations.

it steeRinG cOmmittee
During the reporting period, the board appointed an IT 
steering committee that meets on a regular basis to govern 
information technology (“IT”) responsibilities as recommended 
by King III. The committee report on their duties in accordance 
with the terms of reference as approved by the board. Whilst 
the board takes overall responsibility for IT, this function is 
delegated to the audit and risk committee.

The company’s IT environment is partly outsourced to CPC 
Plus Solutions and the main function is managed by the chief 
information officer, Kobus Schlebusch, who was appointed in 
November 2015.

Management has developed a number of business continuity 
plans and the IT infrastructure and applications which 
provide support for the financial systems are audited on 
an annual basis by the external auditors. The audit and 
risk committee is supported by business system managers, 
whilst the IT management team is responsible for evaluating 
the security of computer systems and applications and 
for devising contingency plans for processing financial 
information in the event of system breakdowns.

Accountability and 
internal control
To meet the company’s responsibility to provide reliable 
financial information, the company maintains financial and 
operational systems of internal control. These controls are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are concluded in accordance with management’s authority, 
that the assets are adequately protected against material 
losses, unauthorised acquisition, use or disposal, and those 
transactions are properly authorised and recorded.
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The systems include a documented organisational structure and 
division of responsibility, established policies and procedures, 
which are communicated throughout the company, and the 
careful selection, training and development of people.

The company monitors the operation of the internal control 
systems in order to determine if there are deficiencies. Corrective 
actions are taken to address control deficiencies as they are 
identified. The board, operating through the audit and risk 
committee, oversees the financial reporting process and internal 
control systems. The committee’s primary objective is to provide 
the board with additional assurance regarding the efficacy and 
reliability of the financial information used by the directors to 
assist them in the discharge of their duties.

There are inherent limitations on the effectiveness of 
any system of internal control, including the possibility of 
human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls. 
Accordingly, an effective internal control system can provide 
only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement 
preparation and the safeguarding of assets. The audit and risk 
committee monitors the existence of adequate and appropriate 
financial and operating controls and ensures that significant 
business, financial and other risks have been identified and 
are being suitably managed; and satisfactory standards of 
governance, reporting and compliance are in operation.

Ethical performance

Code of ethics 
and business conduct
The board has adopted and implemented a code of ethics 
and business conduct, which governs the manner in which 
the company conducts itself. It outlines the values, ethics, 
and beliefs that guide the behaviour of the board and 
defines the ethical standards applicable to it and to all 
who deal with it.

The company ensures that major service providers have a 
code of ethics that is aligned with that of the company. The 
board has instituted an independent whistle blowers’ line 
with Whistleblowing, which can be used by any stakeholder 
to report unethical behaviour. To date no reports have been 
received. The audit and risk committee, from a financial 
fraud point of view as well as the social and ethics committee 
reviews these reports at every meeting.

Share dealings
The company has a policy of prohibiting dealings by 
directors, the company secretary and certain other managers 
in periods immediately preceding the announcement of its 
interim and year-end financial results, any period while the 
company is trading under cautionary announcement and at 
any other time deemed necessary by the board.

During closed periods no trading of whatever nature in 
the company’s shares will be allowed. This will include any 
activity in terms of the company’s share incentive schemes 
such as the offering of shares or share options and the 
acceptance and exercising by participants of options in 
terms of the rules of the scheme.

Directors require written clearance from the chairman prior 
to trading in the company’s shares. The chairman consults 
with the executive directors before granting the clearance to 
ensure that there is no material price-sensitive information 
that has not been disclosed to the market. Clearance is 
provided on receipt of a written request from the director 
and once the necessary signatures of the designated 
directors have been obtained.

Consent to trade in the company’s shares may be given 
by the chairman, or in his absence by the chief executive 
officer or financial director together with the chairman of the 
remuneration and nominations committee or in his absence, 
the chairman of the audit and risk committee. The financial 
director keeps a register of all written requests for consent to 
trade as well as proof of clearance given and communicated 
to the relevant director. This policy is applicable to senior 
managers of the company or any member of staff that may 
be identified as a prescribed officer.

There have been no material changes to the directors’ interests 
post 29 February 2016 to date. Information regarding directors’ 
interests is set out on page 83.

Disclosure of interest
In terms of section 75 of the Companies Act, if a director 
has a personal financial interest in respect of a matter to 
be considered at a meeting of the board, or knows that a 
related person has a personal financial interest in the matter, 
the director:

 › must disclose the interest and its general nature before 
the matter is considered at the meeting;

 › must disclose any observations or pertinent insights relating 
to the matter if requested to do so by the other directors;

 › if present at the meeting at which the matter in respect 
of which the director has a personal financial interest 
is to be discussed or voted on, must leave the meeting 
immediately after making any disclosure and must not 
take part in the consideration or voting in respect of the 
matter; and

 › must not execute any document on behalf of the company 
in relation to the matter unless specifically requested or 
directed to do so by the board.

Directors that are required to recuse themselves from voting 
are deemed to be present for purposes of the calculating the 
prerequisite quorum, but the remainder of the directors still 
have to achieve the required support for the resolution to 
be passed.
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Directors must submit their declaration of interests to the 
company secretary annually and confirm their declarations 
at each meeting in writing in line with the company’s 
declaration and conflict of interest policy and as required by 
the Companies Act. In addition, if a director, after a matter 
has been approved by the company, acquires a personal 
financial interest in an agreement or other matter in which 
the company has a material interest, or knows that a related 
person has acquired a personal financial interest in the 
matter, the director must promptly disclose such interest 
to the board.

In addition to the specific disclosures referred to above, it is 
company policy that directors of the company should declare 
gifts or hospitality received in connection with their role in 
the company above R1 000. These disclosures must be made 
in writing and addressed to the financial director as and when 
the relevant incidents occur. Interests are recorded on the 
company’s register of interests, which is maintained by the 
financial director.

Stakeholder communications
The board appreciates that stakeholder perceptions affect 
the company’s reputation. It is ultimately responsible for 
determining the company’s interactions with its material 
stakeholders. It has established a policy for the engagement 
of the company’s stakeholders and has oversight of the 
development of a formal stakeholder engagement plan. 
Pivotal promotes a stakeholder inclusive approach in 
operating the company.

It is the company’s policy to meet regularly with institutional 
shareholders, private investors, investment analysts and 
other stakeholders. The company’s chief executive officer, 
financial director and members of the executive committee 
conduct timely presentations on the company’s performance 
and strategy to analysts, financiers, institutional investors 
and the media in South Africa.

Presentations, corporate actions and reports on performance, 
half- and full-year financial results as well as any other 
information deemed relevant, are published in print and 
electronic media as specified by the JSE Listings Requirements 
from time to time. Shareholders and other stakeholders 
are advised of such newly published items via SENS. Other 
information on the company, such as its management and 
portfolio of properties, is also available on the website.

The board also encourages shareholders to attend the 
company’s annual general meeting and other general 
meetings which may be held during the course of the year. 
For a more detailed discussion on stakeholder engagement, 
refer to page 36 of this integrated report.

Integrated reporting
The company’s integrated report and financial statements 
include detailed reviews of the company, together with a detailed 
review of the financial results and financial position. In this 
way the board seeks to present a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the company’s position and prospects.

The company will establish comprehensive management 
reporting disciplines, which include the preparation of 
monthly management accounts, detailed budgets and 
forecasts. Monthly results, the financial position and cash 
flows of operating units will be reported against approved 
budgets and compared to the prior period. Profit and cash 
flow forecasts will be reviewed regularly and working capital 
levels are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Sustainability reporting and disclosure is integrated with 
the company’s financial reporting. The financials state 
the company’s positive and negative impacts and detail 
whatever steps have been taken to ameliorate the negative 
impacts. The board will ensure the integrity of the company’s 
integrated report via the audit and risk committee.

The board ensures the integrity of the company’s 
integrated report. The board reports to shareholders and 
other stakeholders on the company’s economic, social and 
environmental performance. The board includes commentary 
on the company’s financial results to enhance the clarity and 
balance of reporting.

Summary of 
adherence to King III
Pivotal is committed to the principles of transparency, 
integrity, fairness and accountability as advocated in the 
King Code. It therefore strives to meet those objectives 
in accordance with the content of the table below. Full 
disclosure of Pivotal’s King III compliance may be found 
on its website, www.pivotalfund.co.za.
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Level of compliance key:

A Full application.

P In process/partially applied.

Principle
Level of 
compliance Comments

1. The board should provide effective leadership based 
on an ethical foundation

A Ethics form part of the values of the board and company. 
Effective and ethical leadership is entrenched in the board’s 
decision making and the board complies with the principles of 
the code of ethics and business conduct and good corporate 
governance in terms of King III

2. The board should ensure that the company is, 
and is seen to be, a responsible corporate citizen

A The company identifies and contributes to selected corporate 
social investment initiatives. The board has adopted a code 
of ethics and business conduct, which governs the manner 
in which the company conducts itself

3. The board should ensure that the company’s ethics 
are managed effectively

A The board meets regularly to review management of the 
company. The company outsources property management 
to an associate and ensures that all service provides have a 
code of ethics that is aligned with that of the company. The 
board has instituted an independent whistle blowers’ line with 
Whistleblowers (Pty) Ltd which can be used by any stakeholder 
to report unethical behaviour. An anti-fraud, theft, corruption 
and cyber-crime policy was approved during the reporting 
period. The reports are reviewed regularly by the audit and 
risk committee as well as the social and ethics committee

4. The board should act as the focal point for and 
custodian of corporate governance

A The board carries out its duties with the highest standards of 
corporate governance in mind

5. The board should appreciate that strategy, risk, 
performance and sustainability are inseparable

A Board strategy is discussed at board meetings and the strategic 
direction of the company approved, bearing in mind shareholder 
returns, sustainability and risk management

6. The board should ensure that the company has an 
effective and independent audit and risk committee

A The audit and risk committee comprises of three independent 
non-executive directors. Although the chairman of the board 
is a member of this committee, this was mitigated by the 
appointment of a new chairman to the board. All the members 
have the necessary skills and experience required by the audit 
and risk committee

7. The board should be responsible for the governance 
of risk

A The board is responsible for the management of strategic and 
operational risks within the company

8. The board should be responsible for information 
technology (IT) governance

A The board takes overall responsibility for IT governance. The 
board delegated this function to the audit and risk committee. 
An IT steering committee was established during the reporting 
period and the chairman of this committee attends audit and risk 
committee meetings by invitation. The minutes of the IT steering 
committee as well as an IT report are included and reviewed by 
the audit and risk committee as well as the board

9. The board should ensure that the company complies 
with applicable laws and considers adherence to 
non-binding rules, codes and standards

A The board keeps abreast of changes to legislation through 
notifications received from the audit and risk committee, 
social and ethics committee and corporate advisors

10. The board should ensure that there is an effective 
risk-based internal audit

A KPMG has been appointed as internal auditors and the internal 
audit plan was approved and progress against the plan reviewed 
at each audit and risk committee meeting. Findings are discussed 
as well as management comments

11. The board should appreciate that stakeholders’ 
perceptions affect the company’s reputation

A The board ensures continuous communication with key 
stakeholders through the publication of relevant information 
through company newsletters and news releases on the 
company website as well as relevant SENS announcements

12. The board should ensure the integrity of the 
company’s integrated report

A The audit and risk committee is tasked with reviewing the 
integrity of the integrated report and recommending its 
approval to the board
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Principle
Level of 
compliance Comments

13. The board should report on the effectiveness of the 
company’s system of internal controls

A The effectiveness of the company’s internal control systems 
is reviewed by management, as well as internal and external 
auditors. A combined assurance framework has been adopted 
during the reporting period

14. The board and its directors should act in the best 
interests of the company

A The board of directors as a whole and as individuals understand 
their fiduciary responsibility to act in the best interests of 
the company

15. The board should consider business rescue 
proceedings or other turnaround mechanisms as 
soon as the company is financially distressed as 
defined in the Act

A The board has noted this responsibility and will deal with it in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, King III 
and advice received from advisors should the need arise

16. The board should elect a chairman of the board who 
is an independent non-executive director. The CEO of 
the company should not also fulfil the role of chairman 
of the board

A The independent chairman of the board’s role is separate from 
that of the chief executive officer

17. The board should appoint the chief executive 
officer and establish a framework for the delegation 
of authority

A A chief executive officer has been appointed and an approvals 
framework (reviewed annually) is in place which delegates 
specific powers and delegations of authorities to management

18. The board should comprise a balance of power, with a 
majority of non-executive directors. The majority of 
non-executive directors should be independent

A The board comprises a majority of non-executive directors 
of whom a majority are independent

19. Directors should be appointed through a formal process A The board decides on appointments. Deliberations and 
appointments are formal and transparent in terms of the 
policy for the appointment of directors to the board, which 
is annexed to the board charter and the remuneration and 
nominations committee assists the board in determining 
the skills required

20. The induction of and ongoing training and 
development of directors should be conducted 
through formal processes

A Training is arranged for the board as required. Members 
of the board are entitled to receive training at the 
company’s expense

21. The board should be assisted by a competent, suitably 
qualified and experienced company secretary

A The board confirms that it is satisfied with the qualifications 
and experience of the company secretary of Pivotal, being 
Juba Statutory Services represented by Sirkien van Schalkwyk

22. The evaluation of the board, its committees and the 
individual directors should be performed every year

A The board has formulated a formal evaluation process and will 
conduct the evaluation annually

23. The board should delegate certain functions to 
well-structured committees without abdicating 
its own responsibilities

A The company has established an audit and risk committee, 
remuneration and nominations committee, social and ethics 
committee as well as an investment committee. An IT steering 
committee was also established during the reporting period 
and report to the board via the audit and risk committee. All 
committees have a formal, approved terms of reference and 
conducts formal meetings as required

24. A governance framework should be agreed between 
the group and its subsidiary boards

P Not applicable in the current structure as there are no major 
subsidiaries

25. Companies should remunerate directors and executives 
fairly and responsibly

A The board reviews the remuneration of the directors 
and executives. The remuneration is benchmarked against 
industry levels and, where applicable, is performance-based. 
The remuneration philosophy which is reviewed by the 
remuneration and nominations committee will be tabled 
for shareholders’ approval at each annual general meeting

26. Companies should disclose the remuneration of each 
individual director and certain senior executives

A Remuneration of each director is disclosed in the 
integrated report

27. Shareholders should approve the company’s 
remuneration policy

A The remuneration philosophy is tabled for approval by 
shareholders at the annual general meeting
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This report is provided by the social and ethics committee and 
describes how the committee discharged its responsibilities 
for the financial year ended 29 February 2016. This report 
incorporates the requirements of section 43 of the Regulations 
of the Companies Act and will be presented to shareholders at 
the annual general meeting.

Membership
The committee consists of three members, independent 
non-executive director Chris Ewing (chairman), chief 
executive officer Jackie van Niekerk and financial 
director Aaron Suckerman. Tom Wixley was appointed to 
the committee on 10 February 2016. Abridged biographies 
of the members are published on pages 42 to 45.

The committee’s composition is in line with the requirements 
of the Companies Act, 2008 as amended, having at least one 
independent non-executive director. An inaugural meeting was 
held on 11 March 2015, which was attended by all the members.

The following meetings were held during the reporting period:

11 Mar 2015 21 Oct 2015 1 Feb 2016

Chris Ewing ✓ ✓ ✓

Aaron Suckerman ✓ ✓ ✓

Jackie van Niekerk ✓ ✓ ✓

Tom Wixley n/a n/a *

* Attended by invitation.

Purpose of the committee
The key function of the committee is to ensure that the 
company conducts its affairs as a responsible corporate 
citizen by monitoring the company’s activities in relation 
to relevant legislation, prevailing codes of best practices and 
the company’s compliance with the applicable requirements 
of Regulation 43 of the Companies Act in relation to matters 
pertaining to social and economic development, good corporate 
citizenship, environment, occupational health and public safety, 
labour and employment and the company’s code of ethics 
and sustainable business practice.

Since its establishment, the social and ethics committee’s 
work plan focused on:

 › Regulatory compliance

 › Sustainable development

 › Stakeholder management

 › Corporate social responsibility

 › Ethics and business conduct

 › Transformation

 » B-BBEE

 » Employment equity

 » Skills development

 » Enterprise development

 » Evaluation of committee performance

A self-evaluation of the performance of the committee was 
conducted by the company secretary and found that the 
committee performed well during the year. Weak areas had 
been identified and would be addressed during the current 
financial year.

Ethics and business conduct
The code of ethics and business conduct, which embodies the 
committee’s guiding principles and values, was reviewed by the 
committee and implemented during the current financial year.

Sustainability
Pivotal has established a sustainability framework which 
was approved by the board during the year. Pivotal recognises 
the necessity for embracing sustainability as a key strategy 
driver that supports ongoing stakeholder value.

Pivotal has begun identifying its material issues that 
form part of an over-arching sustainability strategy. An 
Environmental Policy is currently being reviewed to reduce 
energy consumption, investigate renewable energy and 
reduce water consumption. Pivotal has begun identifying 
properties in the portfolio where energy efficiency and 
renewable energy opportunities can be implemented.

As Pivotal is beginning its sustainability journey the 
company is still in the understanding and data collection 
phase. After Pivotal has a good baseline, the company will 
set measurable KPIs and targets to improve sustainability 
performance. In 2015 Pivotal completed its first carbon 
footprint assessment which will be used as a baseline to track 
GHG and kWh performance over time. More information on 
this can be found on pages 63 and 64 of the integrated report.

Health and safety
Pivotal is committed to providing a healthy and safe working 
environment for its employees and will continue with its 
endeavours to constantly improve in this regard.

Operational and technical managers at all sites undergo 
occupational health and safety training and an independent 
consultant performs annual evaluations per building to 
ensure all the buildings meet with the required standards.

Environment
The environmental policy, which aims to reduce the negative 
impacts of the company’s trading entities, was reviewed 
during the year and found to be appropriate.
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Transformation
Pivotal has engaged with external consultants to assist in 
the embedding of transformation throughout the company 
and will focus on the following elements of the company’s 
B-BBEE scorecard in the coming year:

 › Ownership

 › Employment equity

 › Skills development

 › Enterprise and supplier development

 › Socio-economic development

During the reporting period, a B-BBEE ownership was being 
developed for implementation during the current financial 
year. Other opportunities in terms of enterprise development 
and procurement was also being considered.

Socio-economic development
Pivotal recognises the communities in which the company 
operates and where its portfolio of properties are located 
to be a notable stakeholder group. To foster good relations 
in line with its commitment, the company, in partnership 
with Abland and Abreal, provides communal support through 
the Abcon Foundation. This foundation focuses on providing 
assistance in the areas of education, skills development and 
Impilo Foster Homes.

Communal assistance is also given throughout the year by 
the various initiatives that the company’s retail shopping 
centres support. Centre management plays an important role 
in these initiatives and furthers the company’s contributions 
to the broader community base. For further information on 
these initiatives refer to page 65 of this integrated report.

Stakeholder management
The committee agreed on a stakeholder engagement 
framework that identifies stakeholder groups and outlines 
the approach to stakeholder engagement. The framework 
outlines the guiding principles for stakeholder engagement, 
which are congruent with the values espoused in the newly 
adopted code of business conduct. Engagement occurs either 
in a structured, formal programme or informally, depending 
on the reason therefor.

Refer to page 36 for more information on stakeholder engagement.

Chris Ewing 
Chairman

30 August 2016
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We have established a sustainability framework which 
was approved by the board during the financial year. We 
recognise the necessity for embracing sustainability as a key 
strategic driver that supports ongoing stakeholder value. Our 
impact on the environment, communities and our value chain 
will continue to be evaluated for areas of improvement by 
the social and ethics committee and reviewed by the board.

Sustainability framework
Our sustainability strategy aligns with its core business 
of property investment and development, and as such, we 
focus on making a positive contribution to the environment. 
Our holistic approach towards sustainability includes the 
three pillars of sustainability (social, environmental and 
economic) where our initial strategy is to focus on our 
most material impacts.

Sustainability performance
We see environmental, social and economic sustainability 
as a fundamental part of our long-term vision and business 
strategy, and we have embarked on a journey to enhance 
performance in these areas.

The first step of our sustainability journey was to assess 
gaps in our sustainability performance. A sustainability 
gap assessment was completed in 2015. In 2016 focus was 
placed on addressing identified gaps and investigating short-, 
medium- and long-term solutions.

Social
Health and safety
Communities
Employees
B-BBEE
HIV/Aids

Policy
Renewable energy
Water efficiency
Waste efficiency

Risk and compliance
Profitability
Longevity

EconomicEnvironmental

sustainability stRateGy
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environmenTal risKs and opporTuniTies

Focus area Risk Risk level Opportunity Progress

Energy  › Electricity supply 

 › Electricity cost 

 › Tenant retention

High  › Implement SMART metering 

 › Implement a portfolio-wide 
energy management programme

 » Energy efficiency assessments 

 » Implement identified 
opportunities

 › SMART metering implemented 
across the portfolio 

 › Energy assessments currently 
underway at eight sites 

 › Energy and water awareness 
campaign aimed at employees 
and tenants underway 

Renewable 
energy

 › Electricity supply

 › Electricity cost

 › Tenant retention

High  › Implement a renewable energy 
programme

 » Renewable energy feasibility 
studies

 » Implement where feasible

 › Rooftop solar PV system being 
installed at Wonderboom 
Junction and Cradlestone Mall

 › Additional feasibility assessments 
completed and sites identified for 
next phase of rollout 

Water  › Water supply

 › Water quality

Medium  › Implement a portfolio-wide 
water management programme

 » Water efficiency assessments

 » Implement identified 
opportunities

 › Energy and water awareness 
campaign underway 

 › Investigating implementing 
water management plan

Waste  › Compliance

 › Corporate brand

Medium  › Implement a portfolio-wide 
waste management programme

 › Brand enhancement

 › Investigating implementing 
waste management plan

Carbon 
emissions

 › Compliance Low  › Assess Pivotal’s carbon 
footprint annually 

 › Brand enhancement

 › Two carbon footprint 
assessments completed 
including building 
benchmarking 

energy assessmenTs

Name Location Sector Progress

Fairways Office Park Gauteng Commercial In progress 

Gateway Corner Gauteng Retail In progress 

Hillcrest Boulevard Shopping Centre Gauteng Retail In progress 

Hillcrest Office Park Gauteng Commercial In progress 

Centurion Lifestyle Centre Gauteng Retail In progress 

Ballyoaks Office Park Gauteng Commercial In progress 

Hazeldean Square Gauteng Retail In progress 

Wonderboom Junction Gauteng Retail Completed 
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Environmental
Through our Environmental Policy, we committed to enhance 
our environmental sustainability performance. The policy 
includes commitments to improve the urban environment 
through understanding key impacts (energy, water, waste, air 
and biodiversity), as well as the potential direct and indirect 
impacts of climate change. The implementation of the policy 
aims to reduce our climate change impact by capitalising on 
the tangible opportunities.

We identified the following risks and opportunities in 
relations to our material impacts (see table on page 61).

Energy and 
renewable energy
We have appointed an external turnkey energy engineering 
solution provider to conduct energy efficiency assessments 
and renewable energy feasibility studies on flagship 
properties in the portfolio. Where practically feasible, all 
new developments will be designed and built to make use 
of renewable energy as well as ensuring that properties are 
compliant with the SANS204 electricity usage guidelines.

In 2016 we continued to undertake energy efficiency and 
renewable energy assessments and began implementing 
projects at feasible sites. The aim is to reduce electricity 
consumption and maximise self-consumption, with the intention 
of rolling out these opportunities across the portfolio.

We began with energy assessments at eight properties (see 
table on page 61).

We have identified solar photovoltaic (“PV”) power 
generation as an additional long-term revenue stream with 
high annual growth as this revenue stream increases at the 
same rate as the electricity tariff increases.

We have undertaken eight solar PV feasibility assessments 
for key retail properties in the portfolio. The first pilot solar 
PV project is currently being built at Wonderboom Junction 
Phase 1 where a 1 152kW peak system is being installed. 
Wonderboom Junction Phase 2 will be considered in the future.

Wonderboom Junction Phase 1 predicted annual performance:

1 847 788 kWh electricity (annual)

1 528 828 First year energy savings (R)

378 078 First year demand savings (R)

1 866 tCO₂e (annual)

Towards the end of the financial year construction of a 1 023kW 
peak solar PV system at Cradlestone Mall commenced.

Cradlestone Mall’s predicted annual performance:

1 790 250 kWh electricity (annual)

1 808 tCO₂e (annual)

Where feasible, we will roll out solar PV plants on property 
rooftops of current and new developments, therefore, decreasing 
our risk of rising energy costs and supply inconsistencies, 
which is currently a high risk in South Africa.

To further determine our impact on the environment, 
we installed SMART metering solutions across the portfolio. 
SMART metering allows us to track energy consumption 
over time, and to highlight inefficiencies and wasted energy 
to further reduce consumption and visualise the savings 
gained through the energy management programme. Visually 
displaying savings will allow us to set realistic and attainable 
energy reduction targets, therefore showing savings, costs 
and providing value to stakeholders.

Water
The El Niño driven drought in South Africa has brought water 
to the attention of residents and organisations operating 
in the region. The drought has led to water rationing in the 
Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal provinces.

Over 90% of our portfolio is based in Gauteng, a potential 
water rationing province. We have identified water supply 
and quality as a risk to the company. We have installed water 
meters at key sites throughout the portfolio. Measuring 
water consumption is the first step in the process of water 
management. We will continue to track water consumption and 
analyse the information to determine which key properties 
should embark on a water efficiency programme in order 
to reduce water consumption. A comprehensive water 
management programme is being considered for properties 
in the portfolio.

Energy and water awareness 
and communication
We are undertaking an energy and water awareness and 
training programme as a method to further embed energy 
and water efficiency throughout the portfolio. The aim of the 
programme is to increase environmental awareness, enhance 
internal skills, as well as promote behaviour change.

The campaign aims to increase awareness via energy and 
water efficiency promotional messages internally (employees) 
and externally (tenants). The initial phase of the project will 
disseminate awareness material over a 12-month period.
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Waste
Reducing disposal of waste to landfill is a way in which we 
reduce our direct impact on the environment. We measure 
the volume of waste produced on a monthly basis, and 
continuously strive to reduce this figure. All properties 
in the portfolio follow a waste plan focused on ensuring 
all recyclable waste is recycled.

In 2016, 1 603 tonnes (based on available data) of waste was 
recycled through initiatives at our properties. Noteworthy 
properties are shown in the table below.

Recycling initiatives have been identified as a key opportunity 
to enhance our brand and show tenants that we are committed 
to reducing our environmental impact. A comprehensive waste 
management programme is being considered for properties in 
the portfolio.

Carbon emissions
Our second carbon footprint emissions were calculated 
107 570 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent. Compared to 
2015, our carbon footprint increased by 28% (23 291 tCO₂e), 
this is mainly due to:

 › In 2015, 14 of the acquired properties were only included 
in the portfolio for six months. In 2016, these properties 
were included for the full 12 months.

 › Four properties were acquired and no properties 
were disposed.

 › The size of the portfolio (total rentable area m2) increased 
by 7%.

 › In 2016, number of employees increased by 47%.

wasTe recycled (noTeworThy properTies)

Name Location Sector Tonnes waste recycled

Centurion Lifestyle Centre Gauteng Retail 132 tonnes

Cradlestone Mall Gauteng Retail 268 tonnes

Gateway Corner Gauteng Retail 162 tonnes

Goldfields Mall Free State Retail 475 tonnes

Wonderboom Junction Gauteng Retail 205 tonnes

carbon fooTprinT

Emission source FY2015 (tCO2e) FY2016 (tCO2e)

Stationary combustion 252 279

Fugitive emissions 801 874

Scope 1 1 053 1 153

Electricity (Pivotal) 2 626 * 5 084

Scope 2 2 704 5 084

Electricity (tenants) 80 468 * 101 251

Business travel 4.14 24

Employee commute 28 24

Recycled waste 22 * 34

Scope 3 79 642 101 333

Total carbon footprint 83 399 107 570 

Non-Kyoto gases 450 260

*  FY2015 electricity data was recalculated for 22 Bree Street due to data discrepancies.

*  FY2015 recycled waste was recalculated for the three Hillcrest Office Park buildings due to data discrepancies.

pivotal integrated report 201664

Sustainability report
continued



Communities
Our commitment to the communities the portfolio affects 
extends beyond providing a safe and comfortable environment 
for its tenants. As detailed in the board charter, we shall:

 › Promote fair and equitable employment practices, 
including broad-based black economic empowerment

 › Be sensitive and conscious to gender interests and concerns

 › Promote and be sensitive to the preservation and 
protection of the natural environment

 › Promote and protect the rights of vulnerable groups

 › Enhance and promote the rights and participation of 
communities it serves

We strive to contribute positively to the communities in which 
properties are located. Pivotal aims to create and maintain 
clean and safe surroundings by monitoring security and crime 
levels. To further assist the communities in which we operate, 
we endeavour to, as far as possible, provide local employment 
opportunities at all new property development sites.

We have identified our retail centres as an opportunity 
to engage with the surrounding community and promote 
charitable initiatives. Retail centre initiatives are included in 
the table on page 67.

Pivotal, as part of the Abcon Group, provides communal 
support to communities through the Abcon Group Foundation. 
The Abcon Group Foundation, in partnership with Impilo 
Foster Homes for Aids Orphans NPC, have embarked on 
the Impilo Village — Timsrand project.

The Impilo Foster Homes NPC will house Aids orphans, foster 
parents and some of the professional staff and volunteers. 
The village will also have a school, health care centre, sports 
and recreation centre and skills development centre. The 
village will include a number of sustainability initiatives 
aimed at lower its operational expenses.

The sustainability initiatives include:

 › Solar panels for power generation, and solar geysers for 
hot water

 › LED lighting and insulation for energy efficiency

 › Bulk gas for cooking requirements throughout the village

 › Water supply from own boreholes

 › Rain and storm water catchment used for flushing toilets 
and irrigation

 › Package sewerage treatment plant used for irrigation

 › Vegetable garden for consumption and sustainability 
farming included in the school’s curriculum

 › Composing and recycling of plant material

 › User friendly recycling infrastructure and systems

With the roll-out of energy efficiency initiatives and rooftop solar 
PV systems at various sites in the portfolio, we can expect our 
carbon footprint (tCO₂e/m2) emission to decrease in the future.

We are in the process of setting environmental performance 
targets (energy, carbon emissions, water and waste). Emission 
reduction targets will be in-line with energy management 
targets and objectives. We will calculate our carbon 
footprint annually to track emissions over time and highlight 
performance against targets. We aim to get future iterations 
of the carbon footprint verified by an independent third party.

Green buildings
Abland property developers have registered and certified a 
number of green buildings. The green buildings which have 
received certification that fall our portfolio are Alice Lane 
Building 1, Alice Lane Building 2, Monte Circle Building A 
and Nedbank Lakeview. All buildings have received a 4-Star 
Green Star Rating (Green Star SA — Office v1) from the Green 
Building Council of South Africa.

Social

Employees
We are committed to providing a healthy and safe working 
place for all employees. We held a wellness week which was 
well attended. During wellness week the following services 
were offered to employees:

Wellness week Dietician

Biokineticist

Optometrist

Discovery vitality checks

Voluntary HIV/Aids testing *

*  HIV/Aids testing is governed by our HIV/Aids Policy which 
acknowledges the right to confidentiality and non-discrimination.

A nurse regularly visits our offices to administer B12 and 
Neurobion injections, and flu vaccinations for employees 
during high risk seasons. To promote healthy activity levels, 
employees are encouraged to make use of walking and 
running routes on Fridays after 15:00. Furthermore, Pivotal 
paid for the participation in two races: J.P. Morgan Corporate 
Challenge and Neon Run.

Operational and technical managers at all sites undergo 
occupational health and safety training and an independent 
consultant performs annual evaluations per building to 
ensure all the buildings meet required standards.

We are committed to providing a healthy and safe working 
environment for employees and will continue with endeavours 
to constantly improve in this regard.
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Health and safety

B-BBEE and 
transformation
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Communities

Charitable initiatives

Integration

Local employment

Employees

ShareholdersCommunities

Tenants

FinanciersSuppliers

Government
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reTail cenTre iniTiaTives

Property name Spending Initiatives 

Goldfields Mall R171 568  › Talent competition promoting youth development

 › Pensioners breakfast

 › Children’s treasure hunt raising money to purchase supplies to make keyrings to raise 
money for CANSA

 › R10 000 prize donated for best decorated Christmas tree by Amari school, SPCA, 
Claws, Huis Maanblom and Restoring Hope

 › Charity gift wrapping station

Wonderboom 
Junction 

R88 377  › Community initiatives, including Pink Drive’s Bobbies Marathon, SANBS 
blood drive and CANSA Shavathon

 › Heritage day braai day for Alma School, a school for children with mental and 
physical disabilities

Cradlestone Mall R46 049  › A number of ‘Discover’ initiatives including, Discover every drop counts (water 
awareness), Discover the conservation of South African birds, Discover World 
Elephant Day, Discover Hangers for Hope (67 meters for Madiba)

 › Other ‘Discover’ initiatives took place for the Kitty and Puppy Haven, the Educare 
Foundation and Operation Hydrate

Centurion Lifestyle 
Centre 

R82 370  › CANSA Shavathon

 › SPCA Dog Food Bins in Pick n Pay where 721 bags of food were collected and donated, 
and a SPCA trolley dash

Stakeholders
The table below outlines a summary of our key stakeholders, their primary concerns and how we interact with the stakeholders.

sTaKeholder communicaTion channels

Stakeholder Stakeholder concerns Communication channel

Tenants  › Appropriate property type and location 

 › Occupational costs 

 › Response to problems and requests 

 › Well-serviced, maintained and secured premises 

 › Complementary tenant mix

 › Meetings with external property management 

 › Monthly statements and written communications

Financiers  › Interest and capital repayments

 › Loan covenants

 › Appropriateness and extent of security provided

 › Proper asset and tenant management, including 
strength and duration of leases

 › Regular covenant reporting

 › Ad hoc requests and discussions 

 › Availability of senior management

 › Integrated report

 › Site visits

Shareholders  › NAV per share 

 › Value of underlying properties

 › Distributions

 › Accuracy of forecasted results

 › Belief in and communication with management

 › Integrated report

 › Newsletters

 › Website

 › Direct communication with management

Communities  › Clean, safe and appealing properties

 › Corporate social responsibility initiatives

 › Appropriateness of tenants

 › Various community forums and associations

 › Website

 › Newsletters

Suppliers and 
service providers

 › Fair service-level agreements and trading terms

 › Timely payments

 › Continuing relationships

 › Direct communication with asset and property 
managers

 › Access to senior management

Government  › Compliance with regulations and laws

 › Timely payment of rates and taxes

 › Various tax returns and statutory returns/filings
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The Pivotal board and its remuneration and nominations 
committee (“the committee”) present their remuneration 
report setting out information applicable to the company’s 
remuneration policy, executive remuneration (both guaranteed 
and variable) and non-executive directors’ fees. The information 
provided in this report has been approved by the board on the 
recommendation of the committee.

Remuneration and 
nominations committee
During the reporting period, Marc Wainer resigned as a director 
and member of the committee on 10 December 2015. With 
the appointment of Saki Macozoma as chairman of the board, 
effective 20 May 2016, Tom Wixley was appointed as chairman 
of the committee and Dave Savage as a non-executive member 
of the committee. Saki Macozoma will oversee the nomination 
responsibilities of the committee. The committee therefore 
comprises four directors, being Tom Wixley (chairman), Dave 
Savage, Thando Sishuba and Saki Macozoma all of whom 
are non-executive directors. The chief executive officer and 
financial director attend the meetings by invitation. Abridged 
curricula vitae of the members are published on pages 42 to 
45 of the integrated report.

The committee operates under formal terms of reference 
in terms of which it is required to meet at least twice a year 
in order to fulfil the functions assigned to it. The terms of 
reference were reviewed by the board and a work plan was 
executed by the committee to ensure that all responsibilities 
will be dealt with on an annual basis.

During the year under review the following meetings were held:

15 Oct 2015 2 Feb 2016 3 May 2016

Marc Wainer X n/a n/a

Tom Wixley ✓ ✓ ✓

Thando Sishuba ✓ ✓ ✓

Dave Savage n/a n/a ✓

X  Absent with apology.

n/a Not yet appointed or has resigned.

The committee has the authority to consider and make 
recommendations to the board on Pivotal’s remuneration 
policy, the payment of performance bonuses, executive 
remuneration, short- and long-term incentive schemes 
as well as employee retention schemes.

Nominations responsibilities
Directors are appointed through a formal process in line with 
the board policy and the committee assists with the process. 
During the process of selecting candidates for appointment 
to the board, the committee screens all candidates, ensuring 
that they are fit and proper to act as directors, making 

recommendations on appointments to the board having due 
regard to the issues of diversity and the appropriate balance 
of executive, non-executive and independent directors.

The committee also ensures that the candidates are free of 
any conflict of interest between the duties that they owe the 
company and their private interest. It is imperative that the 
committee ensures that the candidates to be appointed as 
non-executive directors have sufficient time to effectively 
fulfil their role as board member. The committee makes 
recommendations to the chairman of the board on candidates 
it considers appropriate supported with a report confirming 
the above.

The committee is responsible for reviewing Pivotal’s board 
and committee structures, the size and composition of 
the various committees within the company and to make 
recommendations in respect of these matters as well as to 
ensure an appropriate split between executive, non-executive 
and independent directors. The committee ensures that 
succession plans are in place for the board as a whole.

Performance evaluation 
of the committee
This committee also oversees the induction and training of 
directors and conducts annual performance reviews of the 
board and the various board committees. A self-evaluation 
was held during the year and found that the committee 
functions satisfactory. Areas for improvement were identified 
and will be focused on during the current financial year.

Remuneration philosophy
Pivotal’s remuneration strategy aims to attract and retain 
high-calibre individuals and to incentivise contribution to value 
creation for the company and implement the company’s 
business strategy in order to optimise the creation of 
shareholder value in the long-term. Employees’ remuneration 
should encourage good performance, sound behaviour and 
risk-taking that is aligned with the company’s risk appetite.

The policy conforms to King III and is based on the 
following principles:

 › Remuneration practices are aligned with corporate strategy.

 › Total rewards are set at levels that are competitive 
within the relevant market.

 › Incentive-based rewards are earned through the 
achievement of demanding performance conditions 
consistent with shareholder interests over the short, 
medium and long term.

 › Incentive plans, performance measures and targets 
are structured to operate effectively throughout the 
business cycle.

 › The design of long-term incentives is prudent and does 
not expose shareholders to unreasonable financial risk.
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The company’s main remuneration principles are:

 › to attract, retain and motivate key and talented people;

 › to compete in the marketplace with the intention of being 
a preferred employer;

 › to reward individual and business performance and 
encourage superior performance.

Elements of remuneration
Pivotal’s remuneration structure comprises the following:

 › Guaranteed packages;

 › Short-term incentives; and

 › Long-term incentives.

Guaranteed packages
The total guaranteed package (“TGP”) includes a basic salary 
and benefits that typically accrue monthly.

The company aims to position guaranteed remuneration 
at the median of the market, with superior performance at 
stretch levels enabling management, including executives, 
to achieve remuneration levels in excess of median levels, 
where truly deserved.

The committee uses external market surveys and benchmarks 
to determine executive directors’ remuneration and benefits 
as well as non-executive directors’ base fees and attendance 
fees. Part of Pivotal’s remuneration philosophy is to structure 
packages in such a way that long- and short-term incentives 
are aimed at achieving business objectives and the delivery 
of shareholder value.

shorT-Term incenTives (“sTis”)

Purpose To encourage and reward delivery of the company’s strategic priorities. To help ensure, through the 
share-based elements, that any resulting performance is sustained over the longer term, in line with 
shareholder interests. 

Company 
performance 
modifier

Achievement against the following performance conditions will be combined to result in the company 
performance modifier:

 › Income growth (50% weighting)

 › NAV per share growth (50% weighting)

Targets Income

NAV
per share
growth %

Resulting %
(executive

directors)
Resulting %
(other staff)

Threshold 5 10 50 50

Target 7 15 100 100

Stretch 12 20 150 200

The company performance modifier will thus be calculated as follows:

(Income growth resulting % x 50%) + (NAV/share growth resulting % x 50%)

Individual 
performance 
modifier 

The individual performance modifier will be determined according to the performance management 
outcome, as set out below:

Executive directors/other staff

Performance 
management outcome

Performance 
modifier %

Performance 
level

5 150 Exceptional

4 125 Exceeding

3 100 Good

2 50 Improving

1 0 Poor

Maximum STI 
as a % of TGP

The maximum percentage of TGP for each level of staff which can be received as an STI payment is 
detailed in the table below:

Executive directors 50% Senior management 40%

Executive management 50% Other key talent 20%

Timing of 
STI payments

STI payments are made approximately three months after the financial year-end 
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long-Term incenTives (“lTis”)

Conditional Share Plan (“CSP”) and Share Appreciation Rights Plan (“SAR Plan”)

Purpose The CSP and SAR Plan reward superior performance and align the interests of participants more closely 
with those of shareholders. The performance conditions for both plans have been selected to ensure that 
the creation of long-term value is rewarded, and to align with the strategic objectives of the company.

Participants Executive directors, executive management, senior management and other key talent.

Operation Participants receive a mix of Conditional Shares and Share Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) that vest after 
three years, subject to the satisfaction of company performance conditions over a three-year performance 
period, and continued employment over a three-year period.

Performance period 
and exercise period

The performance conditions are measured over a three-year performance period, commensurate with the 
financial year of the company. The SARs are exercisable up to a maximum of five years after award date.

The SAR and CSP is paid in shares and not cash.

At year-end shareholdings
The directors’ shareholding at 29 February 2016 is discussed 
in the directors’ report commencing on page 81 of this 
integrated report.

Directors’ service contracts
There are no fixed-term service contracts for executive or 
non-executive directors.

Executive remuneration
The remuneration paid to executive directors in 2016 is 
discussed in note 29.2 commencing on page 139 in the 
company’s annual financial statements.

Non-executive directors’ fees
The committee undertakes governance of directors’ remuneration. 
The remuneration of the non-executive directors is approved 
at least every year by a special resolution at Pivotal’s annual 
general meeting in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act. 
The annual fee comprises an annual retainer fee and in certain 
instances for work provided out of the normal scope of a 
non-executive director.

The remuneration and executive committees recommend 
fees payable to the non-executive directors for approval by 
the shareholders. Fees are approved for an annual period 
from the annual general meeting to the next annual general 
meeting. The annual fees payable to non-executive directors 
will be recommended to shareholders at the annual general 
meeting and included in the notice of annual general meeting 
on page 146.

Tom Wixley 
Remuneration and nominations committee chairman

30 August 2016

pivotal integrated report 201672

Remuneration report
continued



The audit and risk committee operates under a formal 
mandate that has been approved by the board and has 
conducted its affairs in compliance and discharged its 
responsibilities as stipulated in the committee terms of 
reference. The audit and risk committee terms of reference 
are available on request.

Due to the size of the company, the board made a decision 
to combine the audit and risk committees and attend to both 
audit and risk responsibilities in one committee.

Audit and risk 
committee members
The committee consists of three non-executive directors, 
all of whom are independent. The members of the committee 
are Tony Dixon (chairman), Chris Ewing and Tom Wixley. The 
committee’s composition is in line with the requirements 
of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 as amended (“the 
Companies Act”), the JSE Listings Requirements and King III, 
having three independent non-executive directors.

The chief executive officer, financial director, internal auditor, 
other assurance providers and the external auditors attend 
all committee meetings.

During the period under review, the following meetings were 
held and the attendance of the meetings was as follows:

Member
6 May 
2015

5 Aug 
2015

26 Oct
2015

10 Feb 
2016

Tony Dixon (chairman) ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Chris Ewing ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Tom Wixley ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Roles and responsibilities
The committee’s roles and responsibilities include its statutory 
duties as defined in the Companies Act and the responsibilities 
assigned to it by the board. The committee reports to both the 
board and shareholders.

External auditor
During the year under review, the committee undertook the 
following activities:

 › Nominated Grant Thornton as the external auditor, with 
Mr Paul Badrick as the designated auditor to the shareholders 
for appointment as auditor for the financial year ended 
29 February 2016 and ensured that the appointment 
complied with all legal and regulatory requirements for 
the appointment of an auditor.

 ›  Confirmed that the auditor and the designated auditor are 
accredited by the JSE.

 › Approved the external audit engagement letter, the plan 
and the budgeted audit fees payable to the external auditor.

 › Reviewed the effectiveness of the audit and evaluated the 
effectiveness of the auditor.

 › Obtained a statement from the auditor confirming that its 
independence was not impaired.

 › Determined the nature and extent of all non-audit services 
provided by the external auditor and pre-approved all 
non-audit services undertaken.

 › Obtained assurances from the external auditor that 
adequate accounting records were being maintained.

 › Confirmed that no reportable irregularities had been 
identified nor reported by the auditors under the 
Auditing Profession Act.

 › Nominated the external auditor and the designated 
independent auditor for each of the subsidiary companies 
for the financial year ended 29 February 2016.

Internal control 
and internal audit
During the year the committee:

 › Reviewed and approved the annual internal audit plan 
and evaluated the independence, effectiveness and 
performance of the internal auditor.

 › Considered the reports of the internal and external 
auditors of the group‘s systems of internal control, 
including financial controls, business risk management 
and maintenance of effective internal control systems.

 › Reviewed assurance that proper accounting records were 
maintained and that the systems safeguard the group’s 
assets against unauthorised use or disposal.

 › Reviewed issues raised by internal audit and the adequacy 
of corrective action taken by management in response.

 › Assessed the adequacy of the performance of the internal 
audit function and confirmed it satisfactory.
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Financial statements
During the year the committee:

 › confirmed, based on managements’ review, that the 
interim and annual financial statements were drawn 
up on the going-concern basis;

 › examined the published interim and annual financial 
statements and other financial information, prior to 
the board’s approval;

 › considered the accounting treatment of significant or 
unusual transactions and accounting judgments by 
management;

 › considered the appropriateness of accounting policies 
and any changes made;

 › reviewed the audit report on the annual financial 
statements;

 › reviewed the representation letter relating to the annual 
financial statements signed by management;

 › considered any weaknesses identified as well as any 
legal and tax matters that could materially affect the 
financial statements;

 › met separately with management, the external auditor 
and internal auditor; and

 › concluded that the annual financial statements fairly 
present the financial position of the group and company at 
the end of the financial year and the results of operations 
and cash flow for the financial year.

Having reviewed the audited annual financial statements of 
the group, which are electronically available on the group’s 
website at www.pivotalfund.co.za, particularly to ensure that 
disclosure was adequate and that fair presentation had been 
achieved, the committee has recommended the approval of 
the annual financial statements to the board.

Financial director 
and finance function
As required by the JSE Listings Requirements 3.84(h), the 
committee has:

 › considered the experience and expertise of the financial 
director, Aaron Suckerman, ACCA(UK), and concluded that 
these were satisfactory; and

 › considered the expertise, resources and experience of the 
finance function and concluded that these were appropriate.

Legal, regulatory and 
corporate governance 
requirements
During the year under review, the committee:

 › reviewed with management all legal matters that could 
have a material impact on the group;

 › monitored complaints received via the group’s ethics line 
or otherwise;

 › considered reports provided by management, internal 
audit and the external auditor regarding compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements; and

 › will consider the JSE’s letter dated 15 February 2016 
in respect of the report on its proactive monitoring 
process at its next meeting due to be held on or about 
8 September 2016.

We have constituted additional terms of reference for the 
board from a governance perspective for the audit and risk 
committee — which reports to the board on a quarterly basis 
on any changes in the risks in the respective countries where 
we operate.

Risk management and IT
During the year under review the committee:

 › reviewed and approved the group’s risk management plan, 
defining Pivotal’s risk management methodology;

 › reviewed quarterly risk reports containing pertinent 
risks and opportunities aligned to the group’s vision and 
mission, emerging events and reportable incidents;

 › reviewed the group’s policies on the risk assessment and 
risk management, including fraud risks and information 
technology and found them to be sound;

 › received an assurance report of management’s assessment 
of the effectiveness of the group’s system of internal 
control over financial reporting from the external auditors, 
Grant Thornton; and

 › established an IT steering committee that provided 
feedback at meetings and ensured that recommendations 
were appropriately actioned.
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Sustainability
During the year under review the committee:

 › reviewed the sustainability report included in the group’s 
integrated report and satisfied itself that it is consistent 
with the annual financial statements; and

 › considered the desirability of obtaining external assurance 
regarding the sustainability review and recommended 
to the board that it would serve no useful purpose at 
this time in view of the developing nature of the group’s 
sustainability information systems.

Committee evaluation
The company secretary conducted a self-evaluation exercise 
of the committee’s performance, mix of skills and individual 
contributions of members, its achievements in terms of its 
mandate from the board. The results were reviewed by the 
committee, which was satisfied with the overall assessment.

Subsequent events
Except for matters disclosed in note 31 to the annual 
financial statements, there have been no material changes 
in the affairs or financial position of the company and its 
subsidiaries since the end of the period under review.

Election of committee at 
annual general meeting
Pursuant to the provisions of section 94(2) of the Companies 
Act, which requires that a public company must elect an 
audit and risk committee at each annual general meeting, 
it is proposed in the notice of annual general meeting to be 
held on 31 October 2016 that Tony Dixon, Chris Ewing and 
Tom Wixley be re-appointed as members of the audit and 
risk committee until the next annual general meeting in 2017.

Recommendation of the 
integrated report for 
approval by the board
The annual financial statements were approved by the 
board on 24 May 2016 and the committee recommended 
the integrated report for approval by the board on 
30 August 2016.

Tony Dixon 
Audit and risk committee chairman

24 May 2016
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In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, as amended (“Companies Act”), I certify that for the year 
ended 29 February 2016, The Pivotal Fund Limited has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all 
such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Act, and that all such returns appear to be true, correct and 
up to date.

JUBA Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd 
Represented by Sirkien van Schalkwyk

Company secretary 
24 May 2016
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The directors are required by the Companies Act, to maintain 
adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 
content and integrity of the annual financial statements and 
related financial information included in this report. It is their 
responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the company as at the 
end of the financial year and the results of its operations 
and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
The external auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with IFRS and are based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the company and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the 
board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk or error or loss in a cost effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities 
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure 
an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the company and all employees are required 
to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the 
company’s business in conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of 
risk management in the company is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the 
company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, 
the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 
procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the 
financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. However, any system of internal 
financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company’s cash flow 
forecast for the year to 28 February 2017 and, in the light 
of this review and the current financial position, they are 
satisfied that the company has or has access to adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the 
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with 
the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial 
statements have been examined by the company’s external 
auditors and their report is presented on page 80.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 85 to 142, 
which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were 
approved by the board on 24 May 2016 and are signed on 
their behalf.

Tom Wixley 
Chairman

Jackie van Niekerk 
Chief executive officer

24 May 2016 
Bryanston
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To the shareholders of 
The Pivotal Fund Limited
We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of The Pivotal Fund Limited set out on pages 85 to 142, 
which comprise the statements of financial position as at 
29 February 2016, and the statements of comprehensive 
income, statements of changes in equity and statements 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility 
for the financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of The Pivotal Fund Limited as at 29 February 2016, and its 
consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required 
by the Companies Act
As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended 29 February 2016, we have read the directors’ 
report, audit committee’s report and company secretary’s 
certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are 
material inconsistencies between this report and the audited 
consolidated financial statements. The directors’ report is the 
responsibility of the directors. Based on reading the directors’ 
report we have not identified material inconsistencies between 
this report and the audited consolidated financial statements. 
However, we have not audited the directors’ report and 
accordingly do not express an opinion thereon.

Report on other legal and 
regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 
39475 dated 04 December 2015, we report that Grant Thornton 
Johannesburg Partnership has been the auditor of The 
Pivotal Fund Limited for three years.

GRANT THORNTON JOHANNESBURG PARTNERSHIP 
Registered Auditors

P Badrick 
Partner 
Chartered Accountant (SA) 
Registered Auditor

24 May 2016

@Grant Thornton 
Wanderers Office Park 
52 Corlett Drive 
Illovo, 2196
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their integrated 
report for the year ended 29 February 2016.

Nature of business
The Pivotal Fund Limited (“Pivotal” or “the company” or 
“the group”) carries on the business of property holding 
and property development through the ownership of:

 › directly held investment properties and strategic land 
for development; and

 › subsidiaries with directly held investment properties

Pivotal focuses on creating sustainable value for its investors 
by achieving growth in the capital value of its portfolio through 
its extensive development pipeline and active management of 
its existing portfolio of A-grade properties.

The group operates predominantly in South Africa and holds 
an investment in Nigeria as well as listed shares in Mara Delta, 
a Pan-African real estate fund.

The operating results and state of affairs of the company are 
fully set out in the attached group annual financial statements.

Given the nature of its business Pivotal uses net asset value 
per share (“NAVPS”) as its key performance measure as 
it is considered a more relevant performance measure 
than earnings or headline earnings per share. As the key 
performance indicator for the group is growth in NAVPS 
after adjusting for the effects of deferred tax, the NAVPS 
for the year ended 29 February 2016 was R22.80 which 
represents an increase of 23.91% in comparison to the 
NAVPS for the previous corresponding year ending 
28 February 2015 of R18.40.

Net profit of the group was R1.067 billion (2015: R499 million), 
including other comprehensive income of R234 million (2015: 
nil) and after taxation of R312 million (2015: R123 million). 
The majority of the tax charge is deferred tax on the 
revaluation of the properties and construction wear and 
tear allowances claimed.

Events after 
the reporting period

Mara Delta
Subsequent to 29 February 2016 Pivotal subscribed for 
an additional 8.8 million Mara Delta shares. In addition, 
the disposal of Buffalo Mall Naivasha by Pivotal to Mara 
Delta was approved by Mara Delta shareholders and Pivotal’s 
consideration of 1.7 million Mara Delta shares have been 
issued. Pivotal now holds approximately 12.5 million 
Mara Delta shares representing a 12.9% shareholding 
in Mara Delta.

Poland
On 13 May 2016 Pivotal entered into a share sale agreement 
and a co-investors agreement with Redefine Properties Limited 
which will result in Pivotal acquiring approximately 6.06% 
of Echo Polska Properties B.V. (“EPP”) for a consideration of 
€31.07 million. EPP owns a €1.18 billion portfolio of prime 
shopping centres and offices across Poland.

Galleria
On 16 March 2016 Pivotal acquired and took transfer of a 
20% undivided share in the development property known as 
“Galleria” for a purchase consideration of R100 million. Set in the 
heart of Rosebank, Galleria will be a mixed use development of 
about 80 000m2 incorporating offices, retail, a hotel, serviced 
apartments and residential apartments.

Authorised and 
issued share capital
There were no changes to the authorised share capital during 
the current year. At 28 February 2015 the issued share 
capital of the company was 298 924 167 (two hundred and 
ninety eight million nine hundred and twenty four thousand 
one hundred and sixty seven) ordinary shares of no par 
value, and 1 128 954 A series preference shares and 
195 107 B series preference shares.
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direcTors of The company

Name Designation Appointment Resigned/deceased *

SJ Makozoma Independent non-executive chairman 20 May 2016

TA Wixley Independent non-executive 5 Sep 2014

AD Dixon Independent non-executive 5 Sep 2014

A Suckerman Executive 6 June 2014

CH Ewing Independent non-executive 5 Sep 2014

DS Savage Non-executive 29 Aug 2005

JA Mackay Non-executive 30 Aug 2013 3 Jun 2015 *

JR van Niekerk Executive 6 Dec 2013

MSB Neser Non-executive 29 Aug 2005

M Wainer Independent non-executive 30 Aug 2013 10 Dec 2015

TS Sishuba Independent non-executive 30 Aug 2012

S Shaw-Taylor Non-executive 29 Aug 2005

During the year ended 29 February 2016, there was a net 
share movement of 29 645 944 shares as detailed below:

1.  31 578 948 shares in respect of a capital raise on 
7 October 2015 set out as follows:

 › 1 604 832 shares in respect of a general issue of shares 
for cash at R19.00 per share

 › 29 974 116 shares in respect of a vendor consideration 
at R19.00 per share.

2. (2 750 000) shares in respect of a share repurchase;

3.  816 996 shares in respect of property acquisitions on 
15 May 2015.

During the year ended 29 February 2016, there was 
a net preference share reduction of 209 054 shares 
as detailed below:

1. 919 000 B series preference shares were issued;

2. (1 128 054) A series preference shares were cancelled.

At 29 February 2016 the issued share capital of the company 
was 328 570 111 (three hundred and twenty-eight million 
five hundred and seventy thousand one hundred and eleven) 
ordinary shares of no par value, 900 A series preference 
shares and 1 114 107 B series preference shares.

There are 890 340 treasury shares in the group which are 
held by Portion 113 Weltevreden (Pty) Ltd.

Investment property
Total property portfolio increased to R12.47 billion (2015: 
R9.2 billion) comprising of investment in direct property of 
R11.27 billion (2015: R9.2 billion) and indirect property of 
R1.2 billion (2015: Nil).

The increase to investment properties is as a result of:

1. R0.52 billion of direct property acquisitions;

2. R0.61 billion of indirect property acquisitions;

3.  R1.15 billion through fair value adjustments and currency 
revaluations;

4.  R1.99 billion spent on properties under development and 
capital expenditure.

Dividends
There were no dividends declared during the year. (2015: Nil)

Directors
The directors of the company during the year and to the date 
of this report are as per the table below.

Directors’ emoluments
The total emoluments paid to the directors during the year 
was R6 365 122 (2015: R3 086 307).

Refer to note 29.2 of the financial statements for detailed 
disclosure on directors’ emoluments.

Directors’ interest in 
Pivotal shares
Refer to note 29.2 of the financial statements for detailed 
disclosure on directors’ possible future dated interest in shares.
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direcTors’ inTeresT in pivoTal shares
29 February 2016

Directors Directly Indirectly Associate Total 

TA Wixley  5 882  —  —  5 882 

AD Dixon  12 000  —  —  12 000 

A Suckerman  76 036  77 170  —  153 206 

CH Ewing  —  —  —  — 

DS Savage  —  —  14 622  14 622 

JA Mackay *  —  2 829 323  —  2 829 323 

JR van Niekerk  126 577  321 543  11 177  459 297 

MSB Neser  —  —  92 937  124 413 

M Wainer **  —  2 678 160  —  2 678 160 

TS Sishuba  195 882  —  —  195 882 

S Shaw-Taylor  —  —  —  — 

Total  416 377  5 906 196  118 736  6 472 785 

28 February 2015

Directors Directly Indirectly Associate Total 

TA Wixley  5 882  —  —  5 882 

AD Dixon  —  —  —  — 

A Suckerman  18 295  77 170  —  95 465 

CH Ewing  —  —  —  — 

DS Savage  —  —  14 622  14 622 

JA Mackay *  —  2 829 323  —  2 829 323 

JR van Niekerk  32 768  321 543  11 177  365 488 

MSB Neser  —  —  261 937  261 937 

M Wainer **  —  2 678 160  —  2 678 160 

TS Sishuba  195 882  —  —  195 882 

S Shaw-Taylor  —  —  —  — 

Total  252 827  5 906 196  287 736  6 446 759 

JA Mackay * 2 829 323 shares were indirectly held during the year.

M Wainer ** 2 678 160 shares were indirectly held at date of resignation.

There have been no changes to the directors’ interests in Pivotal shares between 29 February 2016 and the approval of the financial statements on 
24 May 2016.
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TrusTs of which direcTors of The company are discreTionary beneficiaries
29 February 2016

Directors % No. of shares Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 0.79 2 607 302 Abcon Incentive Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 2.10 6 902 982 Bracken Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 12.87 42 302 361 Bracken Trust, Corob Trust and Fern Trust have sinking fund 
policies (endowment policies) with Momentum Group Limited

MSB Neser and DS Savage 0.41 1 341 082 Corob Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 1.28 4 210 686 Fern Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 0.27 873 019 Ops Trust (Abland 74.96%)

MSB Neser 0.71 2 347 394 Florence Neser Trust and Mike and Louie Neser Trust

DS Savage 0.04 144 853 D Savage Family Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 3.53 11 598 127 Path Trust

28 February 2015

Directors % No. of shares Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 0.91 1 198 478 Abcon Incentive Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 3.13 6 630 688 Bracken Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 14.80 46 020 252 Bracken Trust, Corob Trust and Fern Trust have sinking fund 
policies (endowment policies) with Momentum Group Limited

MSB Neser and DS Savage 0.84 1 341 082 Corob Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 1.52 4 405 493 Fern Trust

MSB Neser 1.34 140 882 Florence Neser Trust

MSB Neser and DS Savage 4.15 12 488 433 Path Trust

Secretary
The secretary of the company is JUBA Statutory Services 
(Pty) Ltd.

Business address:  No 1 Carlsberg, 430 Nieuwenhuyzen 
Street, Erasmuskloof Ext 2

Postal address:  PO Box 4896, Rietvalleirand, 0174

External auditors
It will be proposed at the next annual general meeting that 
Grant Thornton continues in office in accordance with the 
Companies Act as amended.

Liquidity and solvency
The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency 
tests required by the Companies Act, as amended, and was 
satisfied that the company was liquid and solvent.

Going concern
The group annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to 
finance future operations and that the realisation of assets 
and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and 
commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

Borrowing limitations
In terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the 
company, the directors may exercise all the powers of 
the group to borrow money, as they consider appropriate. 
At 29 February 2016, the group’s borrowings totalled 
R6.1 billion (2015: R4.5 billion).
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Group Company

Note
2016

R’000
2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investment properties  2 9 223 798 8 349 697 4 040 845 2 893 035 

Fair value of investment property 8 771 992 7 992 125 3 855 670 2 800 058 

Straight-line rental income accrual 397 306 318 287 180 823 90 354 

Lease costs and incentives 54 500 39 285 4 352 2 623 

Investment property under construction 
or redevelopment  2  2 048 337  907 964  1 920 137  788 398 

Interest in associate 5 1 368 1 473  —  — 

Intangibles and goodwill 4 536 870 551 670  —  — 

Plant and equipment 3 2 988 1 686 1 582 5 

Investments 5  57 288  — 2 139 842 2 139 842 

Interest rate swaps 12  119 336  —  121 249  — 

11 989 985 9 812 490 8 223 655 5 821 280 

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 8 113 345 197 540 64 473 164 560 

Loans receivable 7 97 228 56 884 1 948 066 1 424 917 

Cash and cash equivalents 9  382 480 243 240 320 870 184 391 

593 053 497 664 2 333 409 1 773 868 

Non-current assets held for sale  24  1 174 858  —  708 674  — 

Total assets 13 757 896 10 310 154 11 265 738 7 595 148 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves 6 490 936 4 849 505 5 207 571 4 377 873 

Stated capital  10 4 548 755 3 979 560 4 562 598 3 993 403 

Share-based payment reserve 5 037 290 5 037 290 

Foreign currency translation reserve 234 351  —  —  — 

Reserves 1 702 793 869 655 639 936 384 180 

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities 11 5 230 226 4 306 946 4 018 922 2 552 399 

Interest rate swaps 12  — 76 101  — 53 346 

Deferred taxation 6 960 585 647 991 578 394 340 419 

6 190 811 5 031 038 4 597 316 2 946 164 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 192 549 236 929 130 654 157 111 

Loans payable 13  —  1 306  610 197  — 

Interest bearing liabilities 11  883 600  191 376  720 000  114 000 

1 076 149 429 611 1 460 851 271 111 

Total equity and liabilities 13 757 896 10 310 154 11 265 738 7 595 148 

Net asset value per ordinary share 15  19.78  16.23 

Net asset value per ordinary share, 
excluding deferred taxation 15  22.80  18.40 
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Group Company

Note
2016

R’000
2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

REVENUE 16  863 547  549 171  363 733  200 722 

Contractual rental income  777 804  460 357  288 768  147 321 

Straight-line rental income accrual  85 743  88 308  74 965  53 365 

Sundry income  —  506  —  36 

Direct property operating expenses 17 (124 347) (77 098) (47 016) (18 492)

Net property income  739 200  472 073  316 717  182 230 

Other income 17  21 259  —  15 932  — 

Administration and corporate costs (63 484) (29 788) (56 645) (21 432)

Amortisation of intangibles (14 800) (7 400)  —  — 

Income from associates 5  216 296  9 229  —  — 

Changes in fair values 18  630 244  434 683  394 291  187 397 

— Investment properties  481 042  504 316  240 738  254 723 

— Other financial liabilities 14 (49 784)  — (25 295)  — 

— Financial instruments  198 986 (69 633)  178 848 (67 326)

Income from operations before interest and taxation  1 528 715  884 439  670 295  348 195 

Interest received 19  54 021  5 136  149 990  2 020 

Finance charges 20 (437 004) (268 748) (326 554) (140 453)

Profit before taxation  1 145 732  620 827  493 731  209 762 

Taxation 22 (312 594) (121 523) (237 975) (33 248)

— Current — (199) — —

— Deferred (312 594) (121 324) (237 975) (33 248)

Profit for the year  833 138  499 304  255 756  176 514 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME NET OF TAX

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to 
profit and loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  234 351  —  —  — 

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 1 067 489 499 304 255 756 176 514 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 21  267  281 
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Note

 Stated
capital
R’000

Non-
distributable

reserve 
R’000

Retained
income
R’000

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

R’000

 Share-based
payment
reserve

R’000

Total
capital and

reserves
R’000

GROUP

Balance at 1 March 2014  786 787  263 960  106 393  —  —  1 157 140 

Transfer to retained income — 
1 March 2014 *  — (263 960)  263 960  —  —  — 

Total profit for the year  —  —  499 302  —  —  499 302 

Share-based payment expenses  —  —  —  —  290  290 

Issue of ordinary shares 10  3 213 747  —  —  —  —  3 213 747 

Share issue costs 10 (21 950)  —  —  —  — (21 950)

Issue of preference shares 10  976  —  —  —  —  976 

Total changes  3 192 773 (263 960)  763 262  —  290  3 692 365 

Balance at 28 February 2015  3 979 560  —  869 655  —  290  4 849 505 

Total profit for the year  —  —  833 138 —  —  833 138 

Other comprehensive income for the year — — —  234 351 —  234 351 

Share-based payment expenses  — —  — —  4 747  4 747 

Issue of ordinary shares 10  619 935  —  — —  —  619 935 

Share buyback 10 (46 433) — — — — (46 433)

Share issue costs 10 (3 262) —  — —  — (3 262)

Issue of preference shares 10  4 595 — — — —  4 595 

Cancellation of preference shares 10 (5 640)  —  — —  — (5 640)

Total changes  569 195  —  833 138  234 351  4 747  1 641 431 

Balance at 29 February 2016  4 548 755  —  1 702 793  234 351  5 037  6 490 936 

COMPANY

Balance at 1 March 2014  786 787  187 363  20 303 — —  994 453 

Transfer to retained income — 
1 March 2014 *  — (187 363)  187 363  —  —  — 

Total profit for the year  —  —  176 514  — —  176 514 

Share-based payment expenses  —  —  —  —  290  290 

Issue of ordinary shares 10  3 227 590  —  —  —  —  3 227 590 

Share issue costs 10 (21 950)  —  —  —  — (21 950)

Issue of preference shares 10  976  —  —  —  —  976 

Total changes  3 206 616 (187 363)  363 877  —  290  3 383 420 

Balance at 28 February 2015  3 993 403  —  384 180  —  290  4 377 873 

Total profit for the year  —  —  255 756  — —  255 756 

Share-based payment expenses  — —  —  —  4 747  4 747 

Issue of ordinary shares 10  619 935  —  —  —  —  619 935 

Share buyback 10 (46 433) — — — — (46 433)

Share issue costs 10 (3 262) —  —  —  — (3 262)

Issue of preference shares 10  4 595 — —  — —  4 595 

Cancellation of preference shares 10 (5 640)  —  —  —  — (5 640)

Total changes  569 195  —  255 756  —  4 747  829 698 

Balance at 29 February 2016  4 562 598  —  639 936  —  5 037  5 207 571 

*  At 1 March 2014 the total non-distributable reserves was reclassified to retained income. All future fair value adjustments and the relating deferred tax 
will be reported through profit and loss into retained income.       
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Group Company

Note
2016

R’000
2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 23 603 840 435 300 249 220 159 087

Interest received 19 675 5 136 16 574 2 020

Finance charges (493 139) (267 276) (382 689) (138 981)

Taxation paid 24  — (199)  — —

Net cash generated from/(utilised in) 
operating activities 130 376 172 961 (116 895) 22 126

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to plant and equipment (2 089)  — (1 959)  — 

Additions to investment properties (226 902) (1 786 738) (733 201) (1 594 761)

Additions to investment properties under construction (1 113 094) (244 692) (1 125 370) (244 692)

(Acquisition)/disposal of investments (743 445) 56 442 (613 394) —

Loans (repaid)/advanced (45 986) (9 787) (506 588) 26 607

Dividends received 1 906  — —  — 

Net cash utilised investing activities (2 129 610) (1 984 775) (2 980 512) (1 812 846)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds on ordinary shares issued  600 000 1 215 031  600 000 1 215 031

Share buyback (46 263)  — (46 263)  — 

Share issue costs (3 262) (14 450) (3 262) (14 450)

Interest bearing liabilities advanced 1 589 305 796 858 2 073 214 750 098

Shareholders loans (repaid)/advanced (1 306) (5 555) 610 197 (6 861)

Net cash generated from financing activities 2 138 474 1 991 884 3 233 886 1 943 818

Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents 139 240 180 070 136 479 153 098

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 243 240 63 170 184 391 31 293

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 382 480 243 240 320 870 184 391

pivotal integrated report 201688

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

Statement of cash flows



1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.1 PRESENTATION OF THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations effective for the group’s financial year, as well as the SAICA Financial Reporting Guidelines as 
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council, the Companies Act of South Africa, 71 of 2008, applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and the JSE 
Listings requirements.

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for investment properties 
and certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. 
They are presented in South African rands, which is the parent company’s functional and presentation currency. The consolidated 
annual financial statements are prepared on a going-concern basis.

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of A Suckerman ACCA UK, financial director 
of The Pivotal Property Fund Limited. The consolidated annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 
20 May 2016.

1.2 NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS

1. Amendments to IFRS 2: Share-based payments (1 March 2015)

2. Amendments to IFRS 3: Business Combinations (1 March 2015)

3. Amendments to IFRS 8: Operating Segments (1 March 2015)

4. Amendments to IFRS13: Fair value measurements (1 March 2015)

5. Amendments to IAS16: Plant and equipment (1 March 2015)

6. Amendments to IAS24: Related party disclosure (1 March 2015)

7. Amendments to IAS38: Intangible Assets (1 March 2015)

8. Amendments to IAS40: Investment Properties

The implications of these statements have no impact on measurements of assets and liabilities at the previous year-end. 
Comparatives are provided for new disclosures where required in terms of the standards.

1.3 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing the consolidated annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the consolidated annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information 
and the application of judgement are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the consolidated annual financial statements.

Judgements other than estimates

In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated annual financial statements:

Acquisition of investment property

In the prior years, in certain cases, the acquisition of properties was treated as property acquisitions in terms of IAS 40: Investment 
Properties. In the opinion of the directors, these properties did not constitute a business as defined in IFRS 3: Business Combinations, 
as there were not adequate processes identified with these properties to warrant the classification as a business. In other cases, the 
acquisition of properties were treated as business combinations in terms of IFRS 3: Business Combinations.

Classification of property

The group determines whether a property is classified as investment property or inventory property:

1. Investment property comprises land and buildings (principally offices and retail property) which are not occupied substantially 
for use by, or in the operations of the group, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental 
income and capital appreciation.

2. Inventory comprises property that is held for sale in the ordinary course of business. Principally, this is property that the group 
develops and intends to sell before or on completion of construction.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.3 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY CONTINUED

Operating lease contracts — the group as lessor

The group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The group has determined, based on 
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
these properties and so accounts for the leases as operating leases.

Taxation

The group recognises liabilities for current taxes based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income and 
deferred tax provisions in the period in which the determination is made.

Estimates

Trade receivables

The group assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment 
loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a trade receivable.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use 
calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible 
that the assumptions may change, which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying 
value of goodwill, intangible and tangible assets.

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. Assets are grouped at the lowest 
level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications 
that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected 
future cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill and tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially 
change over time.

Taxation

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex taxation regulations, changes in taxation laws, and the amount and 
timing of future taxable income. The group recognises the net future taxation benefit related to deferred income taxation assets, 
to the extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the 
recoverability of deferred income taxation assets requires the group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future 
taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing 
taxation laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the 
ability of the group to realise the net deferred taxation assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

Financial instruments

The carrying value, net of impairment provisions of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. 
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the group for similar financial instruments.

Valuation of property

The fair value of investment property is determined either by independent real estate experts or the appointed external asset 
manager, using recognised valuation techniques. These techniques comprise both the capitalisation method and the discounted 
cash flow method.

Investment property under construction is also valued at fair value except if such values cannot be reliably determined. In the 
cases where a fair value cannot be reliably determined, such properties are recorded at cost. Once the fair value can be reliably 
measured, the properties under construction are recorded at cost plus the present value of the development margin (being the 
difference between the value on completion less the total cost of construction) and determined with reference to the stage of 
completion of the investment property.

pivotal integrated report 201690

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

Notes to the annual financial statements
continued



1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.4 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the annual financial statements of The Pivotal Property Fund Limited, 
its subsidiaries, joint arrangement and associates (“the group”) up to 29 February 2016.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquisition is recognised at the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 
For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed. When the group acquires a 
business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with 
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the 
acquire and the fair value of the group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree, if any, over the net of the acquisition-date 
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to 
fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be 
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of any contingent consideration classified 
as a liability will be recognised in profit or loss.

Trusts

The A preference shares relate to ring-fenced property owning trusts established by Pivotal. Seed capital for the trusts is raised 
from investors though the issue of A preference shares. A relationship agreement governs the arrangement which allows for the 
A preference shares to convert to ordinary shares in Pivotal in a ratio equal to the net asset value of the trust at the point of 
conversion compared to the net asset value of Pivotal plus the trust. A trust vests when the property has reached development 
maturity. This is typically three years post construction or when the trust reaches a 60% loan to value. On conversion the investors 
are issued ordinary shares and the trust is consolidated into the group results.

Constantia Call Centre and West End Trust remain unvested at 29 February 2016.

The trusts within the Pivotal structures are fully consolidated from the date on which the preference shares relating to a trust 
convert into ordinary shares in accordance with the terms of the relationship agreement governing the trust in question and the 
MOI of Pivotal, and thereafter are accounted for on the same basis as the subsidiaries dealt with below.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the group obtains control, and continue to 
be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The annual financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. Subsidiaries are all entities where the company 
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. At the date of acquisition identifiable assets and liabilities are recognised at their acquisition 
date fair values in terms of IFRS 3: Business Combinations. In the separate annual financial statements of the company, investments 
in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost and adjusted for impairment if applicable.

All intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the group and are presented separately 
in the other comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position separately from parent 
shareholders’ equity.

Subsidiaries acquired with the intention of disposal within a short period of time, provided IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations conditions are met, are not consolidated, but accounted for in terms of provided IFRS 5: Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.4 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION CONTINUED

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets 
of the joint arrangements. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, except when the investment, or a portion 
thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations.

Losses in an associate and joint ventures in excess of the group’s interest in that associate are recognised only to the extent that 
the group has incurred a legal or constructive obligation to make payments on behalf of the associate.

On acquisition of the investment in an associate or joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the 
carrying amounts of the investment. Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
over the cost of the investment, after re-assessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment is acquired.

The group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint venture, 
or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and 
the retained interest is a financial asset, the group measures the retained interest at the fair value at the date and the fair value is 
regarded as its fair value on the initial recognition in accordance with IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Interest in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, 
and obligations of the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

The group has various undivided shares in investment properties which are being treated as joint operations, hence only the 
group’s percentage share in the property is included in the consolidated results. Refer to the segmental reporting in note 32 
for the group’s undivided shares in investment properties.

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the group as a joint operator recognises in relation to its 
interest in a joint operation:

1. its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

2. its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

3. its revenue, including its share of revenue arising from the sale of the output arising from the joint operation; and

4. its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

1.5 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The group evaluates under this recognition principle all its investment property costs at the time they are incurred. These costs 
include costs incurred initially to acquire investment property, including borrowing costs and finance structuring fees specifically 
relating to the acquisition or development of investment property, and costs incurred subsequently to add to or to replace a part 
of a property. If a replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of the investment property, the carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised.

When considered material, the costs of letting commissions and lease incentives are capitalised and written off over the period of 
the lease to which they relate.

Investment property consists of completed property and property under construction or redevelopment held for the purpose of 
earning rental income over the long term or for capital appreciation or both. Investment property is initially recorded at cost, and 
subsequently measured at fair market value as determined on an annual basis. For the year under review, the valuations were 
performed on an open market basis by independent valuers using either the discounted cash flow method or capitalisation method.

Fair value gains or losses arising from a change in fair value of the investment properties are recognised in profit or loss for the 
period in which they arise.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.5 INVESTMENT PROPERTY CONTINUED

Investment property is derecognised when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic 
benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment property are recognised in 
profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. Gains or losses on the disposal of investment properties are recognised in profit 
or loss and are calculated as the difference between the net selling price and the fair value of the property, as reported on the 
previous year’s statement of financial position.

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the end of owner occupation 
or commencement of an operating lease. Transfers are made from investment property when, and only when, there is a change in 
use, evidenced by commencement of owner occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell.

1.6 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Investment property is transferred to non-current assets held for sale when it is expected that the carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through sale rather than from continuing use. For this to be the case, the property must be available for 
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such property and its sale 
must be highly probable.

For the sale to be highly probable:

1. the board must be committed to a plan to sell the property and an active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan 
must have been initiated;

2. the property must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value; and

3. the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

On reclassification, investment property shall be measured at fair value less cost to sell.

1.7 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.

Plant and equipment is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual value. 
Estimated useful lives and residual values are re-assessed annually, any change to the estimated useful lives or residual values are 
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate in terms of IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

The useful lives of items of plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life 
Furniture and fixtures 6 years 
Generators 5 years

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is 
derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with finite 
useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised in 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually by comparing the recoverable amount with its 
carrying amount. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are only tested for impairment if there is an indication of impairment. 
Useful life is reviewed in each period to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life 
assessment. If they do not, the change in useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change in estimate.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED

The estimated useful lives of the assets are:

Item Useful life 
Right to manage properties 20 years

1.9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification

The group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or 
an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

1. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2. Loans and receivables

3. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

4. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial recognition. 
Classification is reassessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or 
loss, which shall not be moved out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, 
which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial measurement 
of the instrument. Costs incurred in structuring finance are included as a reduction against the related liability.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, and include 
interest rate swap derivatives, trade and other receivables, loans and receivables, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other 
payables. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective-interest method and include 
interest-bearing borrowings, bank overdrafts and other financial liabilities. Costs incurred in structuring finance are recognised as 
finance costs over the term of the finance agreement using the effective interest rate method. Where these costs are incurred for 
finance relating to investment property under construction or redevelopment, the portion of the costs relating to the development 
period will be capitalised to the cost of investment property under construction or redevelopment.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the group assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, to determine 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and 
default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the 
date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss 
within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write-off is made against the relevant allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that 
the asset is impaired.

The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

1.10 TAXATION

Current income taxation assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of 
current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) 
the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in taxation returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and it establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred income taxation assets and liabilities

A deferred taxation liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred taxation 
liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (taxation loss).

A deferred taxation asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred taxation asset is not recognised 
when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit (taxation loss).

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the taxation rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on taxation rates (and taxation laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period.

Taxation expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the 
extent that the tax arises from:

1. a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or

2. a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited 
or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in 
the same or a different period, directly in equity.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.11 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the group also:

1. tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment annually by 
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed during the annual period and 
at the same time every period.

2. tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent that a revaluation reserve exists.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or groups 
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets 
or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of units.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the units is less than the carrying amount 
of the units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:

1. first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit; and

2. then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 
assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of 
those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset, other than goodwill, attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation, other than goodwill, is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.12 EQUITY

Stated capital

Ordinary and preference share are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity. If the company re-acquires its own equity instruments, the consideration paid, including any 
directly attributable incremental costs (net of taxes) on those instruments, is deducted from equity until the shares are cancelled 
or reissued. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the company’s own equity 
instruments. Consideration paid or received share be recognised directly in equity.

Share-based payment reserve

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. 
Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 10.3.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.12 EQUITY CONTINUED

The fair value determined at the grant date is expenses on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the group’s 
estimate of the equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting 
period, the group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the 
original estimate, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a 
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or 
services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of 
the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.

Treasury shares

Shares in the company held by the company or its subsidiaries are classified as treasury shares. The cost of these shares, together 
with related transaction costs, is deducted from equity. The issued and weighted average number of shares is reduced by the 
treasury shares for the purposes of the basic and headline earnings per share calculations.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of group entities at the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.

The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between the amortised cost in the functional currency at the 
beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency 
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions, are translated 
to the group’s presentation currency South African rand (“rand”) at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses 
of foreign operations are translated to rand at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions (an average rate per month is used).

On the disposal of foreign operations (i.e. disposal of the group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving 
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, of a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an 
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences 
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Foreign currency differences on translation of the financial position and results of a foreign operation into the group’s presentation 
currency are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve (“FCTR”). When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in 
full, the relevant amount in the FCTR is transferred to the profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

1.13 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:

1. the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

2. it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

3. a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.13 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES CONTINUED

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity 
settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall 
not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a provision.

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in business combinations that are recognised separately are 
subsequently measured at the higher of:

1. the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and

2. the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised, they are disclosed when required.

1.14 LEASES

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the inception 
date. The arrangement is assessed for whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets 
or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and reward of ownership 
to the lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor, net of finance charges, is included in the statement of 
financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit 
or loss.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset, unless it is carried at fair value. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Contingent rental costs are expenses when incurred.

1.15 REVENUE

Rental income 

Revenue from the letting of investment property comprises gross rental income and recoveries of fixed operating costs. Rental 
income is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants

All recoveries are set off against the related expense accounts.

Interest income

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
1.16 BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the development or acquisition of qualifying assets are capitalised to the cost of 
the asset until such time as it is substantially ready for its intended use.

The amount capitalised is the actual borrowing cost incurred on funds specifically borrowed for the qualifying asset and the 
weighted average borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings for funds not specifically borrowed for the qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.17 PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES

Property operating expenses include all expenses directly incurred in the daily operations of the investment property. It includes 
property management fees, cleaning and security costs, service contract fee, repairs and maintenance, as well as utility costs 
incurred net of any recovery from tenants and amortisation in relation to lease costs and lease incentives.

1.18 DETERMINATION AND PRESENTATION OF OPERATING SEGMENTS

The group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that is provided internally to the chief operating 
decision-maker, namely the chief executive officer (“CEO”).

An operating segment is a component of the group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the group’s other components. An operating 
segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the CEO to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 
and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment or a region, as well as those that can 
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items are reported by location and mainly comprise interest-bearing liabilities, 
interest rate swaps, intangibles and goodwill, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, deferred taxation, trade and 
other payables, loans from shareholders, and the related income and expenses to these items.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period on investment property, including costs incurred on the 
investment property of the equity-accounted investment.

1.19 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the group’s consolidated annual financial statements are listed 
below. This listing is of standards and interpretations issued, which the group reasonably expects will be effective at a future date.

The group intends to adopt those standards when they become effective.

Standard Details of amendments
Annual periods 
beginning on or after

IFRS 5 
Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations

1.  Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle: Amendments clarifying that 
a change in the manner of disposal of a non-current asset or disposal 
group held for sale is considered to be a continuation of the original plan 
of disposal, and accordingly, the date of classification as held for sale 
does not change.

1 January 2016

IFRS 7 
Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures

1.  Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle: Amendment clarifying under 
what circumstances an entity will have continuing involvement in a 
transferred financial asset as a result of servicing contracts.

1 January 2016

2.  Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle: Amendment clarifying the 
applicability of previous amendments to IFRS 7 issued in December 
2011 with regard to offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 
in relation to interim financial statements prepared under IAS 34. 1 January 2016
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Standard Details of amendments
Annual periods 
beginning on or after

IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments

A final version of IFRS 9 has been issued which replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The completed standard 
comprises guidance on Classification and Measurement, Impairment Hedge 
Accounting and Derecognition:

1.  IFRS 9 introduces a new approach to the classification of financial assets, 
which is driven by the business model in which the asset is held and their 
cash flow characteristics. A new business model was introduced which 
does allow certain financial assets to be categorised as “fair value through 
other comprehensive income” in certain circumstances. The requirements 
for financial liabilities are mostly carried forward unchanged from IAS 39. 
However, some changes were made to the fair value option for financial 
liabilities to address the issue of own credit risk.

2.  The new model introduces a single impairment model being applied to all 
financial instruments, as well as an “expected credit loss” model for the 
measurement of financial assets.

3.  IFRS 9 contains a new model for hedge accounting that aligns the accounting 
treatment with the risk management activities of an entity, in addition 
enhanced disclosures will provide better information about risk management 
and the effect of hedge accounting on the financial statements.

4.  IFRS 9 carries forward the derecognition requirements of financial assets 
and liabilities from IAS 39.

1 January 2018

IFRS 9 (2014) 
supersedes any 
previous versions 
of IFRS 9, but earlier 
versions of IFRS 9 
remain available 
for application if 
the relevant date of 
application is before 
1 February 2015

IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial 
Statements

1.  Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception: Narrow-scope 
amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 introduce clarifications to the 
requirements when accounting for investment entities. The amendments 
also provide relief in particular circumstances, which will reduce the costs 
of applying the Standards.

1 January 2016

2.  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28): Narrow scope 
amendment address an acknowledged inconsistency between the 
requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with 
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate 
or joint venture.

1 January 2016

IFRS 11 
Joint Arrangements

1.  Amendments adding new guidance on how to account for the acquisition 
of an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a business which 
specify the appropriate accounting treatment for such acquisitions.

1 January 2016

IFRS 12 
Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities

1.  Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception: Narrow-scope 
amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 introduce clarifications 
to the requirements when accounting for investment entities. The 
amendments also provide relief in particular circumstances, which 
will reduce the costs of applying the Standards.

1 January 2016

IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts 
from Customers

1.  New standard that requires entities to recognise revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. This core principle is achieved 
through a five step methodology that is required to be applied to all 
contracts with customers.

1 January 2018

2.  The new standard will also result in enhanced disclosures about revenue, 
provide guidance for transactions that were not previously addressed 
comprehensively and improve guidance for multiple-element arrangements.

3.  The new standard supersedes: 
 (a) IAS 11 Construction Contracts; 
 (b) IAS 18 Revenue; 
 (c) IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; 
 (d) IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; 
 (e) IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers; and 
 (f) SIC-31 Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
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Standard Details of amendments
Annual periods 
beginning on or after

IFRS 16 
Leases

1.  New standard that introduces a single lessee accounting model and 
requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a 
term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 
A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its 
right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing 
its obligation to make lease payments. A lessee measures right-of-use 
assets similarly to other non-financial assets (such as property, plant and 
equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities. As a 
consequence, a lessee recognises depreciation of the right-of-use asset 
and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments 
of the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and 
presents them in the statement of cash flows applying IAS 7 Statement 
of Cash Flows.

2.  IFRS 16 contains expanded disclosure requirements for lessees. Lessees 
will need to apply judgement in deciding upon the information to disclose 
to meet the objective of providing a basis for users of financial statements 
to assess the effect that leases have on the financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows of the lessee.

3.  IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in 
IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases 
or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.

4.  IFRS 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors 
that will improve information disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, 
particularly to residual value risk.

5.  IFRS 16 supersedes the following Standards and Interpretations: 
 (a) IAS 17 Leases;
 (b) IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease;
 (c) SIC-15 Operating Leases—Incentives; and
 (d)  SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the 

Legal Form of a Lease.

1 January 2019

IAS 1 
Presentation of 
Financial Statements

1.  Disclosure Initiative: Amendments designed to encourage entities to 
apply professional judgement in determining what information to disclose 
in their financial statements. For example, the amendments make clear 
that materiality applies to the whole of financial statements and that the 
inclusion of immaterial information can inhibit the usefulness of financial 
disclosures. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that entities should 
use professional judgement in determining where and in what order 
information is presented in the financial disclosures.

1 January 2016

IAS 16 
Property, Plant 
and Equipment

1.  Amendment to both IAS 16 and IAS 38 establishing the principle for the 
basis of depreciation and amortisation as being the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits of an asset. Clarifying that 
revenue is generally presumed to be an inappropriate basis for measuring 
the consumption of economic benefits in such assets.

1 January 2016

2.  Amendment to IAS 16 and IAS 41 which defines bearer plants and includes 
bearer plants in the scope of IAS 16 Property, plant and Equipment, rather 
than IAS 41, allowing such assets to be accounted for after initial recognition 
in accordance with IAS 16.

1 January 2016

IAS 19 
Employee Benefits

1.  Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle: Clarification of the requirements 
of to determine the discount rate in a regional market sharing the same 
currency (for example, the Eurozone).

1 January 2016

IAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements

1.  Amendments to IAS 27 will allow entities to use the equity method to 
account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in 
their separate financial statements.

1 January 2016

IAS 28 
Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures

1.  Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception: Narrow-scope 
amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 introduce clarifications to the 
requirements when accounting for investment entities. The amendments 
also provide relief in particular circumstances, which will reduce the costs 
of applying the Standards.

1 January 2016
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Standard Details of amendments
Annual periods 
beginning on or after

2.  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28): Narrow scope amendment to 
address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 
and those in IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.

1 January 2016

IAS 34 
Interim Financial Reporting

1.  Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle: Clarification of the meaning of 
disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial report’.

1 January 2016

IAS 38 
Intangible Assets

1.  Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 to clarify the basis for the calculation 
of depreciation and amortisation, as being the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits of an asset.

1 January 2016

2.  Amendment to both IAS 16 and IAS 38 establishing the principle for the 
basis of depreciation and amortisation as being the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits of an asset. Clarifying that 
revenue is generally presumed to be an inappropriate basis for measuring 
the consumption of economic benefits in such assets.

1 January 2016

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on 
the financial statements of the group.

pivotal integrated report 2016102

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

Notes to the annual financial statements
continued



Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2.1 COMPLETED INVESTMENT PROPERTY AT NET 

CARRYING VALUE 9 223 798 8 349 697 4 040 845 2 893 035 

Cost  6 136 985  5 838 160  3 291 368  2 476 494 

Fair value surplus  2 635 007  2 153 965  564 302  323 564 

Straight-line rental income accrual  397 306  318 287  180 823  90 354 

Capitalised lease costs and incentives  54 500  39 285  4 352  2 623 

Market value as estimated by independent valuators 9 223 798 8 349 697 4 040 845 2 893 035 

Movement for the year

Investment properties at beginning of year  8 349 697  1 875 226  2 893 035  1 115 326 

Acquisitions arising from business combinations (note 25)  —  4 357 796  —  — 

Net acquisition of property  25 439  1 480 018  687 136  1 480 018 

Capital expenditure on completed property  199 225  121 543  43 777  115 146 

Finance costs capitalised  —  3 474  —  2 503 

Transferred from investment property under construction  173 469  62 312  165 655  17 412 

Letting commissions and lease incentives capitalised  26 768  10 902  2 288  1 160 

Letting commissions and lease incentives amortised  (12 719)  (9 143)  (559)  (1 563)

Straight-line rental income adjustment  79 019  113 957  90 469  79 014 

Fair value adjustment  382 900  333 612  159 044  84 019 

 Total completed investment property at year-end  9 223 798  8 349 697  4 040 845  2 893 035 

2.2 STRAIGHT-LINE RENTAL INCOME ACCRUAL

Opening balance  318 287  40 042  90 354  11 340 

Adjustment for the year  79 019  278 245  90 469  79 014 

— Arising through acquisitions  (6 724)  189 937  15 504  25 649 

— Recognised in revenue during the year (note 16)  85 743  88 308  74 965  53 365 

Net amount included under investment property  397 306  318 287  180 823  90 354 
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES CONTINUED

2.3 CAPITALISED LEASE COSTS AND INCENTIVES

Opening balance  31 780  3 238  780  1 214 

Additions  7 991  4 375  1 287  87 

Arising through acquisitions  —  27 422  —  — 

Amortisation  (3 643)  (3 255)  396  (521)

Net amount of capitalised lease costs  36 128  31 780  2 463  780 

Net amount of capitalised lease incentives (note 16)  18 372  7 504  1 889  1 843 

Net amount included under investment property  54 500  39 285 133  4 352  2 623 

2.4 INVESTMENT PROPERTY UNDER CONSTRUCTION 
OR RE-DEVELOPMENT

At beginning of year  907 964  152 874  788 398  107 974 

Acquisition costs  494 689  572 373  494 689  452 807 

Capital expenditure  664 876  71 753  664 876  71 753 

Finance costs capitalised  56 135  2 572  56 135  2 572 

Transfer to completed investment property  (173 469)  (62 312)  (165 655)  (17 412)

Fair value adjustment  98 142  170 704  81 694  170 704 

Total investment property under construction 
or re-development at year-end  2 048 337  907 964  1 920 137  788 398 

Market value as estimated by independent valuers  2 048 337  907 964  1 920 137  788 398 

Refer to Annexure A for a detailed list of properties.

DETAILS OF VALUATION

Investment property under construction is valued at fair value except if such values cannot be reliably determined. In the cases where a 
fair value cannot be reliably determined, such properties are recorded at cost. Once the fair value can be reliably measured, the properties 
under construction are recorded at cost plus the present value of the development margin (being the difference between the value on 
completion less the total cost of construction) and are determined with reference to the stage of completion of the investment property.

The valuation of investment properties and investment property under construction is a level 3 model as per the fair value hierarchy. 
Refer to note 28 where the fair value hierarchy is defined.

The independent valuers applied current market related assumptions to the risks in rental streams of properties. Discount and capitalisation 
rates ranged as follows:

Weighted average 

Rate per
m2

12-month
forward yield

Cap
rate 

Reversionary
rate

Discount
rate

Sector

Retail  17 257 7.90% 7.70% 8.40% 13.30%

Retail convenience  16 547 8.10% 8.20% 9.00% 13.50%

Small regional/regional  17 558 7.80% 7.60% 8.20% 13.20%

Office and industrial  23 660 8.10% 7.80% 8.50% 13.40%

Offices — PTA/JHB  25 216 8.10% 7.80% 8.50% 13.40%

Offices — CPT  25 642 8.10% 7.10% 7.80% 13.50%

Industrial  8 876 8.80% 8.80% 9.80% 13.50%

Total portfolio — Feb 2016  20 439 8.00% 7.80% 8.50% 13.40%

Total portfolio — Feb 2015 19 372 7.90% 7.70% 8.20% 13.20%
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2. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES CONTINUED

DETAILS OF VALUATION cOntinued

The effective date of the revaluations was 29 February 2016.

Properties were valued by:

 › Jurgen Karg Head of Valuations, BSc Real Estate, Senior Valuer (5512), on behalf of Jones Lang LaSelle (Pty) Ltd; and

 › Kim Pfaff, BSc (Hons) MRICS, Chartered Valuation Surveyor (1240685),Professional Valuer (6497), on behalf of Jones Lang LaSelle 
(Pty) Ltd; and

 › Roger Hunting MRICS, Dip TP, MIV(SA) Chartered Valuation Surveyor, Registered Professional Valuer (No 115/1)) on behalf of Broll 
Valuation and Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd, the Network Affiliate of CBRE Global.

A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection at 
the registered office of the company.

The estimated impact of a change in the following significant unobservable inputs would result in a change in the independent 
valuers’ valuation as follows:

Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs and fair value measurements

The estimated fair value would increase/(decrease) if:

 › expected market rental growth was higher/(lower);

 › expected expense growth was lower/(higher);

 › vacant periods were shorter/(longer);

 › the occupancy rate was higher/(lower);

 › rent-free periods were shorter/(longer);

 › discount rate was lower/(higher); and

 › reversionary capitalisation rate was lower/(higher).

Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

A decrease of 50 basis points in the discount rate  205 626  168 878  96 713  67 157 

An increase of 50 basis points in the discount rate (205 626) (168 878) (96 713) (67 157)

A decrease of 25 basis points in the reversionary cap rate  226 551  186 063  106 555  73 991 

An increase of 25 basis points in the reversionary cap rate (226 551) (186 063) (106 555) (73 991)

Refer to note 32 for a detailed breakdown of all the investment properties per segment.

The properties are bonded and serve as security for the liabilities listed in note 11.
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2016 2015

Cost/
valuation

R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost/
valuation

R’000

Accumulated
depreciation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

3. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
GROUP  5 771 (2 783)  2 988  3 682 (1 996)  1 686 

COMPANY  2 699 (1 117)  1 582  740 (735)  5 

Opening
balance Additions Depreciation Total

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment

GROUP

Plant and equipment

2016  1 686  2 089 (787)  2 988 

2015  71  1 945 (331)  1 686 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment

COMPANY

Plant and equipment

2016  5  1 959 (383)  1 582 

2015  71 — (66)  5 

A register containing the information required by regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection at 
the registered office of the company.

Group

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

4. INTANGIBLE AND GOODWILL
Goodwill

Balance at the beginning of the year  255 481  — 

Additions through business combinations  —  255 481 

 255 481  255 481 

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries has been allocated to the following cash generating units:

Retail  77 489  77 489 

Office  78 041  78 041 

Other  99 951  99 951 

 255 481  255 481 
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4. INTANGIBLE AND GOODWILL CONTINUED

Impairment tests are conducted on an annual basis using discounted cash flow models on the basis of value in use. For the purposes 
of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the operating division/segment which represents the lowest level within the group at 
which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. The impairment tests are based on forecasted profits generated by 
the underlying cash generating units. The following key assumptions were used by management in calculating the forecasted profits:

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Estimated remaining life (right to manage) 18.5 years 19.5 years

Vacancy rates 2% 2%

Average rental increases in respect of renewals 8% 8%

Average increase in operating costs 8% 8%

Capitalisation rates used 7.25% – 8.75% 7.25% – 8.75%

Percentage of leases reverting to market value 20% 20%

2016 2015

Cost/
valuation

R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

and impairment
R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost/
valuation

R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

and impairment
R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Other intangible assets

Group — right to manage  303 589 (22 200)  281 389  303 589 (7 400)  296 189 

Opening
balance

R’000

Arising on
business

acquisition
R’000

Amortisation
R’000

Total
R’000

Reconciliation of intangible assets — 2016

Right to manage  296 189 — (14 800) 281 389 

Group

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Total intangible assets and goodwill  536 870  551 670 
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Amount

Country of 
incorporation/residence Parent

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

5. INVESTMENTS
5.1 INVESTMENT IN WHOLLY 

OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Name of entity
Alice Lane Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  83 904  83 904 

Avanti Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  —  — 

Ballywoods Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  75 307  75 307 

Bryanston Place Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  55 676  55 676 

Carnation Place Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  30 232  30 232 

Centurion Lifestyle Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  163 330  163 330 

Farramere Retail Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  26 560  26 560 

Gateway Retail Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  39 228  39 228 

Greenstone Motorcity Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  5 562  5 562 

Hazeldean Retail Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  25 007  25 007 

Hillcrest Precinct Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  103 205  103 205 

Riverside Office Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  279 363  279 363 

Sunninghill Retail Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  72 457  72 457 

Valley View Office Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  51 385  51 385 

Wonderboom Junction Retail Trust South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  219 320  219 320 

Bridgeport 26 (Pty) Ltd South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  92 164  92 164 

Cornerstone Capital Fund (Pty) Ltd South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  198 924  198 924 

Pivotal Goldfields Mall (Pty) Ltd South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  62 189  62 189 

Ptn 113 Weltevreden (Pty) Ltd South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  197 665  197 665 

Ptn 3 of Erf 163 Hillcrest (Pty) Ltd South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  33 959  33 959 

Pivotman (Pty) Ltd South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  324 405  324 405 

Pivotal Global (Pty) Ltd 1 South Africa The Pivotal Fund Limited  —  — 

Abland Diversified Holdings Limited 2 Mauritius Pivotal Global (Pty) Ltd  —  — 

SB Wings Development Limited 3 Mauritius The Pivotal Fund Limited  —  — 

 2 139 842  2 139 842 

Investments held by Pivotal  2 139 842  2 139 842 

Investments held by other 
group entities — —

 2 139 842  2 139 842 

Reconciliation of Investment in subsidiaries

Opening balance  2 139 842  297 125 

Additions  613 394  1 842 717 

Transferred to non-current assets held for sale (613 394) —

Disposals — —

Closing balance  2 139 842  2 139 842 

1.  Pivotal Global (Pty) Ltd was incorporated by The Pivotal Fund Limited during the current year. At incorporation Pivotal Global (Pty) Ltd had no 
assets or liabilities and was capitalised with R16.     

2.  Abland Diversified Holdings Limited (“ADHL”) is a holding company that holds 50% of Buffalo Mall Limited, Kenya. Pivotal Global (Pty) Ltd acquired 100% of 
the shareholding in ADHL for R1 588. The acquisition of ADHL did not meet the definition of a business combination as per IFRS 3 — Business combinations 
requirements. The group entered into an agreement to dispose of 100% of it’s investment in ADHL on 17 November 2015 as well as 50% of Buffalo Mall 
Limited. The disposal meets the criteria of IFRS 5 — Non-current assets held for sale and was therefore transferred to Non-current assets held for sale. 
See note 24 for further disclosure.

3.  SB Wings Development Limited (“SB Wings”) was incorporated by The Pivotal Fund Limited during the current year. At incorporation SB Wings had 
no assets or liabilities and was capitalised with R613 392 100. The group entered into an agreement with Mara Delta Property Holdings Limited to 
dispose of 100% of its investment in SB Wings on 17 November 2015. The disposal meets the criteria of IFRS 5 - Non-current assets held for sale 
and was therefore transferred to Non-current assets held for sale. See note 24 for further disclosure.
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Country of
incorporation/residence

Type of
investment

Proportion of
ownership

5. INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

5.2 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE AND RELATED LOANS

Name of entity

Buffalo Mall Naivasha Limited 1 Kenya Associate 50.00%

Abreal (Pty) Ltd 2 Republic of South Africa Associate 25.00%

Oando Wings Development Limited 3 Nigeria Associate 37.10%

1.  Buffalo Mall Naivasha Limited is a 50% held associate of Abland Diversified Holdings Limited. There was no goodwill or fair value adjustment on 
acquisition. See point (6) above for the disposal of ADHL. See note 24 for further disclosure regarding classification as assets held for sale.

2. Abreal (Pty) Ltd is a 25% held associate of Pivotman (Pty) Ltd that was acquired on 8 December 2014. Refer to note 25 for details of the acquisition.

3.  Oando Wings Development Limited is a 37.1% held associate of SB Wings Development Limited that was acquired on 31 July 2015. There was no 
goodwill or fair value adjustment on acquisition. See point (7) above for the disposal of SB Wings. See note 24 for further disclosure regarding 
classification as assets held for sale.

No investment in associate is individually material. Aggregated reconciliation in investments in associates is set out below:

Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Interest in associates

Balance at the beginning of the year  1 473  26 563  —  — 

Acquired during the year  689 578  1 500  —  — 

Share of profit  216 296  9 229  —  — 

Interest income  34 346  —  —  — 

Share of other comprehensive income  234 533  —  —  — 

Transferred to held for sale (1 174 858)  —  —  — 

Disposals  — (35 819)  —  — 

Balance at the end of the year  1 368  1 473  —  — 

Amount

Country of 
incorporation/residence Proportion of ownership

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

5.3 OTHER INVESTMENTS

Name of entity

Delta Africa Limited 1 Mauritius 2.45%  57 288 —

1.  Delta Africa Limited is an investment of 2.45% held through Pivotal Global (Pty) Ltd. It is incorporated in Mauritius and is dual listed on the JSE and 
SEM. The shareholding was acquired on 16 February 2016. At acquisition the share price of the Delta shares was USD1.70 at an exchange rate of 
R15.81. At 29 February 2016 the share was revalued to USD1.80 at closing exchange rate of R15.88. USD1.80 was the closing price of the listed 
Delta shares on the SEM as at 29 February 2016. The investment is held as an investment at fair value and falls within level 1 of the fair value 
hierarchy. During the year a dividend of R1.9 million was received.

Additions
R’000

Forex
adjustments

R’000

Fair value
adjustment

R’000

Closing
balance

R’000

Reconciliation

Investment at fair value  53 867  238  3 183  57 288 
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

6. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax liability comprises:

Capital allowances (238 364) (181 745) (170 636) (134 512)

Fair value adjustments — investment properties (635 671) (446 002) (395 682) (284 848)

Fair value adjustments — derivative financial instruments (33 414)  21 308 (28 368)  20 519 

Capitalised lease incentives and costs (15 260) (11 000) (11 548) (11 063)

Interest capitalised (47 368) (31 650) (36 943) (21 225)

Provision —  8 — —

Straight-line rental income accrual (107 071) (84 946) (97 641) (72 310)

Intangible asset (78 789) (82 933) — —

Other financial liabilities  13 940 —  13 940 —

Tax losses available for future offset  181 412  168 969  148 484  163 020 

Total (960 585) (647 991) (578 394) (340 419)

Movement in deferred tax liability — — — —

Balance at the beginning of the year (647 991) (154 680) (340 419) (124 550)

Charge/credit to income statement (312 594) (121 324) (237 975) (33 248)

Arising from IFRS 3 business combination 
(refer note 25) — (371 987) — (182 621)

Balance at the end of the year (960 585) (647 991) (578 394) (340 419)
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

7. LOANS
Alice Lane Trust  —  —  160 954  16 376 

Avanti Trust  —  —  165 896  160 988 

Ballywoods Trust  —  —  85 590  79 115 

Bridgeport 26 (Pty) Ltd  —  —  11 952  11 952 

Bryanston Place Trust  —  —  67 102  75 414 

Carnation Place Trust  —  —  7 732  5 053 

Centurion Lifestyle Trust  —  —  177 347  125 106 

Constantia Call Centre Trust  — 5 640  — 5 640

Pivotal CCF (Pty) Ltd  —  —  220 815  — 

Farramere Retail Trust  —  —  27 164  28 873 

Gateway Retail Trust  —  —  23 925  —8 483 

Greenstone Motor City Trust  —  —  67 228  73 031 

Hazeldean Retail Trust  —  —  53 189  45 690 

Hillcrest Precinct Trust  —  —  75 053  88 103 

Pivotal Goldfields Mall (Pty) Ltd  —  —  57 487  49 778 

Ptn 113 Weltevreden (Pty) Ltd  —  —  130 791  115 486 

Ptn 3 of Erf 163 Hillcrest (Pty) Ltd  —  —  8 933  — 

Retail Africa Consortium 57 020 47 295  57 020 47 295

Riverside Office Park Trust  —  —  —27 799 (4 022)

Sunninghill Retail Trust  —  —  96 420  96 154 

Valley View Office Trust  —  —  —5 861  3 500 

West End Trust  3 949  3 949  3 949  3 949 

Wonderboom Junction Retail Trust  —  —  390 691  405 919 

Kyalami Retail Village (Pty) Ltd 30 032  —  30 032  — 

Pivotal Global (Pty) Ltd  —  —  56 757  — 

Abreal (Pty) Ltd 1 424  —  1 424  — 

Abreal Urban (Pty) Ltd 1 192  —  1 192  — 

Abnormal (Pty) Ltd 934  —  934  — 

Delta Mara Limited 1 913  —  1 913  — 

Other 764  —  236  — 

Other financial assets 97 228 56 884 1 948 066 1 424 917

The loans are unsecured, bear interest at rates between interest free and prime and are repayable on demand. Total interest earned 
in the current year was group: R20 million (Company: R131 million).
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables 7 088 11 879  5 789  3 402 

Prepayments 39 634 7 254  6 690 —

Municipal deposits 4 587 3 494  1 674  1 625 

SARS — VAT  26 859 147 366  30 667  143 357 

SARS — tax receivable 2 883 2 883 — —

Other receivables 32 294 24 664  19 653  16 176 

113 345 197 540  64 473  164 560 

CREDIT QUALITY OF TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past nor due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to 
external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.

Trade receivables are typically due within 10 days.

Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 53 46  10 —

Bank balances 382 427 243 194  320 860  184 391 

382 480 243 240  320 870  184 391 
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10. STATED CAPITAL/SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

2 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value

500 000 000  A — preference shares of no par value

500 000 000  B — preference shares of no par value

500 000 000  Ordinary shares of R0.01 each

500 000 000  Preference shares of R0.01 each

Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

10.1 ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

Stated share capital

298 924 167 at the beginning of the year no par value  4 004 786  809  4 004 786  809 

Ordinary share premium conversion to stated capital 
no par value  662 833  —  662 833 

Converted from preference shares:

Conversions of preference shares (2015: 81 254 490)  —  1 031 813  —  1 031 813 

81 254 490 at R0.01 per share on 28 August 2013

Issued to ordinary shareholders:

Rights offer allotment at R0.01 on 5 September 2014 
then converted to no par on 28 October 2014 
(2015: 13 616 824)  —  200 033  —  200 033 

Allotments in respect of acquisitions:

816 996 shares issued in respect of acquisitions 
of businesses and properties at R24.40 per share 
(2015: 63 113 241)  19 935  1 089 298  19 935  1 089 298 

Private placement on 8 December 2014 no par value 
(2015: 60 000 000)  —  1 020 000  —  1 020 000 

Capital raise:

Capital raise of 31 578 948 shares at R19.00 per share 
on 29 September 2015  600 000  —  600 000  — 

Share repurchase:

Share repurchase of 2 750 000 shares up to 
10 December 2015  (46 433)  —  (46 433)  — 

Balance at end of the year: 328 570 111 
(2015: 298 924 167) at no par value  4 578 288  4 004 786  4 578 288  4 004 786 

Share premium 

Balance at beginning of the year  —  662 833  —  662 833 

Conversion to stated capital no par value  —  (662 833)  —  (662 833)

Balance at end of the year  —  —  —  — 
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

10. STATED CAPITAL/SHARE CAPITAL 
AND PREMIUM CONTINUED

10.2 PREFERENCE STATED SHARE CAPITAL/REFERENCE 
SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM

Preference share capital 

1 324 061 at the beginning of the year 
(2015: 84 943 840) at no par value  10 567  849  10 567  849 

Converted into no par value stated capital:  —  (838)  —  (838)

Preference share premium converted to preference share 
stated capital  —  9 581  —  9 581 

Issued to preference shareholders:

"Series 1A" preference shares issued  —  412  —  412 

"Series 2A" preference shares issued  —  563  —  563 

919 000 “Series 1B” preference shares issued  4 595  —  4 595  — 

Cancellation by preference shareholders:

(1 128 054) “Series A” preference shares on 
11 December 2015 (5 640)  — (5 640)  — 

Balance at end of the year: 1 115 007 
(2015: 1 324 061) at no par value  9 522  10 567  9 522  10 567 

Share premium 

Balance at beginning of the year  —  122 295  —  122 295 

Preference share premium converted to stated capital  —  (112 713)  —  (112 713)

Preference share premium converted to preference share 
stated capital  —  (9 581)  —  (9 581)

 —  —  —  — 

Less:

Share issue costs  (25 212)  (21 950)  (25 212)  (21 950)

Treasury shares

890 340 Held by Ptn 113 Weltevreden (Pty) Ltd  (13 843)  (13 843) — —

Total stated capital  4 548 755  3 979 560  4 562 598  3 993 403 

The unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors in terms of a resolution of shareholders passed at the last 
annual general meeting. This authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting.

The preference shares shall compulsorily convert into ordinary shares as provided in the memorandum of incorporation of 
the company. In specific circumstances the company shall be entitled to redeem the preference shares as provided for in the 
memorandum of incorporation of the company.
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10. STATED CAPITAL/SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM CONTINUED

10.3 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Pivotal Fund Limited Share Appreciation Rights Plan (“SAR”)

Under the SAR, eligible employees will receive the right to the increase in the value above a strike price of a certain number of rights 
between the award date and the exercise date. The vesting of SARs is subject to the employment condition and pre-determined 
performance condition(s). SARs are intended to be used primarily as an incentive to participants to deliver the group’s business 
strategy over the long term through the selection of appropriate and stretching performance condition(s). SARs will vest after a three 
year period and if not exercised within a four year period following the vesting date, will lapse. The value attributable to the SARs 
at vesting is settled though the issue of shares.

2016
Rights

2015
Rights

Reconciliation of rights granted under Pivotal SAR scheme

Balance at the beginning of the year  —  — 

Forfeited during the year  —  — 

Granted during the year  738 570  — 

Balance at the end of the year  738 570  — 

Charged to profit or loss (R'000)  1 309  — 

Assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share rights granted is measured by reference to the fair value of the share rights 
granted. The estimated fair value of the services received is measured based on the assumption that all vesting conditions are met 
and all employees remain in service. The pricing model used was the Black-Schöles model. The volatility was estimated using the 
Pivotal daily closing share price over a rolling three-year period (Initially the full period since listing, as it is less than three years).

The total value of each award will be determined on vesting for the number of SARs exercised, by calculating the difference between 
the award price of R17.95 per SAR and the closing share price on the day before the vesting date.

2016
Grant

Fair value of Pivotal SAR and assumptions

Fair value at measurement date R5.32

Award price R17.95

Exercise price —

Expected volatility 20%

Risk-free rate 7.40%

Expected time to exercise 4 years

Pivotal Fund Limited Conditional Share Plan (“CSP”)

Under the CSP, eligible employees are awarded the right to receive conditional shares. The shares vest over a three year period and 
are subject to certain performance conditions weighted between company and individual performance. Employees have to be in 
employment at the vesting date to qualify to receive shares. The pre-listing retention awards awarded once-off to key executives 
will vest in equal tranches after three years.
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10. STATED CAPITAL/SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM CONTINUED

10.3 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS cOntinued

Pivotal Fund Limited Conditional Share Plan (“CSP”)

Under the CSP, eligible employees are awarded the right to receive conditional shares. The shares vest over a three year period and 
are subject to certain performance conditions weighted between company and individual performance. Employees have to be in 
employment at the vesting date to qualify to receive shares. The pre-listing retention awards awarded once-off to key executives 
will vest in equal tranches after three years.

2016
Rights

2015
Rights

Reconciliation of rights granted under Pivotal CSP and Pre-IPO scheme  

Balance at the beginning of the year  255 986 —

Forfeited during the year (7 495) —

Granted during the year  187 401  392 035 

Vested during the current year (127 984) (136 049) 

Balance at the end of the year  307 908  255 986

Charged to profit or loss (R’000)  3 438 —

2016
Grant

2015
Grant

Pre-IPO
grant

Conditions for vesting

Employment condition 3 years 3 years 3 years

Financial performance conditions 70% 70% N/A

Non-financial performance conditions 30% 30% N/A

In line with best practice and the provisions of King III, the proposed vesting scale is as follows:

 › threshold achievement of performance (the minimum level of performance for vesting of any incentive) — 30% vesting; and

 › target achievement of performance (the level of performance for payment of an on-target incentive) — 100% vesting.

Linear vesting will be applied for performance between the above levels. In line with corporate governance principles, performance 
conditions will not be retested if they are not met at the end of the performance period, and to the extent that they are not 
satisfied, awards will lapse at this time.

Refer to note 29.2 for detailed disclosure on all share incentives issued to directors of the group.
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11. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
Group Company

Weighted
average

rate Maturity

Total
facility
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

At amortised cost 

Investec Private Bank, 
a division of Investec 
Bank Limited 9.49%  824 971  872 928  —  — 

The loan is secured by investment 
property as stated in note 2, 
bears interest at varying rates 
and is repayable in varying 
instalments.

Facility 001 14 Dec 17  41 879 

Facility 002 1 Jun 20  143 756 

Facility 003 9 Jan 24  160 195 

Facility 004 1 Sep 25  196 498 

Facility 005 31 Oct 23  14 757 

Facility 006 1 Nov 23  67 425 

Facility 007 31 Mar 17  2 206 

Facility 008 1 May 25  7 857 

Facility 009 1 Dec 20  5 539 

Facility 010 1 Jul 21  154 266 

Facility 011 1 Jul 16  46 566 

Nedbank Limited 8.87%  756 743  473 261  743 875  218 887 

The loan is secured by investment 
property as stated in note 2, 
bears interest at varying rates 
and is repayable in varying 
instalments.

Facility 1 31 May 21  570 000 

Facility 2 31 Jul 16  200 000 

Facility 3 1 Nov 17  13 035 

Facility 4 31 Jul 19  77 950 

Facility 5 30 Nov 18  131 400 
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11. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES CONTINUED

Group Company

Weighted
average

rate Maturity

Total
facility
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

At amortised cost 

The Standard Bank of South 
Africa Limited 8.83%  3 240 536  2 090 894  3 240 536  2 007 299 

The loan is secured by the 
investment property as stated 
in note 2, bears interest at 
varying rates and is an 
interest only facility.

Facility 1 30 Sep 17  1 156 700 

Facility 2 30 Sep 18  874 800 

Facility 3 30 Sep 19  871 600 

Facility 4 30 Sep 20  208 500 

VAT Facility 1 Mar 16  140 000 

Facility 5 30 Sep 19  80 774 

Facility 6 30 Sep 18  150 000 

Facility 7 30 Sep 18  26 800 

Facility 8 1 Mar 16  80 000 

Facility 9 30 Sep 19  56 000 

Facility 10 30 Sep 19  18 563 

Facility 11 30 Sep 19  51 600 

Facility 12 30 Sep 20  103 920 

Facility 13 30 Sep 19  19 000 

Facility 14 30 Sep 19  11 813 

Facility 15 30 Sep 19  80 991 

Facility 16 30 Sep 17  17 000 

Facility 17 30 Sep 19  15 650 

Facility 18 30 Sep 18  5 967 

Rand Merchant Bank — a division 
of First Rand Bank Limited 7.59%  1 069 813  745 886  767 354  431 701 

The loan is secured by investment 
property as stated in note 2, 
bears interest at varying rates 
and is repayable in varying 
instalments.

Facility 1 3 Sep 18  69 021 

Facility 2 1 Mar 16  300 000 

Facility 3 3 Aug 20  121 134 

Facility 4 3 Aug 20  3 082 

Facility 5 1 Aug 16  34 146 

Facility 6 30 Jun 17  23 444 

Facility 7 28 Feb 17  20 000 

Facility 8 5 Nov 19  350 000 

Facility 9 5 Nov 19  50 000 

Facility 11 1 Aug 18  83 075 

Facility 12 1 Aug 18  12 500 
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11. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES CONTINUED

Group Company

Weighted
average

rate Maturity

Total
facility
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

At amortised cost 

ABSA BANK 8.87%  248 647  255 057 — —

The loan is secured by investment 
property as stated in note 2, 
bears interest at varying rates 
and is repayable in varying 
instalments.

Facility 1 1 Aug 18  49 838 

Facility 2 1 Oct 18  39 265 

Facility 3 1 Aug 18  140 000 

Facility 4 1 Aug 18  18 000 

Facility 5 1 Aug 16  3 500 

Other loans (16)  80 866 (15)  16 583 

Less: Finance structure raising fee * (26 868) (20 570) (12 828) (8 071)

 6 113 826  4 498 322  4 738 922  2 666 399 

Presented in the statement of 
financial position as follows:

Non-current liabilities 

At amortised cost  5 230 226  4 306 946  4 018 922  2 552 399 

 5 230 226  4 306 946  4 018 922  2 552 399 

Current liabilities 

Current portion of interest-bearing 
financial liabilities at amortised cost  883 600  191 376  720 000  114 000 

 6 113 826  4 498 322  4 738 922  2 666 399 

* Finance structure raising fee is amortised over the period of the facility

There are no restrictive funding arrangements as at 29 February 2016.
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

12. INTEREST RATE SWAPS
At fair value through profit or loss 

At fair value through profit or loss  119 336 —  121 249 —

Derivative financial liability —  76 101 —  53 346 

Nominal
value

R
Average

rate

Interest rate swaps

Standard Bank  5 032 048 270 7.72%

Nedbank  148 675 000 7.90%

Investec  77 013 000 6.40%

Rand Merchant Bank  173 913 554 8.43%

ABSA  206 337 299 8.55%

Total/weighted average rate  5 637 987 123 7.76%

Derivative financial instruments comprise mark-to-market of forward rate agreements (“FRA”) with the financial institutions that 
advanced the interest-bearing liabilities set out in note 11. These FRAs are derivative instruments taken out by the group to hedge 
against movements in the Prime and JIBAR interest rates.

Group Company

Note
2016

R’000
2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

13. LOANS PAYABLE
Fern Trust  — 1 306  —  — 

FHP Managers (Pty) Ltd  —  —  —  — 

Bridgeport 26 (Pty) Ltd  —  —  294 003  — 

Pivotal Goldfields Mall (Pty) Ltd  —  —  272 511  — 

Ptn 3 of Erf 163 Hillcrest (Pty) Ltd  —  —  43 683  — 

 —  1 306 610 197  — 

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Accruals  50 563 42 503  24 900  15 102 

Amounts received in advance  98  —  —  — 

SARS — VAT  — 5 591  —  — 

Tenant Deposits received  39 391 33 158  8 691  7 672 

Vendor — Lakeview property acquisition  — 79 660  —  — 

Trade payables  52 713 76 017  71 768  134 337 

Other financial liabilities 14.1  49 784  —  25 295  — 

192 549 236 929  130 654  157 111 
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14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES CONTINUED

14.1 RECOGNITION OF ADJUSTED PURCHASE PRICE LIABILITY

The group has recognised a R49.8 million fair value loss on certain transactions (Company: R25 million), involving various counterparties, 
which comprise an element of deferred consideration payable. The transactions require Pivotal to pay additional consideration for 
the various properties acquired once those properties hit a hurdle of 60% loan-to-value ratio. The additional consideration payable 
by Pivotal would be the net asset value of the property (external valuation less debt) less the initial consideration. The liability is a 
level 3 on the fair value hierarchy.

Management estimated the time it would take for the various properties to reach a 60% loan-to-value ratio. The net asset value 
at that stage was then discounted back to the reporting date using an appropriate discount rate. Management are currently in 
negotiations to settle these liabilities within the next 12 months, therefore these liabilities have been classified as current.

Property %
Estimated
payment date

Estimated NAV
at payment date

R’000

Fair value of
liability at

29 Feb 2016
R’000 Counterparty

Stoneridge D 40.0 28 Feb 19  11 701  7 138 The Corob Trust

Stoneridge D 20.0 28 Feb 19  5 980  3 648 Various

Stoneridge E 40.0 29 Feb 20  12 767  6 534 The Corob Trust

Stoneridge E 20.0 31 Aug 19  6 362  3 553 Various

Bree Street 62.5 28 Feb 25  101 400  21 610 Various

Chilli on Top 100.0 28 Feb 27  49 468  7 300 Various

 187 678  49 783 

Material unobservable assumptions used to determine the fair value of the liability

%

Annual rental escalation 7

Interest rate 9.3 – 9.5

Annual property value appreciation 5

Discount rate 19

The estimated impact of a change in the following significant unobservable input would result in a change in profit and loss as 
follows:

Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

— a decrease of 50 basis points in the discount rate (2 384) — (1 241) —

— an increase of 50 basis points in the discount rate  2 384 —  1 241 —
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

15. NET ASSET VALUE
Total equity  6 490 936  4 849 505 

Adjusted for:

— Equity of preference shareholders (9 522) (10 568)

Total equity (net asset value) attributable to 
ordinary shareholders  6 481 414  4 838 937 

Total number of ordinary shares in issue 
(adjusted for treasury shares)  327 679 771  298 233 827 

Net asset value per ordinary share (rand) 19.78 16.23

Reconciliation of net asset value, excluding deferred 
tax, per ordinary share to total equity

Total equity (net asset value) attributable to 
ordinary shareholders  6 481 414  4 838 937 

Adjusted for:

— Total deferred tax liability per note 6  960 585  647 991 

—  Total deferred tax liability equity accounted and 
not included above  28 080 —

Net asset value attributable to ordinary shareholders  7 470 079  5 486 928 

Total number of ordinary shares in issue (adjusted for 
treasury shares)  327 679 771  298 233 827 

Net asset value per ordinary share, excluding deferred 
tax (rand) 22.80 18.40

16. REVENUE
Rental income  723 819  428 625  271 564  136 469 

Operating lease recoveries  53 985  31 732  17 204  10 852 

Contractual rental Income  777 804  460 357  288 768  147 321 

Straight-lining of leases  85 743  88 308  74 965  53 365 

Sundry income —  506 —  36 

 863 547  549 171  363 733  200 722 

The group has granted incentives such as tenant 
installations to tenants.

The total unamortised portion of lease incentives is 
detailed as follows:

Gross amount of lease incentives 48 913 28 969 4 745 3 734

Cumulative amount recognised in profit or loss (30 541) (21 464) (2 855) (1 891)

— Current period (9 076) (18 812) (955) (1 045)

— Prior period (21 465) (2 652) (1 900) (846)

Net amount of lease incentives included under 
investment property (note 2.3) 18 372 7 505 1 890 1 843
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

17. INCOME FROM OPERATIONS
Income from operations for the year is stated after 
accounting for the following:

Depreciation  788  274  331  66 

Amortisation of intangibles  14 800  7 400 — —

Amortisation of lease costs  3 643  4 030 (396)  625 

Asset management fees  1 653  11 511  175  3 712 

Bad debts  1 254  2 265  748  552 

Property management fees  49 815  20 578  27 647  3 124 

Amortisation of lease incentives  9 076 7 356 955 (1 045)

Dividend received  1 906 — — —

Revaluation of investment  3 183 — — —

Unrealised forex gain on financial assets  15 932 —  15 932 —

Share-based payment charge  4 747  290  4 747  290 

18. CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF PROPERTIES AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value adjustments — Investment property 481 042 504 316 240 738 254 723

Fair value adjustments — Other financial liabilities (49 784) — (25 295) —

Fair value adjustments — Mark-to-market interest rate 198 986 (69 633) 178 848 (67 326)

 630 244  434 683  394 291  187 397 

19. INVESTMENT REVENUE
Interest earned on bank balances 19 675 4 758 18 490 1 850

Interest charged on loans and trade and other receivables 34 346 378  131 500 170

54 021 5 136 149 990 2 020

20. FINANCE CHARGES
Other financial liabilities 493 139 268 586 382 689 140 439

Other interest paid — 162 — 14

Capitalised interest (56 135) — (56 135) —

437 004 268 748 326 554 140 453
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

21. EARNINGS AND HEADLINE 
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per statement of comprehensive Income  833 138  499 304 

Adjusted for:

— Profit on disposal of associate —  (5 642)

— Fair value adjustment on investment property  (481 042)  (504 316)

— Deferred tax thereon  107 753  94 139 

— Deferred tax as a result of rate adjustment  89 105 —

— Fair value adjustment on associate held properties  (243 924) —

— Deferred tax thereon (10%)  24 392 —

Headline earnings  329 423  83 485 

Actual number of shares in issue 
(adjusted for treasury shares)  327 679 771  298 233 827 

Weighted average number of shares in issue  311 573 209  177 411 886 

Basic earnings per share (cents) *  267  281 

Headline earnings per share (cents) *  106  47 

* There are no dilutionary instruments in issue.

Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

22. TAXATION
Major components of the tax expense

Current 

Local income tax — current period  —  199  —  — 

Dividend tax  —  —  —  — 

 —  199  —  — 

Deferred 

Deferred tax — current period  312 594  121 324  237 975  33 248 

 312 594  121 324  237 975  33 248 

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between taxation expense and the product 
of accounting profit multiplied by the group’s taxation rate 
for the year ended February 2016 and 2015 as follows:

Accounting profit  1 145 732  620 827  493 731  209 762 

Tax at the applicable statutory rate 28% (2015: 28%)  320 805  173 831  138 245  58 733 

Permanent differences (18) (3 591)  24 522  3 

Fair value adjustments at CGT rates (26 938) (46 599) (13 481) (23 766)

Unprovided timing differences (1 879)  466  1 212 (1 722)

CGT rate adjustment  89 105  —  56 909  — 

Prior period adjustment (7 918)  —  30 568  — 

Income from associate (60 563) (2 584)  —  — 

 312 594  121 523  237 975  33 248 
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

23. CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation  1 145 732  620 826  493 731  209 762 

Adjustments for:  —  — 

Depreciation  1 131  274  417  66 

Amortisation of intangibles  14 800  7 400  —  — 

Interest received  (54 021)  (5 136)  (149 990)  (2 020)

Income from associates  (216 296)  (9 229)  —  — 

Finance charges  437 004  267 276  326 554  138 981 

Fair value adjustments — Investment property  (481 042)  (504 316)  (240 738)  (254 723)

Fair value adjustments — MTM interest rate  (195 438)  69 633  (174 891)  67 326 

Movements in straight lining of leases  (85 743)  (88 308)  (74 965)  (53 365)

Amortisation of finance structure raising fee  9 054  1 472  7 053  1 472 

Amortisation of lease incentives and lease costs  12 719  4 030  (396)  625 

Profit on disposal of associate  —  (5 642)  —  — 

Share-based payment expense  4 747  —  4 747  — 

Share-based payment expense  49 784  —  25 295  — 

Dividend received  (1 906)  —  — 

Forex losses/gains  (19 353)  —  (15 932)  — 

Changes in working capital:

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  84 194  (70 400)  100 087  (86 377)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (101 527)  147 420  (51 752)  137 340 

 603 839  435 300 701  249 220  159 087 

23.1 TAXATION PAID

Balance at beginning of the year  (2 883)  —  —  — 

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss  —  (199)  —  — 

Arising through business combination  —  (2 883)

Balance at end of the year  2 883  2 883  —  — 

 —  (199)  —  — 
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24. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The following associates and loans to associates are presented as held for sale:

Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Investment in associates and related loans:

Oando Wings Development Limited  1 098 672  —  —  — 

Buffalo Mall Naivasha Limited  76 186  —  —  — 

Investment in subsidiaries and related loans:

Abland Diversified Holdings Limited  —  —  2  — 

SB Wings Development Limited  —  —  708 672  — 

 1 174 858  —  708 674  — 

As described in note 5, the group plans to dispose of its 37.10% interest in Oando Wings Development Limited as well as its 50% 
interest in Buffalo Mall Naivasha Limited. The group has agreed terms and conditions and signed a sale agreement with the Mara Delta 
Property Holdings Limited. The Oando Wings transaction is currently subject to various conditions precedent. A material condition being 
the existing shareholders of Oando Wings other than SB Wings must still, in writing, to the satisfaction of Pivotal and Delta Africa, waive 
all pre-emptive, grandfather or similar rights which they may have in respect of SB Wings’ 37.1% shareholding in Oando Wings. The 
directors expect all conditions precedent to be fulfilled within 12 months. The directors of the group expect the fair value less cost to 
sell of the interest in associates, will be higher or equal to the aggregate carrying amount of the related interest in associates. Therefore, 
no fair value loss was recognised in fair value adjustments in the statement of profit and loss in accordance with IFRS 5.

25. BUSINESS COMBINATION
PRIOR YEAR BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

During the prior year the group acquired various entities by way of trust vestings as well as the acquisition of companies. The acquired 
operations contributed revenue of R314.7 million and profit before tax of R271.9 million to the group for the year ended 28 February 
2015. Had the acquired operations been acquired on 1 March 2014, the revenue and profit before tax contribution would have 
been R504 million and R413.5 million for the year ended 28 February 2015. These amounts have been calculated using the group’s 
accounting policies.

Acquiree’s
fair value

R’000

Investment property  4 357 796 

Trade and other receivables  40 860 

Intangible assets  303 589 

Other assets  3 014 

Cash and cash equivalents  56 442 

Total identifiable net assets  4 761 701 

Interest-bearing borrowings  2 649 757 

Trade payables  61 730 

Other liabilities  110 914 

Deferred tax  371 987 

Total identifiable liabilities  3 194 388 

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired  1 567 313 

Goodwill  255 481 

Total purchase consideration  1 822 794 

Purchase consideration paid via issue of ordinary share capital (1 822 794)

Cash and cash equivalents in operations acquired  56 442 

Cash inflows on acquisition  56 442 
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25. BUSINESS COMBINATION CONTINUED

MARCH TRUST VESTINGS

On 1 March 2014, the preference shares in respect of various trusts converted into ordinary shares in line with the relationship agreements 
governing the Trust and the memorandum of incorporation of The Pivotal Fund Limited (“Pivotal”). The trusts are registered in South Africa 
of which Pivotal is the sole capital and income beneficiary. As a result, and in line with the accounting policies of the group, the operations 
of the trusts were consolidated into the group annual financial statements with effect from 1 March 2014.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the trusts as at the acquisition date:

Ballywoods
R 

Carnation
R

Greenstone
R

Hazeldean
R

Valley View
R

Wonderboom
R

Total
R

Investment property  153 000  86 800  77 600  232 000  105 098  642 000  1 296 498 

Trade and other receivables  701  1 005  720  2 490  1 474  8 011  14 401 

Other assets  —  —  —  5  —  3  8 

Cash and cash equivalents  2 279  1 172  4 587  2 850  4 206  4 660  19 754 

Total identifiable net assets  155 980  88 977  82 907  237 345  110 778  654 674  1 330 661 

Interest-bearing borrowings  77 877  51 392  65 687  190 654  50 211  379 053  814 874 

Trade payables  2 791  1 101  4 570  5 826  1 682  13 336  29 306 

Other liabilities  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Total identifiable liabilities  80 668  52 493  70 257  196 480  51 893  392 389  844 180 

Deferred tax on acquisition  14 581  7 067 (220)  5 220  8 953  45 654  81 255 

Total fair value recognised 
on acquisition  60 731  29 417  12 870  35 645  49 932  216 631  405 226 

Fair value recognised 
on acquisition  60 731  29 417  12 870  35 645  49 932  216 631  405 226 

Purchase consideration settled 
by issue of shares (60 731) (29 417) (12 870) (35 645) (49 932) (216 631) (405 226)

Cash and cash equivalent 
in trust acquired  2 279  1 172  4 587  2 850  4 206  4 660  19 754 

Cash inflow on acquisition  2 279  1 172  4 587  2 850  4 206  4 660  19 754 

Goodwill

There are no non-controlling interests in the Trust, and no incidental costs were incurred in connection with the acquisition.
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25. BUSINESS COMBINATION CONTINUED

SEPTEMBER TRUST VESTINGS

On 1 September 2014, the preference shares in respect of various trusts converted into ordinary shares in line with the relationship 
agreements governing the Trust and the memorandum of incorporation of The Pivotal Fund Limited (“Pivotal”). The trusts are registered 
in South Africa of which Pivotal is the sole capital and income beneficiary. As a result, and in line with the accounting policies of the group, 
the operations of the trusts were consolidated into the group annual financial statements with effect from 1 September 2014.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the trusts as at the acquisition date:

Alice Lane
R

Avanti
R

Centurion
Lifestyle

R
Riverside

R
Total

R

Investment property  162 179  149 500  785 000  500 500  1 597 179 

Trade and other receivables  465  174  6 139  4 289  11 067 

Other assets —  3  1 142 —  1 145 

Cash and cash equivalents  2 968 (196) (6 906)  18 378  14 244 

Total identifiable net assets  165 612  149 481  785 375  523 167  1 623 635 

Interest-bearing borrowings  70 860  145 296  593 528  231 297  1 040 981 

Trade payables (1 138)  4 185  4 152  12 506  19 705 

Other liabilities — — — — —

Total identifiable liabilities  69 722  149 481  597 680  243 803  1 060 686 

Deferred tax recognised on acquisition  10 667 (4 966)  28 125  67 540  101 366 

Total fair value recognised on acquisition  85 223  4 966  159 570  211 824  461 583 

Fair value recognised on acquisition  85 223  4 966  159 570  211 824  461 583 

Purchase consideration settled by issue of shares (85 223) (4 966) (159 570) (211 824) (461 583)

Cash and cash equivalent in trust acquired  2 968 (196) (6 906)  18 378  14 244 

Cash inflow on acquisition  2 968 (196) (6 906)  18 378  14 244 

Goodwill

There are no non-controlling interests in the Trust, and no incidental costs were incurred in connection with acquisitions.
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25. BUSINESS COMBINATION CONTINUED

ACQUISITIONS

On 1 September 2014 Pivotal entered into agreements to acquire various subsidiaries. On 8 December 2014 (“effective date”), 
the acquisitions became unconditional with the last of the conditions precedent being met with the listing of Pivotal’s shares on 
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. Goodwill arising from the acquisitions consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale 
expected from combining the operations of the businesses.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired companies as at the effective date:

Bridgeport
R 

Cornerstone
R

Pivotal
Goldfields 1

R
Ptn 113

R
Ptn 3

R
Pivotman 2

R
Total

R

Investment property  275 557  400 107  275 557  470 597  42 301  —  1 464 119 

Trade and other receivables  177  —  1 568  13 288  359  —  15 392 

Other assets  —  —  —  186  2  305 262  305 450 

Cash and cash equivalents  4 002  2 629  2 412  3 006  1 318  9 077  22 444 

Total identifiable net assets  279 736  402 736  279 537  487 077  43 980  314 339  1 807 405 

Interest-bearing borrowings  190 670  208 227  150 137  232 248  12 618  —  793 900 

Trade payables  547  1 242  —  9 698  246  988  12 721 

Other liabilities  14 027  —  45 530  47 466  —  3 891  110 914 

Total identifiable liabilities  205 244  209 469  195 667  289 412  12 864  4 879  917 535 

Deferred tax recognised 
on acquisition  14 432  34 131  12 897  38 253  4 647  85 005  189 365 

Total fair value recognised 
on acquisition  60 060  159 136  70 973  159 412  26 469  224 455  700 505 

Fair value recognised 
on acquisition  60 060  159 136  70 973  159 412  26 469  224 455  700 505 

Purchase consideration settled 
by issue of shares  104 116  198 924  85 730  197 666  33 959  324 405  944 800 

Purchase consideration settled 
in cash  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Purchase consideration settled 
by assuming shareholders loan (11 952)  — (23 541)  —  —  — (35 493)

Cash and cash equivalent 
in trust acquired  4 002  2 629  2 412  3 006  1 318  9 077  22 444 

Cash inflow on acquisition  4 002  2 629  2 412  3 006  1 318  9 077  22 444 

Goodwill recognised  32 104  39 788  37 895  38 254  7 490  99 950  255 481 

1.  Pivotal entered into a sale of shares agreement with the shareholders of Pivotal Goldfields Mall (Pty) Ltd in terms of which Pivotal would acquire 
the remaining 60% of the issued ordinary shares. Pivotal Goldfields (Pty) Limited was an associate up until acquisition date. This transaction 
became unconditional at 8 December 2014. This gave rise to a remeasurement profit of R5.6 million in accordance with the IFRS 3 principles relating 
to step-acquisitions.

2.  Pivotal entered into a sale of shares agreement with the shareholders of Pivotman (Pty) Ltd in terms of which Pivotal acquires 100% of the issued 
ordinary shares in Pivotman. This transaction became unconditional on 8 December 2014.

The identifiable assets and liabilities of Pivotman, measured at fair value, gave rise to an intangible of R303.6 million.

The intangible arising from the acquisition relates to the sole right to manage the Pivotal property portfolio. The intangible was 
valued at R304 million at acquisition. An independent valuation was obtained which used a market norm multiple, applied to the 
earnings calculated in accordance with the management contract between Pivotman (Pty) Ltd and Pivotal.

Additional goodwill of R99 million arose in accordance with the IFRS 3 principles.

There have been no changes to any provisional amounts resulting in any financial effects in the current period that relate to the 
business combinations that were effective in the prior reporting period. The measurement period for the aforementioned business 
combinations is concluded.
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

26. AUDITORS REMUNERATION
Fees — prior year  950 —  950 —

Fees — current year  1 000  900  1 000  575 

Other services *  46  1 369  46  1 369 

 1 996  2 269  1 996  1 945 

* Other services relates to fees paid in respect of the prospectus, as well as other non-audit services provided.

27. OPERATING LEASES — GROUP AS LESSOR
The group has entered into leases on its property portfolio. The Commercial property leases typically have lease terms between three 
and 10 years and include clauses to enable periodic upward reversion of the rental charge according to prevailing market conditions. 
Some leases contain options to break before the end of the lease term.

Lease rentals receivable

Less than
1 year
R’000

Between
2 and 5 years

R’000

Over
5 years

R’000

GROUP  754 966  3 044 835  1 913 259 

COMPANY  318 588  1 699 110  1 546 098 

28. RISK MANAGEMENT
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings (excluding derivative financial liabilities) disclosed 
in notes 11 and 13, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 9, and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed 
capital requirements from the previous year.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash 
flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the group’s financial performance. The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. 
Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (group treasury) under policies approved by the board. Group 
treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the group’s operating units. The board provides 
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of 
excess liquidity.
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

LIQUIDITY RISK

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the 
underlying businesses, group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

The group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The group manages liquidity risk through 
an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of 
discounting is not significant.

Less than
1 year
R’000

Between
1 and 2 years

R’000

Between
2 and 5 years

R’000

Over
5 years

R’000

GROUP

As at February 2016

Borrowings (Including shareholders loans)  820 712  1 254 265  3 847 236  1 878 999 

Derivative financial instruments  472 191  593 299  3 072 497  1 500 000 

Trade and other payables  192 549 

As at February 2015

Borrowings (Including shareholders loans)  544 247  418 945  1 193 455  717 092

Derivative financial instruments  45 429  39 143  74 004  10 070

Trade and other payables  231 338 — — —

COMPANY

As at February 2016

Borrowings (Including shareholders loans)  720 000  1 173 700  3 227 548  1 278 000 

Derivative financial instruments  362 932  570 976  2 746 816  1 500 000 

Trade and other payables  112 611 

As at February 2015

Borrowings (Including shareholders loans)  299 459  183 549  573 765  198 614

Derivative financial instruments  35 249  29 058  56 273  9 961

Trade and other payables  134 337 — — —
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. The group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the group’s long-term debt obligations 
with floating interest rates.

Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the 
group to fair value interest rate risk. Group policy is to maintain approximately 80% of its borrowings in fixed rate instruments. 
During the current and prior year the group’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in the Rand.

The group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration refinancing, 
renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging. Based on these scenarios, the group calculates the impact on profit and 
loss of a defined interest rate shift.

Based on the various scenarios, the group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating to fixed interest rate swaps. 
Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates. Generally, the group 
raises long term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed rates that are lower than those available if the group 
borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under the interest rate swaps, the group agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified 
intervals, the difference between fixed contract rates and floating rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed 
notional amounts. At 29 February 2016, 84% (2015: 81%) of borrowings were fixed through such interest rate swaps.

The analysis below describes reasonably possible movements in interest rates with all other variables held constant, showing the 
impact on profit before tax and equity. The analysis assumes that the change in basis points was effective for the entire financial 
year. It should be noted that the impact of movement in the variable is not necessarily linear:

Increase/(decrease)
in basis points

Effect on
equity
R’000

Effect profit
before tax

R’000

2016

Prime 50 (4 585) 6 369 

Prime (50)  4 585  6 369 

2015

Prime 50 (3 611) (5 016)

Prime (50)  3 611  5 016 
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.

The company only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counterparty. 
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing 
basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses 
the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits 
are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly 
monitored. Tenants are also generally required to pay rentals in advance.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year-end were as follows:

Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Financial instrument

Trade and other receivables  83 603  42 920  33 806  21 203 

Loans receivable  97 226  56 885  1 948 061  1 424 917 

R’000 Total

Neither
due nor

impaired
< 30
days

30 — 60
days

90 — 120
days

> 120
days

Trade and other receivables ageing — 2016

GROUP  83 603  76 515  5 741  202  876  269 

COMPANY  33 806  28 017  4 442  135  808  404 

R’000 Total
< 30
days

30 — 60
days

90 — 120
days

> 120
days

Provision for bad debt —2016

GROUP  1 347 —  202  876  269 

COMPANY  673 —  135  808  404 

R’000 Total

Neither
due nor

impaired
< 30
days

30 — 60
days

90 — 120
days

> 120
days

Trade and other receivables ageing — 2015

GROUP  42 920  36 477  3 340  281  449  2 374 

COMPANY  21 203  18 484  1 461 (122)  312  1 068 

R’000 Total
< 30
days

30 — 60
days

90 — 120
days

> 120
days

Provision for bad debt — 2015

GROUP  426 —  85  184  157 

COMPANY  341 — —  184  157 
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28. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following table shows an analysis of the fair values of financial instruments recognised in the group statement of financial 
position by level of the fair value hierarchy:

R’000 Note
Total fair

value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

GROUP

29 February 2016

Derivatives 12  119 336  119 336 

Investment property 2  11 272 135 — —  11 272 135 

Other financial liabilities 14.1 (49 784) (49 784)

Other investments 5.1.2 57 288 57 288 

28 February 2015

Derivatives 12 (76 101) (76 101)

Investment property 2  9 257 661  9 257 661 

Other financial liabilities 14.1 — —

Other investments 5.1.2 — — — —

COMPANY

29 February 2016

Derivatives 12  121 249  121 249 

Investment property 2  5 960 982  5 960 982 

Other financial liabilities 14.1 (25 295) (25 295)

28 February 2015

Derivatives 12 (53 346) (53 346)

Investment property 2  3 681 433  3 681 433 

Other financial liabilities 14.1 — — — —

* Explanation of the fair value hierarchy:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in the active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2: use of a model with inputs ( other than quoted prices included in level 1) that are directly or indirectly observable market data.

Level 3: use of a model with inputs that are not based on observable market data
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29. RELATED PARTIES
29.1 RELATED PARTIES

Abland is Pivotal’s largest shareholder and strategic development and joint venture partner. Abland provides development opportunities 
to Pivotal on a first right of refusal basis. There is no obligation for Pivotal to accept developments brought by Abland. Abland provides 
development management services to Pivotal. Abland co-owns Abreal Proprietary Limited with Pivotal, which provides property 
management services to Pivotal. Thys Neser and Dave Savage (founders of Pivotal) are both Directors of Pivotal and Abland.

Related parties with whom the company transacted during the year:

Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Abreal (Pty) Ltd
Relationship: Property manager
Related party transactions for the year:
Bookkeeping fees  497  345  364 443  153 796 
Property management fees  32 253  17 848 9 534 2 192

Pivotman (Pty) Ltd
Relationship: Asset manager
Related party transactions for the year:
Asset management fees (prior to internalisation)  —  7 979  —  3 712 455 

Abland (Pty) Ltd
Relationship: Development company

Related party transactions for the year:

Developments and other recoveries  778 695  246 365  727 586  142 839

FHP Managers (Pty) Ltd
Relationship: Shareholder

Related party transactions for the year:

Asset management fees, earned indirectly through FHP 
Managers’ 25% shareholding in Pivotman Proprietary 
Limited (prior to internalisation)  —  1 621  —  599

Abfin (Pty) Ltd
Relationship: Lending company

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan from company  — (33 720)  — (16 583)

Fern Trust
Relationship: Shareholder

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan from Trust  —  1 306  —  — 

Bryanston Place Trust
Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  67 102  75 414 

Interest earned — —  6 613  — 

Ballywoods Trust
Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  85 590  79 115 

Interest earned — —  6 545  — 

135pivotal integrated report 2016

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2016

Notes to the annual financial statements
continued



Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Bridgeport 26 (Pty) Ltd

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to company — —  11 952  11 952 

Farramere Retail Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  27 164  28 873 

Interest earned — —  3 127  — 

Gateway Retail Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  23 925 (8 483)

Hillcrest Precinct Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  75 053  88 103 

Interest earned — —  13 236  — 

Sunninghill Retail Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — — 96 420 96 154

Interest earned — —  10 610  — 

Alice Lane Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  160 954  16 376 

Interest earned — —  19 886  — 

Avanti Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  165 896  160 988 

Interest earned — —  11 521  — 

Carnation Place Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  7 732  5 053 

Centurion Lifestyle Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  177 347  125 106 

Greenstone Motor City Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  67 228  73 031 

Interest earned — —  1 934  — 

29. RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED

29.1 RELATED PARTIES cOntinued
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29. RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED

29.1 RELATED PARTIES cOntinued
Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Hazeldean Retail Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  53 189  45 696 

Valley View Office Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — — (5 861)  3 500 

Wonderboom Junction Retail Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — —  390 691  405 919 

Interest earned — —  35 566  — 

Riverside Office Park Trust

Relationship: Subsidiary

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust — — (27 799) (4 022)

Pivotal Goldfield Mall (Pty) Ltd

Relationship: Subsidiary

Loan to company — — 57 487 49 778

Ptn 113 Weltevreden (Pty) Ltd

Relationship: Subsidiary

Loan to company — —  130 791  115 486 

Interest earned — —  10 668  — 

Pivotal CCF (Pty) Ltd

Relationship: Subsidiary

Loan to company  —  —  220 815  — 

Interest earned  —  —  13 565  — 

Pivotal Global (Pty) Ltd

Relationship: Subsidiary

Loan to company  —  —  56 757  — 

Ptn 3 of Erf 163 Hillcrest (Pty) Ltd

Relationship: Subsidiary

Loan to company  —  —  8 933  — 

Interest earned  —  —  144  — 

Abreal (Pty) Ltd

Relationship: Associate

Loan to company  1 424  —  1 424  — 

Abreal Urban (Pty) Ltd

Relationship: Associate

Loan to company  1 192  —  1 192  — 

Abnormal (Pty) Ltd

Relationship: Subsidiary

Loan to company  934  —  934  — 
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Group Company

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Constantia Call Centre Trust

Relationship: Unvested Trust

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust  —  5 640  —  5 640 

West End Trust

Relationship: Unvested Trust

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan to Trust  3 949  3 949  3 949  3 949 

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

Relationship: Shareholder in FHP Managers 
Proprietary Limited and Standard Bank Properties 
Proprietary Limited which are both shareholders 
in The Pivotal Fund Limited

Related party transactions for the year:

Loan balance at year-end  3 240 536  2 090 894  3 240 536  2 007 299 

Rental received  11 314  2 840  9 183  2 490 

Finance costs  327 503  293 719  327 503  93 129 

Acquisition: Property  34 146  1 358 662  34 146  1 358 662 

Acquisition: Pivotman Pty Ltd  —  81 101  —  81 101 

29. RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED

29.1 RELATED PARTIES cOntinued
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29. RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED

29.2 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

29.2.1 Executive directors

Short-term benefits

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

A Suckerman  1 978 1 076

— Basic salary  1 340 909

— Bonus  464 80

— Benefits  174 87

JR van Niekerk  2 533 1 060

— Basic salary  1 742 903

— Bonus  684 90

— Benefits  107 67

Total  4 511 2 136

Long-term benefits

Refer to note 10.1 for detailed disclosure on the long term share incentive plans. Reconciliation of rights not yet exercised.

CSP SAR Pre-IPO

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000 Total

JR van Niekerk

Opening balance/award — — —  114 549 —  114 549 

Granted during the year  57 750 —  419 633 — —  170 968  648 351 

Vested — (57 559) (56 419) (113 978)

Award closing balance  57 750 —  419 633 —  56 990  114 549  648 922 

A Suckerman

Opening balance/award — — —  62 564 —  62 564 

Granted during the year  44 756 —  325 215 — —  93 841  463 812 

Vested — (31 283) (31 277) (62 560)

Award closing balance  44 756 —  325 215 —  31 281  62 564  463 816 

Total  102 506 —  744 848 —  88 271  177 113  1 112 738 
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29. RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED

29.2 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION cOntinued

29.2.2 Non-executive directors

Non-executive directors — fees for services as directors

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

TA Wixley  270  135 

AD Dixon  230  95 

CH Ewing  225  88 

RH Hurwitz —  30 

WG Lawlor —  30 

JA Mackay *  50  130 

MSB Neser  212  100 

DS Savage  262 —

S Shaw-Taylor **  242  100 

TS Sishuba  170  115 

M Wainer ***  189  128 

Total  1 850  951 

* JA Mackay passed away on 3 June 2015.

** S Shaw-Taylor fees were paid directly to Standard Bank Ltd.

*** M Wainer resigned as non-executive director effective 10 December 2015.

30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Capital commitments in respect of development projects authorised and contracted for but not yet paid, amounted to:

2016
R’000

Retail  971 761 

Commercial  926 447 

Total  1 898 208 

The capital expenditure will be financed from existing borrowing facilities and cash on hand.
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30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES CONTINUED

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT

During the period Pivotal entered into a credit enhancement structure in favour of MPI trust in relation to a development in Parktown 
known as Hill on Empire. The terms of the arrangement are set out below.

In terms of the credit enhancement structure:

1. Pivotal has, provided comfort to Nedbank by concluding a tripartite agreement in terms of which Pivotal will use its best 
commercial endeavours to either remedy a breach under the funding arrangement, or repay the loan, subject to the solvency 
and liquidity test being satisfied;

2. the MPI trust will indemnify and hold Pivotal harmless against any and all claims, losses, liabilities, costs and expenses of 
whatsoever nature, including legal costs, that Pivotal may suffer or incur as a result of providing the credit enhancement, 
in terms of an Indemnity;

3. as security for the Indemnity, the MPI Trust will cede and pledge certain of the Pivotal Shares, of which they are the legal owner, 
in terms of the Cession and Pledge in the occurrence of certain events relating to agreed loan-to-value and letting levels being 
breached; and

4. Pivotal will have the right to acquire the development for the value of the outstanding debt, in the event that a financier 
enforces the credit enhancement, and Pivotal is required to perform its obligations thereunder.

The maximum exposure under the arrangement is R70 million and expires on maturity of the MPI loan facility in 2018. Dave Savage 
and Thys Neser are potential beneficiaries of the MPI Trust.

31. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

31.1 MARA DELTA

Subsequent to 29 February 2016 Pivotal subscribed for an additional 8.8 million Mara Delta Property Holdings Limited (“Mara Delta”) 
shares. In addition, the disposal of Buffalo Mall Naivasha by Pivotal to Mara Delta was approved by Mara Delta shareholders and 
Pivotal’s consideration of 1.7 million Mara Delta shares have been issued. Pivotal now holds approximately 12.5 million Mara Delta 
shares, representing a 12.9% shareholding in Mara Delta.

31.2 POLAND

On 13 May 2016 Pivotal entered into a share sale agreement and a co-investors agreement with Redefine Properties Limited which 
will result in Pivotal acquiring approximately 6.06% of Echo Polska Properties B.V. (“EPP”) for a consideration of €31.07 million. 
EPP owns a €1.18 billion portfolio of prime shopping centres and offices across Poland. The effective date of the transaction was 
30 May 2016.

31.3 GALLERIA

On 16 March 2016 Pivotal acquired and took transfer of a 20% undivided share in the development property known as “Galleria” for 
a purchase consideration of R100 million. Set in the heart of Rosebank, Galleria will be a mixed use development of about 90 000m2 
incorporating offices, retail, a hotel, serviced apartments and residential apartments.

The directors are not aware of any other significant events that occurred in the period between 29 February 2016 and the date of 
this report that will have a material effect on the company’s results or financial position as presented in these financial statements.
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32. SEGMENTAL REPORT
The group determines and presents operating segments based on information that is provided internally to the chief operating 
decision-maker, namely the chief executive officer. Segment results that are reported to the chief operating decision-maker include 
items directly attributable to a segment, as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. On a primary basis, the operations 
are organised into the following business segments — retail, commercial and other. The chief operating decision-maker, however, 
assesses each investment property on an individual basis in making decisions about its performance. Any capital expenditure 
relating to investment properties will be accounted for as under note 1 (Investment properties) and will be shown separately 
under note 2 (Investment property) of the financial statements.

Retail
R’000

Commercial
R’000

Other
R’000

Total
R’000

Year ended 29 February 2016

Revenue, excluding straight-line rental income adjustment  357 229  409 672  10 903  777 804 

Straight-line rental income  22 956  60 297  2 490  85 743 

Other income  —  —  21 259  21 259 

Total income  380 185  469 969  34 652  884 806 

Direct property operating expenses (76 643) (46 810) (894) (124 347)

Administration and corporate costs  —  — (63 484) (63 484)

Amortisation of intangibles  —  — (14 800) (14 800)

Changes in fair value  131 538  297 134  201 572  630 244 

Income from associates  —  —  216 296  216 296 

Net finance charges  —  — (382 984) (382 984)

Segmental profit before taxation  435 080  720 293 (9 642)  1 145 731 

Investment properties  4 371 557  6 297 028  603 549  11 272 134 

Other assets  96 216  89 572  2 299 974  2 485 762 

Total assets  4 467 773  6 386 600  2 902 233  13 757 896 

Total liabilities  1 156 314  1 453 242  4 657 404  7 266 960 

Year ended 28 February 2015

Revenue, excluding straight-line lease income adjustment  268 789  187 501  4 066  460 356 

Straight-line rental income  21 012  67 111  185  88 308 

Other income  442  64  14 871  15 377 

Total income  290 243  254 676  19 122  564 041 

Direct property operating expenses (52 079) (22 417) (2 601) (77 097)

Administration and corporate costs (4 789) (16 273) (8 726) (29 788)

Amortisation of intangibles  —  — (7 400) (7 400)

Changes in fair value  131 242  337 483 (34 042)  434 683 

Income from associates  —  —  —  — 

Net finance charges  —  — (263 612) (263 612)

Segmental profit before taxation  364 617  553 469 (297 259)  620 827 

Investment properties  3 916 740  5 194 221  146 700  9 257 661 

Other assets  54 513  68 463  929 517  1 052 493 

Total assets  3 971 253  5 262 684  1 076 217  10 310 154 

Total liabilities  1 650 553  1 773 522  2 036 575  5 460 650 
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SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
Number of

shareholdings
% of total

shareholdings
Number

of shares
% of

issued capital

1 — 1 000 262 22.63 111 739 0.03

1 001 — 10 000 405 34.97 1 412 835 0.43

10 001 — 100 000 249 21.50 8 809 551 2.68

100 001 — 1 000 000 164 14.16 57 597 686 17.53

Over 1 000 000 78 6.74 260 638 300 79.33

Total 1 158 100.00 328 570 111 100.00

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Number of

shareholdings
% of total

shareholdings
Number

of shares
% of

issued capital

Private companies 84 7.25 68 717 613 20.91

Collective investment schemes 114 9.84 64 331 591 19.58

Trusts 181 15.63 49 775 255 15.15

Assurance companies 25 2.16 49 678 740 15.12

Retirement benefit funds 136 11.74 36 444 882 11.09

Organs of state 3 0.26 19 822 305 6.03

Public companies 3 0.26 14 322 633 4.36

Retail shareholders 525 45.34 7 703 644 2.34

Managed funds 24 2.07 5 986 959 1.82

Hedge funds 6 0.52 4 102 757 1.25

Close corporations 10 0.86 2 487 560 0.76

Stockbrokers and nominees 9 0.78 2 066 236 0.63

Custodians 4 0.35 1 785 095 0.54

Foundations and charitable funds 17 1.47 776 145 0.24

Insurance companies 3 0.26 296 758 0.09

Public entities 3 0.26 145 997 0.04

Investment partnerships 7 0.60 65 725 0.02

Medical aid funds 3 0.26 31 372 0.01

Treasury 1 0.09 28 844 0.01

Total 1 158 100.00 328 570 111 100.00

SHAREHOLDER TYPE
Number of

shareholdings
% of total

shareholdings
Number

of shares
% of

issued capital

Non-public shareholders 34 2.94 86 624 140 26.36

Directors and associates 21 1.81 41 972 851 12.77

MMI (beneficial holders >10%) 12 1.04 44 622 445 13.58

Treasury 1 0.09 28 844 0.01

Public shareholders 1 124 97.06 241 945 971 73.64

Total 1 158 100.00 328 570 111 100.00

143pivotal integrated report 2016

ANALYSIS OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2016

Shareholder analysis



FUND MANAGERS WITH A HOLDING GREATER THAN 3% OF THE ISSUED SHARES

FUND MANAGER
Number

of shares
% of

issued capital

Momentum Investments 43 932 359 13.37

Maestro Investment Management 38 813 685 11.81

Public Investment Corporation 16 566 525 5.04

Stanlib Asset Management 15 805 684 4.81

Coronation Fund Managers 14 336 274 4.36

Sesfikile Capital 12 168 736 3.70

Sasol Pension Fund Management 11 280 541 3.43

Ellerine Brothers 10 712 640 3.26

Total 163 616 444 49.80

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS WITH A HOLDING GREATER THAN 3% OF THE ISSUED SHARES

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Number

of shares
% of

issued capital

MMI 44 622 445 13.58

Government Employees Pension Fund 17 239 111 5.25

Standard Bank 14 251 220 4.34

Ellerine Brothers 13 390 800 4.08

Sasol 11 742 941 3.57

Path Trust 11 535 356 3.51

Stanlib 10 745 291 3.27

Coronation Fund Managers 10 280 729 3.13

Total 133 807 893 40.72

Total number of shareholdings 1 158

Total number of shares in issue 328 570 111

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

Opening price 03 March 2015 R18.50 

Closing price 29 February 2016 R14.99 

Closing high for period R25.10 

Closing low for period R14.70 

Number of shares in issue 328 570 111

Volume traded during period 93 451 978

Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 28.44

Rand value traded during the period R1 944 572 833 

Price/earnings ratio as at 29 February 2016 22.2624

Earnings yield as at 29 February 2016(%) 4.4919

Dividend yield as at 29 February 2016(%) 0.0000

Market capitalisation at 29 February 2016 R4 925 265 964 
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Event Date

Financial year-end 29 February 2016

Year-end results published 25 May 2016

Annual general meeting 31 October 2016

Interim results published 31 October 2016

Financial year-end 28 February 2017
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The Pivotal Fund Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 2005/030215/06)
JSE share code: PIV ISIN: ZAE000196440
(“Pivotal” or “the company” or “the group”)

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of 
the company’s shareholders will be held at the offices of the 
company, Abcon House, Fairway Office Park, 52 Grosvenor 
Road, Bryanston on Monday, 31 October 2016 at 10h00 
(“the annual general meeting” or “the AGM”).

Purpose
The purpose of the meeting is to present, consider and adopt 
the financial statements of the company for the year ended 
29 February 2016; to transact the business set out in this notice 
of annual general meeting (“AGM notice”) of shareholders of 
a company including the re-appointment of the auditors and 
re-election of retiring directors; by considering and, if deemed fit, 
passing, with or without modification, the ordinary and special 
resolutions hereunder; and to transact such other business as 
may be transacted at the annual general meeting.

Record date, 
attendance and voting

2016

Record date in order to be eligible 
to receive the AGM notice

Friday, 26 August

AGM notice posted to shareholders Wednesday, 31 August

Last date to trade in order to 
be eligible to vote at the annual 
general meeting

Tuesday, 18 October

Record date in order to be eligible 
to vote at the annual general meeting

Friday, 21 October

Last day to lodge forms of proxy 
for the annual general meeting 
(by 10h00)

Thursday, 27 October

Annual general meeting (at 10h00) Monday, 31 October

Results of the annual general 
meeting released on SENS 

Monday, 31 October

 1.  Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the annual 
general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, 
speak and vote thereat in their stead. A proxy need not 
be a member of the company. A form of proxy, in which 
are set out the relevant instructions for its completion, 
is enclosed for the use of a certificated shareholder or 
own-name registered dematerialised shareholder who 
wishes to be represented at the annual general meeting. 
Completion of a form of proxy will not preclude such 
shareholder from attending and voting (in preference to 
that shareholder’s proxy) at the annual general meeting.

 2.  The instrument appointing a proxy and the authority (if 
any) under which it is signed must reach the company’s 
transfer secretaries at the address given below by 
not later than 10h00 on Thursday, 27 October 2016. 
Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed to the 
chairman of the annual general meeting at the annual 
general meeting at any time prior to the commencement 
of the annual general meeting.

 3.  Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name 
registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish to 
attend the annual general meeting in person will need 
to request their Central Securities Depository Participant 
(“CSDP”) or broker to provide them with the necessary letter 
of representation in terms of the custody agreement 
entered into between such shareholders and the CSDP 
or broker.

 4.  Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name 
registered dematerialised shareholders, who are unable 
to attend the annual general meeting and who wish to be 
represented thereat, must provide their CSDP or broker 
with their voting instructions in terms of the custody 
agreement entered into between them and the CSDP 
or broker in the manner and time stipulated therein.

 5.  Shareholders present in person, by proxy or by 
authorised representative shall, on a show of hands, 
have one vote each and, on a poll, will have one vote 
in respect of each share held.

 6.  In terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 as amended 
(“Companies Act”), any shareholder or proxy who intends 
to attend or participate at the annual general meeting must 
be able to present reasonably satisfactory identification 
at the meeting for such shareholder or proxy to attend 
and participate at the annual general meeting. An 
identification document issued by the South African 
Department of Home Affairs, a driver’s license or a valid 
passport will be accepted at the annual general meeting 
as sufficient identification.

Agenda
 1.  Presentation and consideration of the annual financial 

statements of Pivotal, including the reports of the 
directors and the audit and risk committee for the 
year ended 29 February 2016. The complete financial 
statements for the year ended 29 February 2016, 
together with both reports are available for inspection 
at the registered office of the company, Abcon House, 
Fairway Office Park, 52 Grosvenor Road, Bryanston 
and on the website www.pivotalfund.co.za; and

 2.  To consider and, if deemed fit, approve, with or 
without modification, the following ordinary and 
special resolutions:
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  Note

   In order for any of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 
to 9 and ordinary resolution number 11 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the voting rights 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy must be exercised in favour thereof.

   For any of the special resolutions numbers 1 to 3 to be 
adopted, at least 75% of the voting rights exercised on 
each such special resolution must be exercised in favour 
thereof.

   In order for ordinary resolution number 10 to be adopted, 
the support of at least 75% of the voting rights exercisable 
by shareholders, present in person or by proxy must be 
exercised in favour thereof.

Ordinary business
1.  Ordinary resolution number 1: 

Confirmation of the appointment of 
Saki Macozoma

   To ratify the appointment of Saki Macozoma who was 
appointed as independent chairman of the company 
with effect from 20 May 2016.

   An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of 
Saki Macozoma may be viewed on page 42 of 
this integrated report.

  Reason for ordinary resolution number 1

   The reason for ordinary resolution number 1 is that 
article 26.4 of the memorandum of incorporation of the 
company and, to the extent applicable, the Companies 
Act, requires that director appointments be approved 
by shareholders at the next AGM.

2.  Ordinary resolution number 2: 
Re-election of Tony Dixon

   “Resolved that Tony Dixon, who retires by rotation 
in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the 
company and who, being eligible, offers himself for 
re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as director 
of the company.”

   An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of 
Tony Dixon may be viewed on page 45 of this 
integrated report.

   The remuneration and nominations committee 
has considered Tony Dixon’s past performance and 
contribution to the company and in, accordance with 
article 26.12 of the memorandum of incorporation of 
the company, recommends that Tony Dixon is re-elected 
as a director of the company.

3.  Ordinary resolution number 3: 
Re-election of Chris Ewing

   “Resolved that Chris Ewing, who retires by rotation 
in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the 
company and who, being eligible, offers himself for 
re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as director 
of the company.”

   An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of 
Chris Ewing may be viewed on page 45 of this 
integrated report.

   The remuneration and nominations committee has 
considered Chris Ewing’s past performance and 
contribution to the company and in, accordance with 
article 26.12 of the memorandum of incorporation 
of the company, recommends that Chris Ewing is 
re-elected as a director of the company.

   Reason for ordinary resolution numbers 2 and 3

   The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers 2 to 3 is that 
article 26.11 of the memorandum of incorporation of the 
company requires that one-third of the non-executive 
directors shall retire at the annual general meeting and, if 
eligible, may offer themselves for re-election as directors.

4.  Ordinary resolution number 4: 
Re-appointment of the auditors

   “Resolved that Grant Thornton (Jhb) Inc., together 
with Paul Badrick as the designated auditor, be and are 
hereby appointed as the independent auditors of the 
company from the conclusion of this annual general 
meeting until the conclusion of the next annual general 
meeting of the company.”

  Reason for ordinary resolution number 4

   In accordance with section 94(7) of the Companies 
Act, the audit and risk committee has nominated for 
appointment as auditors of the company under section 90 
of the Companies Act, Grant Thornton (Jhb) Inc.

   The reason for ordinary resolution number 4 is that the 
company, being a public listed company, must have its 
financial results audited and in accordance with section 90 
of the Companies Act such auditor must be appointed or 
re-appointed each year at the annual general meeting of 
the company as required by the Companies Act.

5.  Ordinary resolution number 5: 
Appointment of Tony Dixon as a member 
to the audit and risk committee

   “Resolved that, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies 
Act, Tony Dixon, an independent non-executive director, 
be and is hereby elected as chairman and a member of 
the company’s audit and risk committee, with effect from 
the conclusion of this annual general meeting.”
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   An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of 
Tony Dixon may be viewed on page 45 of this 
integrated report.

6.  Ordinary resolution number 6: 
Appointment of Tom Wixley as a member 
to the audit and risk committee

   “Resolved that, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies 
Act, Tom Wixley, an independent non-executive director, 
be and is hereby elected a member of the company’s 
audit and risk committee, with effect from the conclusion 
of this annual general meeting.”

   An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of 
Tom Wixley may be viewed on page 42 of this 
integrated report.

7.   Ordinary resolution number 7: 
Appointment of Chris Ewing as a member 
to the audit and risk committee

   “Resolved that, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies 
Act, Chris Ewing, an independent non-executive director, 
be and is hereby elected a member of the company’s 
audit and risk committee, with effect from the conclusion 
of this annual general meeting.”

   An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of 
Chris Ewing may be viewed on page 45 of this 
integrated report.

  Reason for ordinary resolution numbers 5 to 7

   The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 5 to 7 is 
that the company, being a public listed company, must 
appoint an audit committee as prescribed by sections 
66(2) and 94(2) of the Companies Act, which also 
requires that the members of such audit committee 
be appointed, or re-appointed, as the case may be, 
at each annual general meeting of the company.

8.  Ordinary resolution number 8: 
Endorsement of remuneration 
philosophy

   To endorse the company’s remuneration philosophy, 
as set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 70 to 
72 of the integrated report, by way of a non-binding 
advisory note.

  Reason for ordinary resolution number 8

   The reason for ordinary resolution number 8 is that 
King III recommends that the remuneration policy of the 
company be endorsed through a non-binding advisory 
vote by shareholders at the annual general meeting 
of a company.

9.  Ordinary resolution number 9: 
Unissued shares placed under the 
control of the directors

   “Resolved that the authorised and unissued ordinary 
shares in the company, be and are hereby placed 
under the control of the directors of the company 
as contemplated in clause 7.2 of the company’s 
memorandum of incorporation, and that the directors 
of the company be and are hereby authorised to allot, 
issue and otherwise dispose of all or part thereof at 
such time or times to such person or persons or bodies 
corporate and upon such terms and conditions as the 
directors of the company may from time to time deem 
fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the 
memorandum of incorporation of the company, and 
the provisions of the Listings Requirements of the JSE 
Limited (“JSE”) (“the JSE Listings Requirements”).

  Reason for ordinary resolution number 9

   The reason for ordinary resolution number 9 is to place 
the authorised but unissued share capital of the company 
under the control of the directors of the company.

10.  Ordinary resolution number 10: 
General authority to issue shares 
for cash

   “Resolved that, the directors of the company be and are 
hereby authorised by way of a general authority, to allot 
and issue any of its unissued shares for cash, subject to 
the provisions of the Companies Act, the memorandum 
of incorporation of the company and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, provided that:

 › the approval shall be valid until the date of the next 
annual general meeting of the company, provided it 
shall not extend beyond fifteen months from the date 
of this resolution;

 › the general issues of shares for cash in the aggregate 
in any one financial year may not exceed 32 888 496 
shares, being 10% of the company’s issued share capital 
of that class. Accordingly, any shares issued under this 
authority prior to the authority lapsing shall be deducted 
from the 32 888 496 shares the company is authorised 
to issue in terms of this authority for the purpose of 
determining the remaining number of shares that may 
be issued in terms of this authority;
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 › in the event of sub-division or consolidation of shares 
prior to this authority lapsing, the existing authority 
shall be adjusted accordingly to represent the same 
allocation ratio;

 › in determining the price at which an issue of shares 
will be made in terms of this authority the maximum 
discount permitted will be 10% of the weighted 
average traded price of such shares, as determined 
over the 30 trading days prior to the date that the 
price of the issue is agreed between the company and 
the party subscribing for the shares. The JSE should 
be consulted for a ruling if the securities have not 
traded in such 30 business day period;

 › any such issue will only be made to public shareholders 
as defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.26 of the JSE 
Listings Requirements and not to related parties; and

 › any such issue will only be securities of a class already 
in issue or, if this is not the case, will be limited to such 
securities or rights that are convertible into a class 
already in issue.

 › an announcement giving full details, including the 
number of shares issued, the average discount to the 
weighted average traded price of the shares over 
the 30 business days prior to the date that the issue 
is agreed in writing and an explanation, including 
supporting documentation (if any) of the intended 
use of the funds will be published after any issue 
representing, on a cumulative basis within any one 
financial year, 5% or more of the number of shares 
in issue prior to such issue”

  The reason for ordinary resolution number 10

   The reason for this resolution is to obtain a general 
authority from shareholders to issue shares for cash 
in compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements.

  Note

   In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, this ordinary 
resolution requires the approval of not less than 75% of 
the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by 
proxy and entitled to vote at this annual general meeting.

11.  Ordinary Resolution Number 11: 
Authority to action

   “Resolved that any one director of the company and/or 
the company secretary of the company be and is hereby 
authorised to do all such things and sign all such documents 
as deemed necessary for or incidental to the implementation 
of the ordinary and special resolutions as set out in this 
notice convening the annual general meeting at which 
these resolutions will be considered and which are passed 
by the shareholders in accordance with and subject to 
the terms thereof.”

  The reason for ordinary resolution number 11

   The reason for ordinary resolution number 11 is to 
ensure that the resolutions voted favourably upon are 
duly implemented through the delegation of powers 
provided for in terms of article 26.14 of the company’s 
memorandum of incorporation.

remuneraTion of non-execuTive direcTors

Category Recommended remuneration

Chairman R214 000 annual retainer

Board member R160 500 annual retainer

Audit and risk committee

Chairman R85 600 annual retainer

Member R53 500 annual retainer

Remuneration and nominations committee

Chairman R26 750 annual retainer

Member R21 400 annual retainer

Investment committee

Chairman R107 000 annual retainer

Member R80 250 annual retainer

Social and ethics committee

Chairman R26 750 annual retainer

Member R21 400 annual retainer
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12.  Special resolution number 1: 
Remuneration of non-executive directors

   “Resolved that the remuneration payable to the 
non-executive directors be approved in accordance with 
the table set out on page 149 of this notice with effect 
from this annual general meeting until the next annual 
general meeting to be held in 2017.

  Reasons for and effect of special resolution number 1

   The reason for the proposed special resolution, is to 
comply with section 66(9) of the Companies Act, which 
requires the approval of directors fees prior to the 
payment of such fees.

   The effect of special resolution number 1 is that the 
company will be able to pay its non-executive directors 
for the services they render to the company as directors 
without requiring further shareholder approval until the 
next annual general meeting.

13.  Special resolution number 2: 
Financial assistance to related and 
inter-related companies

   “Resolved that the board of directors of the group be 
and is hereby authorised in terms of section 45(3)(a)
(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval (which 
approval will be in place for a period of two years from 
the date of adoption of this special resolution number 2), 
to authorise the group to provide any direct or indirect 
financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein 
have the meaning attributed to such term in section 
45(1) of the Companies Act) that the board may deem 
fit to any related or inter-related company of the 
group (“related” and “inter-related” will herein have the 
meanings attributed to those terms in section 2 of the 
Companies Act), on the terms and conditions and for the 
amounts that the board of directors may determine and 
provided that in as much as the company’s provision of 
financial assistance to related or inter-related companies 
will at any and all times be in excess of one-tenth of 
1% of the company’s net worth, the company hereby 
provides notice to its shareholders of that fact.”

   Notice in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act 
in respect of special resolution number 2

   Notice is hereby given to shareholders of the company 
in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act of 
a resolution adopted by the board authorising the 
company to provide such direct or indirect financial 
assistance as specified in the special resolution above:

  a)  by the time that this notice of annual general 
meeting is delivered to shareholders of the company, 
the board will have adopted a resolution (“section 
45 board resolution”) authorising the company to 
provide, at any time and from time to time during 
the period of two years commencing on the date on 
which the special resolution is adopted, any direct 
or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in 
section 45 of the Companies Act to any one or more 
related or inter-related companies or corporations 
of the company and/or to any one or more members 
of any such related or inter-related company or 
corporation and/or to any one or more persons related 
to any such company or corporation;

  b)  the section 45 board resolution will be effective 
only if and to the extent that the special resolution 
under the heading “special resolution number 2” 
is adopted by the shareholders of the company, 
and the provision of any such direct or indirect 
financial assistance by the company, pursuant to 
such resolution, will always be subject to the board 
being satisfied that (i) immediately after providing 
such financial assistance, the company will satisfy the 
solvency and liquidity test as referred to in section 
45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, and that (ii) the terms 
under which such financial assistance is to be given 
are fair and reasonable to the company as referred 
to in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act; and

  c)  in as much as the section 45 board resolution 
contemplates that such financial assistance will in 
the aggregate exceed one–tenth of one percent of 
the company’s net worth at the date of adoption of 
such resolution, the company hereby provides notice 
of the section 45 board resolution to shareholders 
of the company.

  Reason for and effect of special resolution number 2

   The reason for and the effect of special resolution 
number 2 is to provide a general authority to the board 
of directors of the group for the group to grant direct 
or indirect financial assistance to any company forming 
part of the group, including in the form of loans or the 
guaranteeing of their debts.
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14.  Special resolution number 3: 
Authority to repurchase shares 
by the company

   “Resolved that as a special resolution that the company 
and its subsidiaries be and is hereby authorised, as 
a general approval, to repurchase any of the shares 
issued by the company, upon such terms and conditions 
and in such amounts as the directors may from time to 
time determine, but subject to the provisions of section 
46 and 48 of the Companies Act, the memorandum 
of incorporation of the company and the JSE Listings 
Requirements namely that:

 ›  the general repurchase of the shares may only be 
implemented through the order book of the JSE and 
done without any prior understanding or arrangement 
between the company and the counterparty;

 ›  this general authority shall only be valid until the next 
annual general meeting of the company, provided that 
it shall not extend beyond 15 months from the date of 
this resolution;

 › the general authority to repurchase is limited to a 
maximum of 20% in any one financial year (or 10% 
where the repurchase is affected by a subsidiary) 
of the company’s issued share capital at the time 
the authority is granted;

 › a resolution has been passed by the board of 
directors approving the purchase, that the company 
has satisfied the solvency and liquidity test as defined 
in the Companies Act and that since the solvency 
and liquidity test was applied there have been no 
material changes to the financial position or required 
shareholder spread of the group;

 › the general repurchase is authorised by the company’s 
memorandum of incorporation, or where the repurchase 
is affected by a subsidiary, that subsidiary company’s 
memorandum of incorporation;

 › repurchases must not be made at a price more than 
10% above the weighted average of the market value 
of the shares for five business days immediately 
preceding the date that the transaction is effected. 
The JSE should be consulted for a ruling if the 
applicants securities have not traded in such five 
business day period;

 › the company may at any point in time only appoint 
one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on the 
company’s behalf;

 › the company and its subsidiaries may not effect a 
repurchase during any prohibited period as defined in 
terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, unless there 
is a repurchase programme in place as contemplated 
in terms of 5.72(g) of the JSE Listings Requirements;

 › an announcement must be published as soon as 
the company has acquired shares constituting, on 
a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of shares in 
issue prior to the acquisition, pursuant to which the 
aforesaid 3% threshold is reached, containing full 
details thereof, as well as for each 3% in aggregate 
of the initial number of shares acquired thereafter;

  Reason and effect of special resolution number 3

   The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 
is to grant the directors a general authority in terms of 
its memorandum of incorporation and the JSE Listings 
Requirements for the acquisition by the company and/or 
its subsidiaries of shares issued by it on the basis 
reflected in the special resolution.

   The following additional information, which appears 
elsewhere in the integrated report, is provided in terms 
of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements for 
purposes of special resolution number 3:

  Major shareholders — page 144

  Capital structure of the company — note 10

  Directors’ responsibility statement

   The directors whose names appear on pages 42 to 45 
of the integrated report of which this notice forms part, 
collectively and individually accept full responsibility 
for the accuracy of the information pertaining to this 
special resolution and certify that, to the best of their 
knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have 
been omitted which would make any statement false or 
misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain 
such facts have been made and that the special resolution 
contains all information required by the Companies Act 
and the JSE Listings Requirements.

  Material changes

   Other than the facts and developments reported on in 
the integrated report of which this notice forms part, 
there have been no material changes in the affairs or 
financial position of the company and its subsidiaries 
since the date of signature of the audit report for the 
financial year ended 29 February 2016 and up to the 
date of this notice.
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Other business
To transact such other business as may be transacted at an 
annual general meeting or raised by shareholders with or 
without advance notice to the company.

Quorum
A quorum for the purposes of considering the resolutions 
above shall consist of three shareholders of the company 
personally present (and if the shareholder is a body 
corporate, it must be represented) and entitled to vote at 
the annual general meeting. In addition, a quorum shall 
comprise 25% of all voting rights entitled to be exercised 
by shareholders in respect of the resolutions above.

Electronic participation
Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the annual 
general meeting by way of telephone conference call. 
Shareholders or their proxies who wish to participate in the 
annual general meeting via the teleconference facility will 
be required to advise the company thereof by no later than 
10h00 on Thursday, 27 October 2016 by submitting, by email 
to the financial director at aaron.suckerman@pivotalfund.co.za 

or by fax to be faxed to 011 510 9990, for the attention of 
the financial director relevant contact details including email 
address, cellular number and landline, as well as full details of 
the shareholder’s title to the shares issued by the company and 
proof of identity, in the form of copies of identity documents 
and share certificates (in the case of certificated shareholders), 
and (in the case of dematerialised shareholders) written 
confirmation from the shareholder’s CSDP confirming the 
shareholder’s title to the dematerialised shares. Upon receipt 
of the required information, the shareholder concerned will 
be provided with a secure code and instructions to access the 
electronic communication during the annual general meeting.

Shareholders who wish to participate in the annual general 
meeting by way of telephone conference call must note 
that they will not be able to vote during the annual general 
meeting. Such shareholders, should they wish to have their 
vote counted at the annual general meeting, must, to the 
extent applicable: (i) complete the form of proxy; or (ii) contact 
their CSDP or broker, in both instances, as set out above.

By order of the board

JUBA Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd 
Company secretary

30 August 2016
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The Pivotal Fund Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 2005/030215/06)
JSE share code: PIV ISIN: ZAE000196440
(“Pivotal” or “the company” or “the group”)

For use by shareholders of the company holding certificated shares and/or dematerialised shareholders who have elected “own name” registration, 
nominee companies of Central Securities Depository Participant’s (“CSDP”) and brokers’ nominee companies, registered as such at the close of business on 
Friday, 21 October 2016 (the “voting record date”), at the annual general meeting to be held at the offices of the company, Abcon House, Fairway Office Park, 
52 Grosvenor Road, Bryanston on Monday, 31 October 2016 at 10h00 (the “annual general meeting”) or any postponement or adjournment thereof.

If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised shareholders, other than with 
“own name” registration, should provide instructions to their appointed CSDP or broker in the form as stipulated in the agreement entered into between 
the shareholder and the CSDP or broker.

I/We  (please print name in full)

of  (address)

being a shareholder/s of Pivotal, holding  shares in the company hereby appoint:

1.  or, failing him/her,

2.  or, failing him/her,

3.  or failing him/her,

4. the chairman of the annual general meeting,

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting and at any adjournment thereof and to speak and act for 
me/us and, on a poll, vote on my/our behalf.

My/our proxy shall vote as follows: Number of shares

In favour of Against Abstain

To consider the presentation of the annual financial statements for the year ended 29 February 2016

Ordinary resolution number 1: 
Confirmation of the appointment of Saki Macozoma as independent chairman of the company

Ordinary resolution number 2: To re-elect Tony Dixon as a director of the company

Ordinary resolution number 3: To re-elect Chris Ewing as a director of the company

Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-appointment of auditors

Ordinary resolution number 5: Appointment of Tony Dixon as chairman and member to the audit and risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 6: Appointment of Tom Wixley as a member to the audit and risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 7: Appointment of Chris Ewing as a member to the audit and risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 8: Endorsement of remuneration philosophy

Ordinary resolution number 9: Placing of unissued shares under the directors’ control

Ordinary resolution number 10: General authority to issue shares for cash

Ordinary resolution number 11: Authority to action

Special resolution number 1: Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration

Special resolution number 2: Financial assistance to related and inter-related companies

Special resolution number 3: Authority to repurchase shares by the company

(indicate instruction to proxy by way of a cross in the space provided above)

Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

Signed this  day of  2016

Signature 

Assisted by me (where applicable) 

(State capacity and full name) 

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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 1.  This form of proxy should only be used by 
shareholders holding certificated shares and/or 
dematerialised shareholders who have elected “own 
name” registration, nominee companies of CSDP’s and 
brokers’ nominee companies.

 2.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the 
names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s 
choice in the space/s provided, with or without deleting 
“the chairman of the meeting”, but any such deletion 
must be initialled by the shareholder. The person whose 
name stands first on the form of proxy and who is 
present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy 
to those whose names follow.

 3.  A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be 
indicated by means of a tick or a cross or by the 
insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable 
by that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. 
However, if you wish to cast your votes in respect of a 
lesser number of shares than you own in the company, 
insert the number of shares in respect of which you 
desire to vote. If: (i) a shareholder fails to comply with 
the above; or (ii) gives contrary instructions in relation 
to any matter; or any additional resolution(s) which are 
properly put before the meeting; or (iii) the resolution 
listed in the proxy form is modified or amended, the 
shareholder will be deemed to authorise the chairman 
of the annual general meeting, if the chairman is the 
authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the resolutions at 
the annual general meeting, or any other proxy to vote 
or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting 
as he/she deems fit, in respect of all the shareholder’s 
votes exercisable thereat. If, however the shareholder 
has provided further written instructions which 
accompany this form of proxy and which indicate how 
the proxy should vote or abstain from voting in any of 
the circumstances referred to in (i) to (iii) above, then 
the proxy shall comply with those instructions.

 4.  Dematerialised shareholders who wish to attend the 
meeting or to vote by way of proxy, must contact 
their CSDP or broker who will furnish them with the 
necessary letter of representation to attend the meeting 
or to be represented thereat by proxy. This must be 
done in terms of the custody agreement between the 
member and his/her CSDP or broker.

 5.  Forms of proxy must be lodged at the company’s 
transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 
2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) so as 
to be received by not later than 10h00 on Thursday, 
27 October 2016. Alternatively, the form of proxy may 
be handed to the chairman of the annual general meeting 
at the annual general meeting or at any time prior to the 
commencement of the annual general meeting.

 6.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall 
not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending 
the meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat 
to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

 7.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the 
person signing this form of proxy in a representative or 
other legal capacity must be attached to this form of proxy 
unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer 
secretaries or waived by the chairman of the meeting.

 8.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy 
must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

 9.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject 
or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/
or received, other than in compliance with these notes 
provided that, in respect of acceptances, he is satisfied 
as to the manner in which the shareholder(s) concerned 
wish(es) to vote.

 10.  Where there are joint holders of shares:

  (i) any one holder may sign the form of proxy; and

  (ii)  the vote of the senior (for that purpose seniority 
will be determined by the order in which the names 
of shareholders appear in the register of members) 
who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) 
will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the 
other joint holder(s) of shares.

 11.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian 
unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been registered by the 
company’s transfer secretaries.

 12.  On a show of hands, every shareholder present in 
person or represented by proxy shall have only one 
vote, irrespective of the number of shares he/she holds 
or represents.

 13.  On a poll, every shareholder present in person or 
represented by proxy shall have one vote for every 
share held by such shareholder.

 14.  This form of proxy may be used at any adjournment or 
postponement of the annual general meeting, including 
any postponement due to a lack of quorum, unless 
withdrawn by the shareholder.

 15.  The aforegoing notes contain a summary of the relevant 
provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, 
as required in terms of that section.
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“Abland”
Abland (Pty) Ltd

“Abreal”
Abreal (Pty) Ltd

“B-BBEE”
Broad-based black economic empowerment

“CDP”
Carbon Disclosure Project

“Companies Act”
Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended

“Company”
The Pivotal Fund Limited

“Delta Africa”
Delta Africa Property Holdings Limited

“Echo”
Echo Investment S.A.

“EPP”
Echo Polska Properties B.V.

“EXCO”
Executive committee of Pivotal

“GBCSA”
Green Building Council of South Africa

“GHG”
Greenhouse gases

“GDP”
Gross domestic product

“GRA”
Gross rentable area

“IASB”
International Accounting Standards Board

“IFRS”
International Financial Reporting Standards

“IT”
Information technology

“JSE”
JSE Limited

“JSE Listings Requirements”
Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited

“JUBA”
JUBA Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd

“King III”
King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2009

“KPI”
Key performance indicator

“KWh”
Kilowatt hour

“Mara Delta”
Mara Delta Property Holdings Limited

“OHS”
Occupational health and safety

“NAV”
Net asset value

“NAVPS”
Net asset value per share

“Pivotal”
The Pivotal Fund Limited

“Pivotman”
Pivotman (Pty) Ltd

“SAICA”
South African Institute of Chartered Accountants

“SAPOA”
South African Property Owners Association

“the board”
The board of directors of Pivotal

“tCO2e”
Tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent

“USD”
United States dollar

“ZAR”
South African rand
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the pivotal fund limited 
(“Pivotal” or “the company”)

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

JSE share code: PIV  ISIN: ZAE000196440

Registration number:

2005/030215/06

Directors:

AD Dixon *#, CH Ewing *#, SJ Macozoma *#, MSB Neser *, DS Savage *,  
S Shaw-Taylor *, TS Sishuba *#, A Suckerman, JR van Niekerk,  
TA Wixley *#

* Non-executive # Independent

Registered office:

Abcon House, Fairway Office Park, 
52 Grosvenor Road, Bryanston, 2021

Postal address:

PO Box 67663, Bryanston, 2021

Telephone:

011 510 9999

Website:

www.pivotalfund.co.za

VAT registration number:

4310229432

Tax reference number:

9395691158

Country of incorporation:

Republic of South Africa

E-mail:

admin@pivotalfund.co.za

Auditors:

Grant Thornton

Commercial bankers:

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

Company secretary:

JUBA Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd

Sponsor:

Java Capital

Transfer secretaries:

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd

Property managers:

Abreal (Pty) Ltd
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sigil design bureau

www.sigil.co.za
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